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CAUTIONARY STATEMENT ABOUT FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMEN TS

This report contains certain forward-looking states within the meaning of Section 27A of the Sities Act of 1933, as
amended (the “Securities Act”), and Section 21EhefSecurities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended'@kchange Act”). We intend such
forward-looking statements to be covered by the kafbor provisions for forward-looking statemesdatained in the Private Securities
Litigation Reform Act of 1995 and include this staient for purposes of complying with these safédraprovisions. Forward-looking
statements, which are based on certain assumgiawhdescribe our future plans, strategies and éxji@ts, are generally identifiable by use
the words “may,” “could,” “expect,” “intend,” “plafi “seek,” “anticipate,” “believe,” “estimate,” “mdict,” “forecast,” “project,” “potential,”
“continue,” “likely,” “will,” “would” or similar ex pressions. Forward-looking statements in this rejpetude, among others, statements about
our business strategy, including acquisition ancettgoment strategies, industry trends, estimatedmaes and expenses, ability to realize
deferred tax assets and expected liquidity needsanrces (including capital expenditures and Hiktyato obtain financing or raise capital).
You should not rely on forward-looking statementes they involve known and unknown risks, uncettas and other factors that are, in
some cases, beyond our control and which couldmalyeaffect actual results, performances or aghieents. Factors that may cause actual
results to differ materially from current expeabats include, but are not limited to:

» financing risks, including the risk of leverage ahd corresponding risk of default on our mortglges and other debt
and potential inability to refinance or extend thaturity of existing indebtedness;

* national, regional and local economic conditions;

* levels of spending in the business, travel anditeindustries, as well as consumer confidence;

» adverse changes in occupancy, average daily rdtee&enue per available room and other hotel ojpgratetrics;

* hostilities, including future terrorist attacks,fear of hostilities that affect travel;

« financial condition of, and our relationships withird-party property managers and franchisors;

« the degree and nature of our competition;

* increased interest rates and operating costs;

e increased renovation costs, which may cause aatnaklation costs to exceed our current estimates;

e changes in zoning laws and increases in real piypeer rates;

e risks associated with potential acquisitions, idahg the ability to ramp up and stabilize newly aicgd hotels with
limited or no operating history, and dispositioisiotel properties;

« availability of and our ability to retain qualifigtersonnel;

« our failure to maintain our qualification as a reatate investment trust (“REIT”) under the IntéfRavenue Code of
1986, as amended (the “Code”);

» changes in our business or investment strategy;

» availability, terms and deployment of capital;

* general volatility of the capital markets and tharket price of our shares of common stock;

» environmental uncertainties and risks related tamnahdisasters; and

« the other factors discussed under the heading “Rasitors” in this report.

Accordingly, there is no assurance that our expiecta will be realized. Except as otherwise requiing the federal securities lay
we disclaim any obligations or undertaking to pcplrelease any updates or revisions to any ford@olling statement contained herein (or
elsewhere) to reflect any change in our expectatwith regard thereto or any change in events, itiond or circumstances on which any such
statement is based.
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PART |

Item 1. Business.

” o

Unless the context otherwise requires, all refezerio “we”,
and its consolidated subsidiaries.

us,” “our,” or the “Company” refer tummit Hotel Properties, Inc.

Overview

We focus primarily on acquiring and owning premibnanded, select-service hotels in the Upscale gkldmidscale segments
of the U.S. lodging industry, as these segmentsuanmrently defined by Smith Travel Research (“STRAt December 31, 2014, we owned 90
hotels with a total of 11,463 guestrooms locate®lirstates. Since the completion of our initidblmioffering (“IPQ”) in February 2011 and
through December 31, 2014, we have acquired 49shefth a total of 6,938 guestrooms for purchasegsraggregating approximately $1.0
billion, and we have sold 24 hotels containing 2,@lLiestrooms, for sales prices aggregating appairi;$96.2 million. As of December 31,
2014, 77.7% of our guestrooms were located indpes0 metropolitan statistical areas, (“MSAs”), &1d2% were located within the top 100
MSAs. Over 97.4% of our hotel guestrooms operatieupremium franchise brands owned by Marriogrmational, Inc. (“Marriott”)
(Courtyard by Marriott®, Residence Inn by Marriott@pringHill Suites by Marriott®, Fairfield Inn ar8uites by Marriott®, and TownePlace
Suites by Marriott®), Hilton Worldwide (“Hilton")[DoubleTree by Hilton®, Hampton Inn®, Hampton InnS&ites®, Homewood Suites® and
Hilton Garden Inn®), Intercontinental Hotel GrodfHG”) (Holiday Inn®, Holiday Inn Express®, Holidalhn Express and Suites® and
Staybridge Suites®) and an affiliate of Hyatt Het€lorporation (“Hyatt”) (Hyatt House® and Hyatt 84®). Except for six hotels, five of
which are subject to ground leases and one of wkishbject to a PILOT (payment in lieu of taxesgde, we own our hotels in fee simple.
hotels are typically located in markets with mu#idemand generators such as corporate officeb@amiuarters, retail centers, airports, state
capitols, convention centers, and leisure attrastio

Since December 31, 2014, we have not acquiredspoded of any hotels. As of February 20, 20150weed 90 hotels with a
total of 11,463 guestrooms located in 21 states.

We have elected to be taxed as a REIT for fedecalme tax purposes commencing with our short taxadhr ended
December 31, 2011. To qualify as a REIT, we caoperate or manage our hotels. Accordingly, wedeaubstantially all of our hotels to
wholly-owned subsidiaries of our taxable REIT sdizgiy (our “TRS lessees”). All of our hotels aggeoated pursuant to hotel management
agreements with professional third party hotel ngan@ent companies. We have one reportable segmelefiaed by generally accepted
accounting principles (see Item 8. “Financial Staats and Supplementary Data — Note 2 — Summa8igrfificant Accounting Policies”).

Our corporate offices are located at 12600 Hill @opBoulevard, Suite R-100, Austin, TX 78738. @elephone number is (512)
538-2300. Our website wsww.shpreit.com The information contained on, or accessibleubhy our website is not incorporated by reference
into this report and should not be considered aqdfahis report.

Business Strategy

Our strategy focuses on increasing the cash floauofportfolio through focused asset managemergetad capital investment
and strategic acquisitions. Our primary objecti/éoi enhance stockholder value over time by geingratrong risk-adjusted returns for our
stockholders. The key elements of our strategywlealbelieve will allow us to create long-term vahre as follows:

Focus on Premium-Branded, Select-Service Hotéls focus on hotels in the Upscale and Uppétscale segments of the lodgi
industry. We believe that our focus on these se¢sr@ovides us the opportunity to achieve strosiraidjusted returns across multiple lodg
cycles for several reasons, including:

« RevPAR Growth We believe our hotels will continue to experiemeeaningful revenue growth to the extent lodging
industry fundamentals continue their positive ayalitrend. According to STR, industry conditiommntinued to improve
during 2014. In “PwC Hospitality Directions,” PriwaterhouseCoopers, LLP projects U.S. revenue pmladle room
(“RevPAR") growth increases in 2015 for Upscaledi®taind Upper-midscale hotels of 6.6% and 8.2%ecs/ely.

e  Stable Cash Flow Potential Our hotels can be operated with fewer employess full-service hotels that offer more
amenities including more expansive food and beweoggions, which we believe enables us to genetsistent cash
flows with less volatility.
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*  Broad Customer Base Our target brands deliver consistently high-tgy&lotel accommodations with value-oriented
pricing that we believe appeals to a wide rangeustomers, including both business and leisureeteas. We believe that
our hotels are particularly popular with frequensimess travelers who seek to stay in
hotels operating under Marriott, Hilton, Hyatt, Staod or IHG brands, which offer strong loyalty @as program points
that can be redeemed for travel.

«  Enhanced Diversification Premium-branded Upscale and Upper-midscale qigiierally cost significantly less to
acquire or build, on a per-key basis, than hotethé Upper-upscale and luxury segments of thesinguAs a result, we
can diversify our investment capital into ownersbi@ larger number of hotels than we could in nepensive segmen

Capitalize on Investments in Our Hotel$Ve strongly believe in investing in our propestio enable them to be performance
leaders in their respective markets. Since ourdR@through December 31, 2014, we have investdd.$million in capital improvements to
the hotels in our portfolio, including the 65 hatél our portfolio at the time of our IPO and tiehbtels acquired from February 11, 2011
through December 31, 2014. We believe these imarsis produce attractive returns, and we intermbtdinue to use available capital to
upgrade our hotels through renovation.

External Growth Through Acquisition§Ve intend to continue to grow through acquisitiohgxisting hotels using a disciplined
approach, while maintaining a prudent capital $tmec We target Upscale and Upper-midscale hadtelsmheet one or more of the following
acquisition criteria:

e potential for strong risk-adjusted returns andlacated in the top 50 MSAs and other select markets

« operate under leading franchise brands, which melydle but are not limited to brands owned by MudtrHilton, IHG
and Hyatt;

» located in close proximity to multiple demand gexters, such as corporate offices and headquarétad, centers,
airports, state capitols, convention centers, ersite attractions, with a diverse source of p@éguests, including
corporate, government and leisure travelers;

* located in markets with barriers to entry due torgy franchise areas of protection or other factors

* can be acquired at a discount to replacement andt;

*  provide an opportunity to add value through opetaéfficiencies, repositioning, renovating or refutiag.

Strategic Hotel SalesWe seek to maximize the cash flow of our portf@ind our return on invested capital. We peridjica
review our hotels to determine if any significahinges to area markets or our hotels have occarrak anticipated to occur that would
warrant the sale of a hotel, particularly when wgédve the proceeds from the sale can be invensthdtels that will produce more attractive
returns.

Selectively Develop HotelsWe believe there will be attractive opportursitte partner on a selective basis with experiehatel
developers to acquire, upon completion, newly goicgtd hotels that meet our investment criterige Will consider unique opportunities to
develop hotels utilizing our own resources if cimgiances warrant.

Our Financing Strategy

We rely on cash flows from operations, issuancgetit and equity to finance our business. Whilerditie will vary from time to
time, we generally intend to limit our ratio of elotedness to earnings before interest, taxes, cdapo& and amortization (“EBITDA”) to no
more than six to one. For purposes of calculatigratio, we exclude preferred stock from inddbtss. During 2014, we financed our long-
term growth with borrowings under our $300.0 millionsecured credit facility and secured mortgadpe kdaving staggered maturities, and
intend to continue to do so in the future. Our debludes, and may include in the future, mortgdget secured by hotels and unsecured debt
As of December 31, 2014, we had $626.5 millionutstanding indebtedness.

When purchasing hotel properties, our operatingngaship, Summit Hotel OP, LP (“Summit OP”), mague common units of
limited partnership interest (“Common Units”) oefegrred units of limited partnership interest (‘fereed Units”) as full or partial
consideration to sellers who may desire to takeatage of tax deferral on the sale of a propertyanticipate in the potential appreciation in
the value of our common stock.
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Competition

We face competition for investments in hotel préiperfrom institutional pension funds, private dgumnvestors, REITs, hotel
companies and others who are engaged in hotelsitgns and investments. Some of these entities kalbstantially greater financial and
operational resources than we have. This competitiay increase the bargaining power of propertyara/geeking to sell, reduce the number
of suitable investment opportunities available $cand increase the cost of acquiring our targeteel properties.

The lodging industry is highly competitive. Our &lstcompete with other hotels for guests in thespective markets based on a
number of factors, including location, convenienmand affiliation, quality of the physical conditi of the hotel, room rates, range of services
and guest amenities or accommodations offered aaliky of customer service. Competition is ofteedfic to the individual markets in whic
our hotels are located and includes competitiomfexisting and new hotels. Competition could adsigraffect our occupancy rates, our
average daily rates (“ADR") and our RevPAR, and mequire us to provide additional amenities or medggital improvements that we
otherwise would not have to make, which may reduaeprofitability.

Seasonality

Certain segments of the hotel industry are seasomeature. Leisure travelers tend to travel nougng the summer. Business
travelers occupy hotels relatively consistentlytighout the year, but decreases in business twaeal during summer and the winter
holidays. The hotel industry is also seasonaldagen geography. Hotels in the southern U.S. teridive higher occupancy rates during the
winter months. Hotels in the northern U.S. tentidee higher occupancy rates during the summerhmsoridue to our portfolio’s geographic
diversification, our revenue has not experiencgdificant seasonality.

Regulation

Our properties are subject to various covenaniss,lardinances and regulations, including regutetielating to accessibility, fire
and safety requirements. We believe each of owglfibls the necessary permits and approvals tatepies business.

Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (“ADA")

Our properties must comply with Title Il of the Ao the extent that they are “public accommodaticas defined by the ADA. Under the
ADA, all public accommodations must meet federguieements related to access and use by disabtednz The ADA may require removal
of structural barriers to access by persons wihldlities in certain public areas of our propertighere removal is readily achievable. Altho
we believe the properties in our portfolio substdiyt comply with present requirements of the AD#Adetermination to the contrary could
require removal of access barriers and non-comgdiaould result in litigation costs, costs to reratddeficiencies, U.S. government fines or
in damages to private litigants. The obligatiomtake readily achievable accommodations is an oggmie, and we will continue to assess ou
properties and to make alterations as appropriatieis respect.

Environmental, Health and Safety Matters

Our hotels and development land parcels are sutmjeetrious federal, state and local environmeatas that impose liability for
contamination. Under these laws, governmentaliegtitave the authority to require us, as the ctioemer of property, to perform or pay for
the cleanup of contamination (including hazardaudsstances, waste, or petroleum products) at, aferusr emanating from the property an
pay for natural resource damages arising from coin@ion. These laws often impose liability witheagard to whether the owner or operato
or other responsible party knew of, or caused timgagmination, and the liability may be joint andes@l. Because these laws also impose
liability on persons who owned a property at tieetit became contaminated, we could incur cleawspsr other environmental liabilities
even after we sell properties. Contamination atumaer or emanating from our properties also mappse us to liability to private parties for
costs of remediation, personal injury and deatproperty damage. In addition, environmental lieras/ be created on contaminated sites in
favor of the government for damages and costgitrgito address contamination. If contaminaticdissovered on our properties,
environmental laws also may impose restrictionshenmanner in which property may be used or busesemay be operated, and these
restrictions may require substantial expendituvéseover, environmental contamination can affeetihlue of a property and therefore, an
owner’s ability to borrow funds using the property adateral or to sell the property on favorable teonat all. Furthermore, persons who ¢
waste to a waste disposal facility, such as a lkmdfan incinerator, may be liable for costs asated with cleanup of that facility.
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Some of our properties may have contained histaés which involved the use or storage of hazardbemiicals and petroleum
products (for example, storage tanks, gas statims;leaning operations) which if released, cchdsle affected our properties. In addition,
some of our properties may be near or adjacentier @roperties that have contained or currenthtaio storage tanks containing petroleum
products or conducted or currently conduct openatimhich use other hazardous or toxic substanaieaBes from these adjacent or
surrounding properties could affect our properdied we may be liable for any associated cleanup.

Independent environmental consultants conductedé’hanvironmental site assessments on all of mpeties prior to
acquisition and we intend to conduct Phase | envirental site assessments on properties we acqutine future. Phase | site assessments ar
intended to discover and evaluate information réiggrthe environmental condition of the surveyeaperties and surrounding properties.
These assessments do not generally include soplsamsubsurface investigations or comprehenssieestos surveys. In some cases, the
Phase | environmental site assessments were caudogtanother entity (i.e., a lender) and we mayhawe the authority to rely on such
reports. A few of our properties have experienaadrenmental contamination prior to our ownersltipt all contamination has been
remediated to the satisfaction of state reguladgsncies. None of the Phase | environmental sgessments of the hotel properties in our
portfolio revealed any past or present environmergadition that we believe could have a materiblease effect on our business, assets or
results of operations. In addition, the Phase Irenmental site assessments may also have failegl/&al all environmental conditions,
liabilities or compliance concerns. The Phase iremvwnental site assessments were completed atusatiimes and material environmental
conditions, liabilities or compliance concerns nhaye arisen after the review was completed or miag & the future; and future laws,
ordinances or regulations may impose material anhdit environmental liability.

In addition, our hotels (including our real progexperations and equipment) are subject to varfiedsral, state and local
environmental, health and safety regulatory reauinets that address a wide variety of issues, imfydut not limited to the existence of m
and other airborne contaminants above regulategstolds, the registration, maintenance and operafi our boilers and storage tanks, the
supply of potable water to our guests, air emissfoom emergency generators, storm water and wastewischarges, protection of natural
resources, asbestos, lead-based paint, and wassgement. Some of our hotels also routinely haadteuse hazardous or regulated
substances and wastes as part of their operatidmsh are subject to regulation (for example, swingrpool chemicals or biological waste).
Our hotels incur costs to comply with these envinental, health and safety laws and regulationsifahése regulatory requirements are not
met or unforeseen events result in the discharglaiegerous or toxic substances at our hotels, wiel ¢ subject to fines and penalties for
non-compliance with applicable laws and matergbility from third parties for harm to the enviroant, damage to real property or personal
injury or death. We are aware of no past or presemironmental liability for non-compliance withvéronmental, health and safety laws and
regulations that we believe would have a matedaksse effect on our business, assets or resutigerhtions.

Tax Status

We have elected to be taxed as a REIT for fedecalme tax purposes commencing with our short taxaddr ended
December 31, 2011. Our qualification as a REIT ddpaipon our ability to meet, on a continuing hasi®ugh actual investment and
operating results, various complex requirementsutite Code relating to, among other things, thes of our gross income, the
composition and values of our assets, our distobuevels and the diversity of ownership of owrcét We believe that we were organized anc
have operated in conformity with the requirementsgualification as a REIT under the Code and ¢huatcurrent and intended manner of
operation will enable us to continue to meet tliriements for qualification and taxation as a RelTfederal income tax purposes.

In order for the income from our hotel operatiomgdnstitute “rents from real property” for purpss# the gross income tests
required for REIT qualification, we cannot directlgerate any of our hotel properties. Accordinghg,lease substantially all of our hotels to
our current TRS lessees, which are wholly-ownedislidries of Summit Hotel TRS, Inc. (our “TRS"). eWill lease newly acquired hotels to
additional TRS'’s that we may form in the futurell & our hotels are operated pursuant to hotelagement agreements with third party
professional hotel management companies. We leeéiach of the third party managers qualifies aaligible independent contractor.

Our TRS lessees pay rent to us that will qualifyraats from real property,” provided that the TRSsees engage “eligible
independent contractors” to manage our hotelsaxatile REIT subsidiary is a corporate subsidiarg BEIT that jointly elects with the REIT
to be treated as a taxable REIT subsidiary of theTRind that pays federal income tax at regulapa@te rates on its taxable income.
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As a REIT, we generally will not be subject to femléncome tax on our REIT taxable income that vetrithute to our
stockholders. Under the Code, REITs are subjectitoerous organizational and operational requiréspémcluding a requirement that they
distribute each year at least 90% of their taxaideme, determined without regard to the dedudiorividends paid and excluding any net
capital gains, which does not necessarily equainteime as calculated in accordance with Genefalyepted Accounting Principles
(“GAAP”). If we fail to qualify for taxation as REIT in any taxable year and do not qualify fortaar statutory relief provisions, our income
for that year will be taxed at regular corporatesaand we will be unable to re-elect REIT staotdl the fifth calendar year after the year in
which we failed to qualify as a REIT, unless wasfgtcertain relief provisions. Even if we qualifig a REIT for federal income tax purposes,
we may still be subject to state and local taxesumincome and assets and to federal income aridestaxes on our undistributed income.
may also be subject to prohibited transaction tammy dealer sales of property and excise taxgsenetermined rents. Additionally, any
income earned by our TRS will be fully subjectedéral, state and local corporate income tax.

Employees
As of February 20, 2015, we employ 39 full-time dogpes. The staff at our hotels are employed bythiml-party hotel managet
Available Information

Our Internet website is located at www.shpreit.c@opies of the charters of the committees of oarth@f directors, our code of
business conduct and ethics and our corporate garee guidelines are available on our websiteredobrts that we have filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) inclgdhis Annual Report on Form 10-K, our quarterlgads on Form 10-Q and our current
reports on Form 8-K, can be obtained free of chinma the SECS website at www.sec.gov or through our websitaddition, all reports file
with the SEC may be read and copied at the SE(iicPReference Room at 100 F Street, NE, Washindbo@. 20549-1090. Further
information regarding the operation of the pubéiterence room may be obtained by calling the SEGC840-SEC-0330.

Item 1A. Risk Factors.

The following risk factors address the materiaksi€oncerning our business. If any of the risksiudised in this report were to
occur, our business, prospects, financial conditi@sults of operation and our ability to serviagr @lebt and make distributions to our
stockholders could be materially and adverselycifeg and the market price per share of our stoekacdecline significantly. Some statement:
in this report, including statements in the follogirisk factors, constitute forward-looking statense Please refer to the section entitled
“Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Lookingt8taents.”

Risks Related to Our Business

Our business strategy includes achieving revenuel axet income growth from anticipated increases iardand for hotel rooms —
general economic setbacks could adversely affegtfature results of operations and our growth prosgts.

Our business strategy includes achieving contimeednue and net income growth from anticipated awpment in demand for
hotel rooms as the economy continues to grow. \Wegeler, cannot provide any assurances that denaaubfel rooms will increase from
current levels, or the time or extent of any demaimvth that we do experience. If demand does aoticue to increase as the economy gr
or if there is a setback in the general economyltiag in weakening demand, our operating resuits growth prospects could be adversely
affected. As a result, any slowdown in economicnghoor a new economic downturn will adversely affear future results of operations and
our growth prospects.
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We may be unable to complete acquisitions that vaogitow our business.

Our growth strategy includes the disciplined aditjois of hotels as opportunities arise. Our abitiyacquire hotels on satisfactory
terms or at all is subject to the following sigaint risks:

 we may be unable to acquire, or may be forced dqoiae at significantly higher prices, desired hete¢cause of
competition from other real estate investors wittrencapital, including other real estate operatiogpanies, REITs and
investment funds;

* we may be unable to obtain the necessary debtuitydmancing to consummate an acquisition oghfainable,
financing may not be on satisfactory terms; and

« agreements for the acquisition of hotels are tyfyicubject to customary conditions to closing,lirting satisfactory
completion of due diligence investigations andrgaeipt of franchisor and lender consents, and &g spend significant
time and incur significant transaction costs oreptiail acquisitions that we do not consummate.

If we cannot complete hotel acquisitions on favé@abrms or at all, our business, financial cowditiresults of operations and ci
flow, the market price per share of our commonistotd our ability to satisfy our debt service obtigns and make distributions to our

stockholders could be materially and adverselyciéid:
We may fail to successfully integrate and operatwiy acquired hotels.

Our ability to successfully integrate and opera®ly acquired hotels is subject to the followingks:

e we may not possess the same level of familiarity wie dynamics and market conditions of any newkata that we
may enter, which could result in us paying too miaethotels in new markets or not operating thestsoat their maximut
potential;

* market conditions may result in lower than expedeclipancy and room rates;

e we may acquire hotels without any recourse, or witly limited recourse, for liabilities, whetherdwn or unknown,
such as clean-up of environmental contaminatiaaimd by tenants, vendors or other persons ag&iegotmer owners of
the hotels and claims for indemnification by gehpeatners, directors, officers and others inderadiby the former
owners of the hotels;

 we may need to spend more than budgeted amoumtake necessary improvements or renovations to@ulyracquiret
hotels; and

* we may be unable to quickly and efficiently integraew acquisitions, particularly acquisitions oftfolios of hotels,
into our existing operations.

If we cannot operate acquired hotels to meet opeetations, our business, financial condition, ltasef operations and cash flow,
the market price per share of our stock and ouityaln satisfy our debt service obligations andkeaistributions to our stockholders could be

materially and adversely affected.

We may assume liabilities in connection with theqaisition of hotel properties, including unknownadbilities, which, if significant,
could adversely affect our business.

We may assume existing liabilities in connectiothvihe acquisition of hotel properties, some ofakhinay be unknown or
unquantifiable. Unknown liabilities might includiabilities for cleanup or remediation of undisadsenvironmental conditions, claims of hc
guests, vendors or other persons dealing withalerf a particular hotel property, tax liab#isi, employment-related issues and accrued bu
unpaid liabilities whether incurred in the ordinagurse of business or otherwise. If the magnitfdaich unknown liabilities is high, they
could adversely affect our business, financial @, results of operations and cash flow, thekatprice of our stock and our ability to
satisfy our debt service obligations and to malstrithutions to our stockholders.
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We may not be able to cause our hotel managemenimanies to operate any of our hotels in a mannetis@ctory to us, and
termination of our hotel management agreements nimycostly and disruptive, all of which could advelg affect our financial
condition, results of operations and our ability &ervice debt and make distributions to our stoclders.

To qualify as a REIT, we cannot operate or managénotels. Accordingly, substantially all of ousthls are leased to TRS less
of our TRS. All of our hotels are operated purddarhotel management agreements with independ#at inanagement companies, each of
which must qualify as an “eligible independent caator” to operate our hotels. As a result, ouafiicial condition, results of operations and
our ability to service debt and make distributibmstockholders are dependent on the ability ofrmiel management companies to operate o
hotels successfully. Any failure of our hotel magiagnt companies to provide quality services anchéras or maintain a quality brand name
and reputation could have a negative effect orr tiality to operate our hotels and could have #eniw and adverse effect on our financial
condition, results of operations and our abilitysésvice debt and make distributions to our stolddrs.

Even if we believe a hotel is being operated icéffitly or in a manner that does not result inséatitory operating results, we will
have limited ability to require the hotel manageth@mmpany to change its method of operation. Wesggly attempt to resolve issues with
hotel management companies through discussionseguatiations, but otherwise will only be able telseedress if a hotel management
company violates the terms of the applicable hoehagement agreement, and then only to the exi¢ine oemedies provided for under the
terms of the hotel management agreement. If wacephe hotel management company of any of outshete may be required to pay a
substantial termination fee and we may experieigréficant disruptions at the affected hotel.

Our hotel managers or their affiliates manage,iarsbme cases own, have invested in, or provideditcsupport or operating
guarantees to hotels that compete with our hatéllef which may result in conflicts of interestsA result, our hotel managers may in the
future make decisions regarding competing lodgawilities that are not or would not be in our biagtrest.

Certain of our hotels are managed by affiliatetheffranchisors for such hotels. In these situstithe management agreement
the franchise agreement are typically combined am® document. Thus, if we desire to terminatentheagement agreement due to poor
performance or breach of the management agreemeghebnanagement company, we also terminate oncliise license. Thus, we may hi
very limited options to remedy poor hotel managenpenformance if we desire to retain the franchicense.

The management of the hotels in our portfolio isrcantly concentrated in one hotel management comgan

As of December 31, 2014, Interstate Management @omniLC (“Interstate”)or its affiliate managed 49 of our 90 hotels. Th
substantial portion of our revenues is generatelddbgls managed by Interstate. This significamcemtration of operational risk in one hotel
management company makes us more vulnerable ecoalyrthan if our hotel management was more diiesiamong several hotel
management companies. Any adverse developmemntsersiate’s business and affairs, financial stitengiability to operate our hotels
efficiently and effectively could have a materidivarse effect on our results of operations. We ofprovide assurance that Interstate will
satisfy its obligations to us or effectively anfi@éntly operate our hotel properties. The failoranability of Interstate to satisfy its obligatis
to us or effectively and efficiently operate outdigroperties would materially reduce our reveand net income, which could in turn reduce
the amount of our distributable cash and causentiriet price per share of our stock to decline.

Restrictive covenants and other provisions in hatehnagement and franchise agreements could precluddrom taking actions with
respect to the sale, refinancing or rebranding ohatel that would otherwise be in our best interest

Our hotel management agreements and franchiseragnég generally contain restrictive covenants ahdrgorovisions that do n
provide us with flexibility to sell, refinance oebrand a hotel without the consent of the manag#&anchisor. For example, the terms of some
of these agreements may restrict our ability tbasébtel unless the purchaser is not a compatittite hotel management company or
franchisor, assumes the related agreement and spstdied other conditions. In addition, our fraise agreements restrict our ability to
rebrand particular hotels without the consent efftanchisor, which could result in significant ogéonal disruptions and litigation if we do |
obtain the consent. We could be forced to pay agnsetermination fees to hotel managers or frasmisi under these agreements as a cont
to changing management or franchise brands of ol@ld) and these fees could deter us from takitigrescthat would otherwise be in our best
interest or could cause us to incur substantiatese.
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Funds spent to maintain franchisor operating standis, the loss of a franchise license or a declimethe value of a franchise
brand may have a material adverse effect on ouribess and financial results.

Our hotels operate under franchise agreementghenaaintenance of franchise licenses for our basesubject to our franchisors’
operating standards and other terms and conditilesexpect that franchisors will periodically inspeur hotels to ensure that we, our
TRS and our hotel management companies maintaifranchisors’ standards. Failure by us, our TR8wrhotel management companies to
maintain these standards or other terms and conditiould result in a franchise license being dadcéf a franchise license terminates due to
our failure to make required improvements or taeotlise comply with its terms, we could also belbkatio the franchisor for a termination
payment, which varies by franchisor and by hotel.a2condition of our continued holding of a frarsehiicense, a franchisor could also require
us to make capital improvements to our hotels, évene do not believe the improvements are necgssadesirable or would result in an
acceptable return on our investment.

The loss of a franchise license could materially adversely affect the operations or the underlyizlge of the hotel because of
the loss of associated name recognition, marketipgort and centralized reservation systems prdwgehe franchisor. Because our hotels
are concentrated in a limited number of franchisambs, a loss of all of the licenses for a paréicédanchise could materially and adversely
affect our revenue, financial condition, result®pérations and ability to service debt and maké#idutions to our stockholders.

Negative publicity related to one of the franchisends or the general decline of a brand also rdagraely affect the underlying
value of our hotels or result in a reduction inibass.

We rely on external sources of capital to fund futucapital needs, and if we encounter difficulty obtaining such capital, we may
not be able to make future acquisitions necessargtow our business or meet maturing obligations.

To qualify as a REIT under the Code, we are requiaenong other things, to distribute each yeattrostockholders at least 90%
of our REIT taxable income, determined without reiga the dividends paid deduction and excluding @&t capital gain. Because of this
distribution requirement, we may not be able tadfunom cash retained from operations, all of atufe capital needs, including capital nee
to make investments and to satisfy or refinanceunrag obligations.

We expect to continue to rely on external sourdespital, including debt and equity financing ftmd future capital needs. Pari
our strategy involves the use of additional detificing to supplement our equity capital which nmajude our unsecured credit facility,
mortgage financing and other unsecured financing.ability to effectively implement and accomplishr business strategy will be affected by
our ability to obtain and use additional leveragsufficient amounts and on favorable terms. Howee capital environment is often
characterized by extended periods of limited abdits of both debt and equity financing, increagifinancing costs, stringent credit terms and
significant volatility. We may not be able to seetfirst mortgage financing or increase the avdilghinder, extend the maturity or
refinance our unsecured credit facility. If we ar@ble to obtain needed capital on satisfactarpder at all, we may not be able to make the
investments needed to expand our business, oréb ane obligations and commitments as they maftDue.access to capital will depend upon
a number of factors over which we have little orcoatrol, including general market conditions, tharket’'s perception of our current and
potential future earnings and cash distributiors thie market price of the shares of our commorkstde may not be in a position to take
advantage of attractive investment opportunitiegfowth if we are unable to access the capitaketaron a timely basis or on favorable te|
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We have a significant amount of debt, and our orgaational documents have no limitation on the amadwf additional indebtednes
that we may incur in the future. As a result, we snhecome highly leveraged in the future, which cdwdversely affect our financial
condition.

We have a significant amount of debt. In the fefuve may incur additional indebtedness to findntgre hotel acquisitions,
capital improvements and development activities @her corporate purposes. In addition, there anestrictions in our charter or bylaws that
limit the amount or percentage of indebtednesswieatnay incur or restrict the form in which our éedness will be incurred (including
recourse or non-recourse debt or cross-collateidlizbt).

A substantial level of indebtedness could have e#dveonsequences for our business, results of tapesaand financial condition
because it could, among other things:

e require us to dedicate a substantial portion ofaash flow from operations to make principal anériest payments on
our indebtedness, thereby reducing our cash flailahle to fund working capital, capital expendésiand other general
corporate purposes, including to pay dividends wncommon stock and our preferred stock as cugreathtemplated or
necessary to satisfy the requirements for quatiicaas a REIT;

e increase our vulnerability to general adverse enoo@nd industry conditions and limit our flexilyliin planning for, or
reacting to, changes in our business and our indust

< limit our ability to borrow additional funds or ience indebtedness on favorable terms or at akpand our business
ease liquidity constraints; and

« place us at a competitive disadvantage relativatopetitors that have less indebtedness.

Generally, our mortgage debt carries maturity datesall dates such that the loans become due foritreir full amortization. It
may be difficult to refinance or extend the matudf such loans on terms acceptable to us, ol,arad we may not have sufficient borrowing
capacity on our unsecured credit facility to repay amounts that we are unable to refinance. Afjhove believe that we will be able to
refinance or extend the maturity of these loansyiththave the capacity to repay them, if necessasyng draws under our unsecured credit
facility, there can be no assurance that our unséoeredit facility will be available to repay suctaturing debt, as draws under our unsecurec
credit facility are subject to limitations baseduompur unencumbered assets and certain finanoraheamts.

The agreements governing our indebtedness placéri@®ons on us and our subsidiaries, reducing opional flexibility and creating
default risks.

The agreements governing our $300.0 million unstaredit facility and other indebtedness contawvenants that place
restrictions on us and our subsidiaries. Theseraws may restrict, among other activities, our @mdsubsidiaries’ ability to:

* merge, consolidate or transfer all or substantillyf our or our subsidiaries’ assets;

« sell, transfer, pledge or encumber our stock oothirership interests of our subsidiaries;

* incur additional debt or place mortgages on ounaombered hotels;

e enter into, terminate or modify leases for our loéad hotel management and franchise agreements;
* make certain expenditures, including capital exjienes;

e pay dividends on or repurchase our capital stocH; a

* enter into certain transactions with affiliates.

These covenants could impair our ability to grow lousiness, take advantage of attractive busingssrunities or successfully
compete. Our ability to comply with financial anther covenants may be affected by events beyondanirol, including prevailing econom
financial and industry conditions. A breach of afithese covenants or covenants under any otheeagmts governing our indebtedness ¢
result in an event of default. Cross-default priavis in our debt agreements could cause an evelgfatilt under one debt agreement to trigge
an event of default under our other debt agreemelisn the occurrence of an event of default uaahgrof our debt agreements, the lenders
could elect to declare all outstanding debt undehsgreements to be immediately due and paydbie Wwere unable to repay or refinance
accelerated debt, the lenders could proceed agaigsissets pledged to secure that debt, inclfdneglosing on or requiring the sale of our
hotels, and the proceeds from the sale of thesdshmiay not be sufficient to repay such debt ih ful
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Mortgage debt obligations expose us to the postbdf foreclosure, which could result in the logd our investment in any hotel
subject to mortgage debt.

Except for the borrowings under our $300.0 milliovsecured credit facility, all of our other longrtedebt existing as of
December 31, 2014 is secured by mortgages on der fioperties and related assets. In additionbtreowings under our $300.0 million
unsecured credit facility are subject to our maimitey a borrowing base of unencumbered hotel asketgrring mortgage and other secured
debt obligations increases our risk of propertgéssbecause defaults on secured indebtedness su#tyimeforeclosure actions initiated by
lenders and ultimately our loss of the hotels segusuch loans. If we are in default under a cbsigulted mortgage loan, we could lose
multiple hotels to foreclosure. For tax purposef®raclosure of any of our hotels would be treaed sale of the hotel for a purchase price
equal to the outstanding balance of the debt sddurehe mortgage. If the outstanding balance efdbt secured by the mortgage exceeds o
tax basis in the hotel, we would recognize taxaiteme on foreclosure, but would not receive arshgaroceeds, which could hinder our
ability to meet the REIT distribution requiremeitgosed by the Code. We may assume or incur nevgamge indebtedness on the hotels in
our portfolio or hotels that we acquire in the fistuAny default under any one of our mortgage détigations may increase the risk of our
default on our other indebtedness.

An increase in interest rates would increase outénest costs on our variable rate debt and couldamsely affect our ability to
refinance existing debt or sell assets.

With respect to our existing and future variableerdebt, an increase in interest rates would iserear interest payments and
reduce our cash flow available for other corpopatgoses, including capital improvements to ouelsodr acquisitions of additional hotels. In
addition, rising interest rates could limit our l#hito refinance existing debt when it matures arztease interest costs on any debt that is
refinanced. Further, an increase in interest rededd increase the cost of financing, thereby desirg the amount third parties are willing to
pay for our hotels, which would limit our abilitg tlispose of hotels when necessary or desired.“N@@agements Discussion and Analysis
Financial Condition and Results of Operations — I@atdve and Quantitative Effects of Market Risk.”

Our success depends on key personnel whose contirsegvice is not guaranteed.

We depend on the efforts and expertise of our mamagt team to manage our day-to-day operationstaaidgic business
direction. The loss of services from any of thembers of our management team, and our inabilifintbsuitable replacements on a timely
basis could have an adverse effect on our opegation

Hedging against interest rate exposure may adversdfect our financial position and results of opations.

We have entered into interest rate swaps haviraggregate notional amount of $103.0 million at Delser 31, 2014 to hedge
against interest rate increases on certain of otatanding variable-rate indebtedness. In the éytwe intend to continue to manage our
exposure to interest rate volatility by using hedgarrangements, such as interest rate swaps tamndsnrate caps.

These agreements involve the risks that thesegeraants may fail to protect or adversely affedv@sause, among other things:

* interest rate hedging can be expensive, partiguthrting periods of volatile interest rates;

» available interest rate hedges may not correspordtly with the interest rate risk for which proten is sought;

«  the duration of the hedge may not match the duraifdhe related liability;

» the credit quality of the hedging counterparty agvinoney on the hedge may be downgraded to sucktant ¢hat it
impairs our ability to sell or assign our side lo¢ hedging transaction; and

the hedging counterparty owing money in the hedtjiagsaction may default on its obligation to pay.

As a result of any of the foregoing, our hedgirapsactions, which are intended to limit losseseqmbsure to interest rate
volatility, could have a negative effect on our Gimg results.
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We and our hotel managers rely on information teabiogy in our operations, and any material failur@adequacy, interruption or
security failure of that technology could harm ounusiness.

Our hotel managers and we rely on information tetdgy networks and systems, including the Intertteprocess, transmit and
store electronic information, and to manage or st variety of business processes, includingniina transactions and records, personal
identifying information, reservations, billing aogerating data. We purchase some of our informatohnology from vendors, on whom our
systems depend. We rely on commercially availaydéesns, software, tools and monitoring to provideusity for processing, transmission ¢
storage of confidential customer information, sastindividually identifiable information, includirigformation relating to financial accounts.
Although we have taken steps to protect the sgcafibur information systems and the data mainthinghose systems, it is possible that our
safety and security measures will not be able ¢ogmt the systems’ improper functioning or damagéhe improper access or disclosure of
personally identifiable information such as in #vent of cyber-attacks. Security breaches, inctygimysical or electronic break-ins, computer
viruses, attacks by hackers and similar breaclascieate system disruptions, shutdowns or unaa#tbdisclosure of confidential
information. Any failure to maintain proper funatiosecurity and availability of our information ggs could interrupt our operations, dam
our reputation, subject us to liability claims egulatory penalties and could have a material @@veffect on our business, financial condition
and results of operations.

Joint venture investments could be adversely aféecby a lack of sole decision-making authority withspect to such investments,
disputes with joint venture partners and the finaa€t condition of joint venture partners.

In the future we may enter into strategic joint twas with unaffiliated investors to acquire, deyelimprove or dispose of hotels,
thereby reducing the amount of capital requiredi®yo make investments and diversifying our casitalrces for growth. We may not have
sole decision-making authority with respect to ghgwestments, and as a result we may not be alpdke actions which are in the best interes
of our stockholders. Further, disputes betweeandasour joint venture partners may result in litig@a or arbitration which could increase our
expenses and prevent our officers and directora foxusing their time and effort on our business eould result in subjecting the hotels
owned by the applicable joint venture to additiomsis.

If a joint venture partner becomes bankrupt or mtfiee defaults on its obligations under a jointtvea agreement, we and any
other remaining joint venture partners would gelyeramain liable for the joint venture liabilitieEurthermore, if a joint venture partner
becomes bankrupt or otherwise defaults on its abbigs under a joint venture agreement, we maynlable to continue the joint venture other
than by purchasing such joint venture partner'srgts or the underlying assets at a premium totr&et price. If any of the above risks are
realized, it could materially adversely affect twisiness, financial condition and results of openatand our ability to make distributions to
our stockholders.

Risks Related to the Lodging Industry
Economic conditions may adversely affect the lodgimdustry.

The performance of the lodging industry has histdly been closely linked to the performance ofdgbeeral economy and,
specifically, growth in U.S. gross domestic prod{i&@DP"). The lodging industry is also sensitiveltosiness and personal discretionary
spending levels. Declines in corporate budgetscandumer demand due to adverse general econonddioos, risks affecting or reducing
travel patterns, lower consumer confidence or advpolitical conditions can lower the revenue ardiability of our assets and therefore the
net operating profits of our investments. A slowafghe current economic growth or new economickmeas could have an adverse effect on
our revenue and negatively affect our profitability

Competition from other Upscale and Upper-midscaletéls in the markets in which we operate could havenaterial adverse effect
on our results of operations.

The lodging industry is highly competitive. Our &lstcompete with other hotels for guests in eactketan which our hotels
operate based on a number of factors, includingtion, convenience, brand affiliation, room ratesige of services and guest amenities or
accommodations offered and quality of customerisenCompetition will often be specific to the imiual markets in which our hotels are
located and includes competition from existing aad hotels. Our competitors may have an operatiodeithat enables them to offer rooms
at lower rates than we can, which could resultinapmpetitors increasing their occupancy at opeese. Competition could adversely affect
our occupancy, ADR and RevPAR, and may requir® ysdvide additional amenities or make capital ioyements that we otherwise would
not have to make, which could reduce our profitgbédnd could materially and adversely affect asuits of operations.
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Our operating results and ability to make distribahs to our stockholders may be adversely affedtgdhe risks inherent to the
ownership of hotels and the markets in which we ogte.

Hotels have different economic characteristics timamy other real estate assets. A typical offiaperty owner, for example, has
long-term leases with third-party tenants, whichvide a relatively stable long-term stream of raexerBy contrast, our hotels are subject to
various operating risks common to the lodging indusnany of which are beyond our control, incluglihe following:

* dependence on business and commercial traveler®ansm;

* over-building of hotels in our markets, which coaldiversely affect occupancy and revenue at thdswe=acquire;

e increases in energy costs and other expensesiafféctvel, which may affect travel patterns anduee the number of
business and commercial travelers and tourists;

* increases in operating costs, including increasatastate and personal property taxes, due ttimil and other factors
that may not be offset by increased room rates;

e potential increases in labor costs at our hotetduding as a result of unionization of the labancé and increasing health
care insurance expense;

« adverse effects of international, national, regi@mal local economic and market conditions;

e changes in governmental laws and regulations, |ffsgi&cies and zoning ordinances and the relatestiscof compliance
with laws and regulations, fiscal policies and petices; and

e events beyond our control, such as instabilitthenational, European or global economy, terratistcks, travel related
health concerns including pandemics and epidenoicls as H1IN1 influenza (swine flu), avian bird fithola and SARS,
political instability, regional hostilities, increas in fuel prices, imposition of taxes or surckargy regulatory authorities
and travel-related accidents and unusual weattrps, including natural disasters such as huresa

We have significant ongoing needs to make capitgbenditures at our hotels, which require us to déedunds to these purposes and
could pose related risks that might impair our aibyl to make distributions to our stockholders.

Our hotels have an ongoing need for renovationsoéimel capital improvements, including replacemgefntsn time to time, of
furniture, fixtures and equipment. Our franchisalso require periodic capital improvements as alitimm of keeping the franchise licenses. In
addition, lenders and hotel management companiggegaire that we set aside annual amounts fotalapiprovements to our assets. These
capital improvements and replacements may givetaisee following risks:

»  possible environmental problems;
e construction cost overruns and delays;

e apossible shortage of available cash to fund abipitprovements and replacements and, the relatssilplity that
financing for these capital improvements may noawailable to us on affordable terms; and
e uncertainties as to market demand or a loss of ehaldmand after capital improvements and replacen&ve begun.

If any of the above risks were to be realizedpiild materially adversely affect our business,ritial condition and results of
operations and our ability to make distribution®tw stockholders.
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Hotel development is subject to timing, budgetingdeother risks. To the extent we develop hotelsaoquire hotels that are under
development, these risks may adversely affect quarating results and liquidity position.

We may develop hotels or acquire hotels that adeudevelopment from time to time as suitable opputies arise, taking into
consideration general economic conditions. Hoteketlgoment involves a number of risks, including tbkkowing:

»  possible environmental problems;

»  construction delays or cost overruns that may asxeproject costs;

*  receipt of and expense related to zoning, occupandyother required governmental permits and aiziions;
» development costs incurred for projects that atgpnosued to completion;

» acts of God such as earthquakes, hurricanes, floofiles that could adversely affect a project;

* inability to raise capital; and

» governmental restrictions on the nature or size pfoject.

To the extent we develop hotels or acquire hotettetdevelopment, we cannot provide assurancattyatlevelopment project
will be completed on time or within budget. Ourliility to complete a project on time or within buedgnay adversely affect our projected
operating results and our liquidity position.

The increasing use of Internet travel intermediaddy consumers may adversely affect our profitabili

Our hotel rooms are likely to be booked througleinét travel intermediaries, including, but notitad to Travelocity.com,
Expedia.com and Priceline.com. As these Internekings increase, these intermediaries may be aldbtain higher commissions, reduced
room rates or other significant contract concessfoom our management companies. Moreover, sortteesé Internet travel intermediaries
attempting to offer hotel rooms as a commodityirfayeasing the importance of price and generaktatdrs of quality (such as “three-star
downtown hotel”) at the expense of brand identtfa@a These agencies hope that consumers will eadiptdevelop brand loyalties to their
reservations system rather than to the brands waltieh our hotels are franchised. If the amourdalés made through Internet intermediaries
increases significantly, room revenue may flattedexrease and our profitability may be adverséhced.

Uninsured and underinsured losses could adversdfget our operating results.

We intend to maintain comprehensive insurance orotels, including liability, fire and extendedverage, of the type and
amount we believe are customarily obtained foryoolwners of hotels similar to our hotels. Varioyges of catastrophic losses, like
earthquakes and floods, acts of terrorism or lossdased to business disruption from disputes Wahchisors, may not be insurable or may no
be economically insurable. In the event of a suligtbloss, our insurance coverage may not bedafft to cover the full market value or
replacement cost of our lost investment. Shouldransured loss or a loss in excess of insureddimitur, we could lose all or a portion of the
capital we have invested in a hotel, as well astitecipated future revenue from the hotel. In #hant, we might nevertheless remain oblig
for any mortgage debt or other financial obligatioalated to the asset. Loan covenants, inflatbanges in building codes and ordinances,
environmental considerations and other factors tratgo keep us from using insurance proceeds tager renovate an asset after it has bee
damaged or destroyed. Under those circumstanaefshrance proceeds we receive might be inadetuatstore our economic position on
the damaged or destroyed hotels.
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Risks Related to the Real Estate Industry and Redistate-Related Investments

llliquidity of real estate investments could sigirgaintly impede our ability to respond to adverseadiges in the performance of our
hotels or to adjust our portfolio in response toamges in economic and other conditions, and, thenm&f, may harm our financial
condition.

In the future, we may decide to sell hotels. Retdte investments are relatively illiquid. Our #@ito promptly sell one or more
hotels in our portfolio in response to changingreeuic, financial and investment conditions mayilbrétéd. We cannot predict whether we \
be able to sell any hotels for the price or ontémns set by us, or whether any price or otherdesffered by a prospective purchaser would be
acceptable to us. We also cannot predict the leofgtime needed to find a willing purchaser andltse the sale of an asset. The real estate
market is affected by many factors that are beymmnccontrol, including:

e adverse changes in international, national, redjiand local economic and market conditions;

e changes in interest rates and in the availabiitgt and terms of debt financing;

e changes in governmental laws and regulations, |ffsgi&cies and zoning ordinances and the relatestiscof compliance
with laws and regulations, fiscal policies and petices;

« the ongoing need for capital improvements, paridylin older structures, that may require us tpesd funds to correct
defects or to make improvements before an assdieanld;

e changes in operating expenses; and

« civil unrest, acts of God, including earthquakéspds and other natural disasters, which may résuihinsured losses,
and acts of war or terrorism, including the consemes of the terrorist acts such as those thatmmtton September 11,
2001.

We could incur significant costs related to goverent regulation and litigation over environmental dalth and safety matters.

Our hotels and development land parcels are sutmjeetrious federal, state and local environmelatas that impose liability for
contamination. Under these laws, governmentaliestitave the authority to require us, as the ctuoeformer owner of the property, to
perform or pay for the clean-up of contaminatiorcliiding hazardous substances, waste or petroleodugts) at or emanating from the
property and to pay for natural resource damagngrirom contamination. These laws often impoability without regard to whether the
owner or operator knew of, or caused the contamonatVe can also be liable to private parties fusts of remediation, personal injury and
death and/or property damage resulting from contatiin at or emanating from our properties. Morepgavironmental contamination can
affect the value of a property and, therefore, @ne’s ability to borrow funds using the propertyallateral or to sell the property on
favorable terms or at all. Furthermore, persons sérd waste to a waste disposal facility, suchlasdfill or an incinerator, may be liable for
costs associated with cleanup of that facility.

In addition, our hotels (including our real proexperations and equipment) are subject to varfiedsral, state and local
environmental, health and safety regulatory reaquinets that address a wide variety of issues, ifmfydut not limited to the registration,
maintenance and operation of our boilers and stotaigks, air emissions from emergency generatmmsnsvater and wastewater discharges,
asbestos, lead-based paint, mold and mildew, astevwaanagement. Some of our hotels also routireigle and use hazardous or regulated
substances and wastes as part of their operatidmsh are subject to regulation (for example, swingrpool chemicals or biological waste).
Our hotels incur costs to comply with these envinental, health and safety laws and regulationsfathése regulatory requirements are not
met or unforeseen events result in the discharglaieferous or toxic substances at our hotels, wiel ¢ subject to fines and penalties for
non-compliance with applicable laws and matergbility from third parties for harm to the enviroant, damage to real property or personal
injury and death. We are aware of no past or pte@rironmental liability for non-compliance witidronmental, health and safety laws and
regulations that we believe would have a matedakese effect on our business, assets or resuligaerhtions.

Certain hotels we currently own or those we acquithe future contain, may contain, or may havetamed, asbestos-containing
material (“ACM”). Environmental, health and saféayvs require that ACM be properly managed and ra@et, and include requirements to
undertake special precautions, such as removadlaiement, if ACM would be disturbed during maintere renovation, or demolition of a
building. These laws regarding ACM may impose fiaad penalties on building owners, employers aretaiprs for failure to comply with
these requirements or expose us to third-partyliigb
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Compliance with the laws, regulations and covenattiat apply to our hotels, including permit, liceasand zoning requirements, m;
adversely affect our ability to make future acquisns or renovations, result in significant costs delays and adversely affect our
growth strategy.

Our hotels are subject to various covenants aral laws and regulatory requirements, including peimng and licensing
requirements which can restrict the use of our @ris and increase the cost of acquisition, dgvetnt and operation of our hotels. In
addition, federal and state laws and regulationduding laws such as the ADA, impose further festms on our operations. Under the ADA,
all public accommodations must meet federal requanmgs related to access and use by disabled pels@nisave not conducted a
comprehensive audit or investigation of all of puvperties to determine our compliance. As suctmesof our hotels currently may be in
noncompliance with the ADA. If one or more of thatdds in our portfolio is not in compliance withetDA or any other regulatory
requirements, we may be required to incur additionsats to bring the hotel into compliance and wghhincur damages or governmental
fines. In addition, existing requirements may cteaagd future requirements may require us to majef&iant unanticipated expenditures that
would adversely affect our business, financial d¢o, results of operations and cash flow, thekaaprice of our stock and our ability to
satisfy our debt service obligations and to malstrihiutions to our stockholders.

If we default on ground leases for land on which wamf our hotels are located, our business couldrbaterially and adversely
affected.

If we default on the terms of any of our groundsk=aand are unable to cure the default in a timelgner, we may be liable for
damages and could lose our leasehold intereseiagplicable property and interest in the hotethenapplicable property. If any of the events
of default were to occur and are not timely cud,business, financial condition, results of ofierss and cash flow, the market price of our
securities and our ability to satisfy our debt ggrobligations and to make distributions to oockholders could be materially and adversely
affected.

If states and localities in which we own materiatrmunts of property or conduct material amounts aidiness raise their income and
property tax rates or amend their tax regimes imenner that increases our state and local tax libfés, we would have less cash
available for distribution to our stockholders arttie market price of our shares could be adverseffgeted.

We and our subsidiaries are subject to income tidxagher taxes by states and localities in whictcamduct business.
Additionally, we are and will continue to be sulijex property taxes in states and localities inclihive own property, and our TRS lessees art
and will continue to be subject to state and lecaporate income tax. As these states and laesiteek additional sources of revenue, they
may, among other steps, raise income and propeettsates and/or amend their tax regimes to elimif@t state income tax purposes the
favorable tax treatment REITs enjoy for federabime tax purposes. We cannot predict when or ifsdates or localities would make any such
changes, or what form those changes would talstatés and localities in which we own material amiswf property or conduct material
amounts of business make changes to their tax oatex regimes that increase our state and lasdidbilities, such increases would reduce
the amount of cash available for distribution te stockholders and could adversely affect the ntaskiee of our shares.

Risks Related to Conflicts of Interest
Our fiduciary duties as the general partner of ooperating partnership could create conflicts of erest.

We, through our wholly-owned subsidiary that seragshe sole general partner of our operating pestrp, have fiduciary duties
to our operating partnershiplimited partners, the discharge of which may kenivith the interests of our stockholders. Thaited partners ¢
our operating partnership have agreed for so lengeaown a controlling interest in our operatingtiparship that, in the event of a conflict
between the duties owed by our directors to ourpanmg and the duties that we owe, in our capacith@sole general partner of our operating
partnership, to the limited partners, our directorsst give priority to the interests of our stockiess. In addition, those persons holding
Common Units have the right to vote on certain aingents to the limited partnership agreement (whiécjuire approval by a majority interest
of the limited partners, including us) and indivédly to approve certain amendments that would axblgraffect their rights, as well as the right
to vote on mergers and consolidations of the géparéner or us in certain limited circumstancesede voting rights may be exercised in a
manner that conflicts with the interests of oucktmlders. For example, we cannot adversely affectimited partners’ rights to receive
distributions, as set forth in the limited partigpsagreement, without their consent, even thougtifping such rights might be in the best
interest of our stockholders generally.
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Certain key members of our senior management teamtimue to be involved in other businesses, whichyninterfere with their
ability to devote time and attention to our busisesnd affairs.

We rely on our senior management team to managstiegic direction and day-to-day operationswflmisiness.
Mr. Boekelheide has certain outside business istemghich may reduce the amount of time that fadie to devote to our business.

Risks Related to Our Organization and Structure

Provisions of our charter may limit the ability af third party to acquire control of us by authorizg our board of directors to issue
additional securities.

Our board of directors may, without stockholderrappl, amend our charter to increase or decrea&sagregate number of our
shares or the number of shares of any class @sstrat we have the authority to issue and toi§yasisreclassify any unissued shares of
common stock or preferred stock, and set the preters, rights and other terms of the classifie@cdassified shares. As a result, our board of
directors may authorize the issuance of additishates or establish a series of common or prefstoetk that may have the effect of delaying
or preventing a change in control of our compangluding transactions at a premium over the mapkiee of our shares, even if stockholders
believe that a change in control is in their ingtr@hese provisions, along with the restrictionswnership and transfer contained in our
charter and certain provisions of Maryland law dieésxl below, could discourage unsolicited acquisifproposals or make it more difficult for
a third party to gain control of us, which couldrasely affect the market price of our securities.

Provisions of Maryland law may limit the ability cd third party to acquire control of us by requirgnour board of directors or
stockholders to approve proposals to acquire oumpany or effect a change in control.

Certain provisions of the Maryland General Corgorataw (the “MGCL") applicable to Maryland corpdi@ns may have the
effect of inhibiting a third party from making agmosal to acquire us or of impeding a change itrobander circumstances that otherwise
could provide our stockholders with the opportuniyealize a premium over the then-prevailing reagice of such shares, including
“business combination” and “control share” proviso

By resolution of our board of directors, we havéedpout of the business combination provisionefMGCL and provided that
any business combination between us and any o#tsop is exempt from the business combination prows of the MGCL, provided that the
business combination is first approved by our badidirectors (including a majority of directors a/are not affiliates or associates of such
persons). In addition, pursuant to a provisionun loylaws, we have opted out of the control shao®ipions of the MGCL. However, our bot
of directors may by resolution elect to opt inhe business combination provisions of the MGCL wrdmay, by amendment to our bylaws,
opt in to the control share provisions of the MGi@lthe future.

Our rights and the rights of our stockholders tolta action against our directors and officers arerlited, which could limit our
stockholders’ recourse in the event of actions fmobur stockholders’ best interests.

Under Maryland law, generally, a director will ria liable if he or she performs his or her dutiegaod faith, in a manner he or
she reasonably believes to be in our best intesgsgtsvith the care that an ordinarily prudent perisoa like position would use under similar
circumstances. In addition, our charter limits liability of our directors and officers to us andrastockholders for money damages, except fol
liability resulting from:

e actual receipt of an improper benefit or profinioney, property or services; or

e active and deliberate dishonesty by the directmfficer that was established by a final judgmenbaing material to the
cause of action adjudicated.

Our charter authorizes us to indemnify our direstmd officers for actions taken by them in thasgacities to the maximum
extent permitted by Maryland law. Our bylaws requis to indemnify each director and officer, to ieximum extent permitted by Maryland
law, in the defense of any proceeding to which hehe is made, or threatened to be made, a pantydspn of his or her service to us. In
addition, we may be obligated to advance the defensts incurred by our directors and officersa&esult, we and our stockholders may F
more limited rights against our directors and @ffscthan might otherwise exist absent the curremtigions in our charter and bylaws or that
might exist with other companies.
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Our stockholders have limited voting rights and odharter contains provisions that make removal afrairectors difficult, which
could make it difficult for our stockholders to edtt changes to our management.

Our shares of common stock are the only class o$ecurities that carry full voting rights. Votimights for holders of our
preferred stock exist primarily with respect to #iglity to elect two additional directors to oward of directors in the event that six quarterly
dividends (whether or not consecutive) payablehenpreferred stock are in arrears, and with regpeaiting on amendments to our charter or
articles supplementary relating to the preferredisthat materially and adversely affect the rigéftthe holders of preferred stock or create
additional classes or series of senior equity séesirFurther, our charter provides that a direatay be removed only for cause (as defined in
our charter) and then only by the affirmative votdolders of shares entitled to cast at leastttvirais of the votes entitled to be cast generally
in the election of directors. Our charter also jes that vacancies on our board of directors neafillled only by a majority of the remaining
directors in office, even if less than a quorume3édrequirements prevent stockholders from remadiregtors except for cause and with a
substantial affirmative vote and from replacingedtors with their own nominees and may preventamgh in control of our company or effect
other management changes that are in the beststéasf our stockholders.

The ability of our board of directors to change oumajor policies without the consent of stockholdergy not be in our
stockholders’ interest.

Our board of directors determines our major pdiciacluding policies and guidelines relating t@ aoquisitions, leverage,
financing, growth, operations and distributionstockholders. Our board of directors may amenewaise these and other policies and
guidelines from time to time without the vote onsent of our stockholders. Accordingly, our stodilkes will have limited control over
changes in our policies and those changes coulersely affect our financial condition, results peoations, the market price of our stock and
our ability to make distributions to our stockhatsle

The ability of our board of directors to revoke oREIT qualification without stockholder approval macause adverse
consequences to our stockholders.

Our charter provides that our board of directory neavoke or otherwise terminate our REIT electiwithout the approval of our
stockholders, if it determines that it is no longeour best interest to continue to qualify aseER If we cease to be a REIT, we would bect
subject to federal income tax on our taxable incame would no longer be required to distribute nodstur taxable income to our
stockholders, which may have adverse consequemcgedotal return to our stockholders.

We are a holding company with no direct operatiorss a result, we rely on funds received from ouresgting partnership to pay
liabilities and dividends, our stockholders’ clainvgill be structurally subordinated to all liabilits of our operating partnership and
our stockholders will not have any voting rightstiirespect to our operating partnership activitigacluding the issuance of
additional Common Units or Preferred Units.

We are a holding company and conduct all of ouraggens through our operating partnership. We dchaoe, apart from our
ownership of our operating partnership, any indepenhoperations. As a result, we rely on distritmsifrom our operating partnership to pay
any dividends we might declare on shares of oumsomor preferred stock. We also rely on distribagiécom our operating partnership to
meet any of our obligations, including tax lialyilitn taxable income allocated to us from our opeggpartnership (which might make
distributions to us that do not equal the tax achsallocated taxable income).

In addition, because we are a holding companykhtaders’ claims will be structurally subordinatiedall existing and future
liabilities and obligations (whether or not for bmwed money) of our operating partnership andutssiliaries. Therefore, in the event of our
bankruptcy, liquidation or reorganization, clainfar stockholders will be satisfied only after ellour and our operating partnership’s and its
subsidiaries’ liabilities and obligations have bgaid in full.

We own approximately 99% of the Common Units in operating partnership, all of the issued and antlihg 9.25% Series A
Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Units of Summi{'GEries A Preferred Units”), all of the issued andstanding 7.875% Series B
Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Units of Summi{‘GBries B Preferred Units”), and all of the issw@aul outstanding 7.125% Series C
Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Units of Summi(‘@Bries C Preferred Units,” the Series C Prefetdads, Series B Preferred Units and
Series A Preferred Units collectively referred $d‘Breferred Units”). Any future issuances by operating partnership of additional Common
Units or Preferred Units could reduce our ownergl@grentage in our operating partnership. Becauseanmon stockholders do not directly
own any Common Units or Preferred Units, they wilt have any voting rights with respect to any sssbances or other partnership-level
activities of our operating partnership.
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If we are unable to maintain an effective systemiofernal controls, we may not be able to produagdareport accurate financial
information on a timely basis or prevent fraud. Asresult, our stockholders could lose confidenceaar financial results, which
could harm our business and the value of our commsimares.

A system of internal controls that is well desigraed properly functioning is critical for us to pkace and report accurate and
reliable financial information and effectively pent fraud. At times, we may identify areas of mteinal controls that are not properly
functioning as designed, that need improvementatrmust be developed to ensure that we have @uatéesystem of internal controls.
Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 meguis to evaluate and report on our internal otsaver financial reporting and have our
independent auditors annually issue their own opimin our internal controls over financial repagtiive cannot be certain that we will be
successful in maintaining adequate internal cositwekr our financial reporting and processes. Aalutily, as we grow our business, our
internal controls will become more complex and wik require significantly more resources to enstim& our internal controls remain
effective. If we or our independent auditors dismoa material weakness, the disclosure of that éaen if promptly remedied, could reduce
market value of our common shares. Additionallg, éixistence of any material weakness or signifidafitiency would require managemer
devote substantial time and incur significant exgeeto remediate any such conditions. There camwlsssurance that management will be abl
to remediate any such material weaknesses or gignifdeficiencies in a timely manner.

Risks Related to Ownership of Our Securities

The New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”") or another nanhally-recognized exchange may not continue td ligir securities, which
could limit stockholders’ ability to make transacins in our securities and subject us to additiotedding restrictions.

Our common stock trades on the NYSE under the syfiidl,” our 9.25% Series A Cumulative RedeemabtefBrred Stock
trades on the NYSE under the symbol “INNPrA,” ol875% Series B Cumulative Redeemable Preferreck$tades on the NYSE under the
symbol “INNPrB,” and our 7.125% Series C CumulatRedeemable Preferred Stock trades on the NYSE tinelsymbol “INNPrC.” In
order for our securities to remain listed, we aguired to meet the continued listing requiremefitte NYSE or, in the alternative, any other
nationally-recognized exchange to which we applg. May be unable to satisfy those listing requirdsyeand there is no guarantee our
securities will remain listed on a nationally-renampd exchange. If our securities are delisted fioenNYSE or another nationally-recognized
exchange, we could face significant material advemnsequences, including:

e alimited availability of market quotations for csgcurities;

e reduced liquidity with respect to our securities;

« adetermination that our common stock is “pennglstonvhich will require brokers trading in our coromstock to
adhere to more stringent rules, possibly resuiting reduced level of trading activity in the sedary trading market for
the common stock;

« alimited amount of news and analyst coverage; and

« adecreased ability to issue additional securigirasbtain additional financing in the future.

The cash available for distribution may not be sigfent to make distributions at expected levelsdame cannot provide assurance of
our ability to make distributions in the future. Wmay use borrowed funds or funds from other sour¢esnake distributions, which
may adversely affect our operations.

Subject to the preferential rights of the holddreur Series A, Series B and Series C preferrecksdod any other class or seriet
our stock that are senior to our common stock vé#ipect to distribution rights, we intend to makeanterly distributions to holders of our
common stock. Distributions declared by us willdeghorized by our board of directors in its solecdgtion out of funds legally available for
distribution and will depend upon a number of fastincluding restrictions under applicable law dimel capital requirements of our company.
All distributions will be made at the discretionadr board of directors and will depend on our eeys, our financial condition, the
requirements for qualification as a REIT, restans under applicable law and other factors as oardof directors may deem relevant from
time to time. We may be required to fund distribas from working capital, borrowings under our unged credit facility, proceeds of future
stock offerings or a sale of assets to the extistrilbutions exceed earnings or cash flows fromragens. Funding distributions from working
capital would restrict our operations. If we borrfram the unsecured credit facility to pay disttibuns, we would be more limited in our abi
to execute our strategy of using that unsecureditdigcility to fund acquisitions. Finally, sellingssets may require us to dispose of assets at
time or in a manner that is not consistent with disposition strategy. If we borrow to fund distritons, our leverage ratios and future interest
costs would increase, thereby reducing our earrangscash available for distribution from what tlodlyerwise would have been. We may not
be able to make distributions in the future. Iniidd, some of our distributions may be considesgdturn of capital for income tax purposes.
If we decide to make distributions in excess of unrent and accumulated earnings and profits, distlibutions would
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generally be considered a return of capital foefatlincome tax purposes to the extent of the mddmdjusted tax basis in their shares. A re
of capital is not taxable, but it has the effectafucing the holder’s adjusted tax basis in t®#&tment. If distributions exceed the adjusted tax
basis of a holder’s shares, they will be treatedaais from the sale or exchange of such stock.

The market price of our stock may be volatile dwentumerous circumstances beyond our control.

The trading prices of equity securities issued BYyTR and other real estate companies historicaiyeteen affected by change:
market interest rates. One of the factors that imfyyence the market price of our common or prefdrstock is the annual yield from
distributions on our common or preferred stockpeesively, as compared to yields on other finanicisfruments. An increase in market inte
rates, or a decrease in our distributions to stolckdrs, may lead prospective purchasers of our aomon preferred stock to demand a higher
annual yield, which could reduce the market priteus common or preferred stock, respectively.

Other factors that could affect the market pricewf stock include the following:

e actual or anticipated variations in our quartedgults of operations;

« changes in market valuations of companies in tigifgy industry;

»  changes in expectations of future financial perfamge or changes in estimates of securities analysts

« fluctuations in stock market prices and volumes;

e ourissuances of common stock, preferred stocithmr securities in the future;

« the inclusion of our common stock and preferredlstn equity indices, which could induce additioparchases;

e the addition or departure of key personnel,

e announcements by us or our competitors of acqoistiinvestments or strategic alliances; and

« unforeseen events beyond our control, such asitistan the national, European or global econort@yrorist attacks,
travel related health concerns including pandemickepidemics such as HIN1 influenza (swine fiagrabird flu, Ebole
and SARS, political instability, regional hostiditi, increases in fuel prices, imposition of taxesuscharges by regulatory
authorities and travel-related accidents and udwseather patterns, including natural disasterfsschurricanes.

The market’s perception of our growth potential and current and potential future cash distributiomhether from operations,
sales or refinancings, as well as the real estat&ehvalue of the underlying assets, may cause@umon and preferred stock to trade at
prices that differ from our net asset value pereshidwe retain operating cash flow for investmpuatposes, working capital reserves or other
purposes, these retained funds, while increasiagatue of our underlying assets, may not corregipgity increase the market price of our
common and preferred stock. Our failure to meentlheket's expectations with regard to future eagaiand distributions likely would
adversely affect the market price of our common prederred stock.

The trading market for our stock will rely in part the research and reports that industry or fimhanalysts publish about us or
our business. We do not control these analystsh&unore, if one or more of the analysts who dcecaxs downgrades our stock or our
industry, or the stock of any of our competitoh® price of our stock could decline. If one or mof¢hese analysts ceases coverage of our
company, we could lose attention in the marketctvim turn could cause the price of our stock tdide.

The number of shares of our common stock and preget stock available for future sale could adverself§ect the market price per
share of our common stock and preferred stock, restively, and future sales by us of shares of oanmamon stock, preferred stock,
or issuances by our operating partnership of Commbdnits may be dilutive to existing stockholders.

Sales of substantial amounts of shares of our camstaxk or preferred stock in the public marketjpon exchange of Common
Units or exercise of any equity awards, or the @gtion that such sales might occur, could adverstéct the market price of our common
stock and preferred stock. As of February 20, 2@1t6tal of 764,277 Common Units are redeemablecanttl be converted into shares of our
common stock and sold into the public market. Tkehange of Common Units for common stock, the wgstif any equity-based awards
granted to certain directors, executive officerd ather employees under the 2011 Equity Incentlaa,Rhe issuance of our common stock or
Common Units in connection with hotel, portfoliokmrsiness acquisitions and other issuances of@mummon stock or Common Units could
have an adverse effect on the market price ofliaees of our common stock.
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Future offerings of debt securities, which would senior to our common and preferred stock upon lidation, and issuances of
equity securities (including Common Units), whichay be dilutive to our existing stockholders and $&nior to our common stock ft
purposes of dividend distributions or upon liquidah, may materially and adversely affect the marketce of our common stock.

In the future we may offer debt securities andessquity securities, including Common Units, prefdrstock or other preferred
shares that may be senior to our common stockuigrgses of dividend distributions or upon liquidatiUpon liquidation, holders of our debt
securities and our preferred shares will receig&rithiutions of our available assets prior to thilérs of our common stock. Holders of our
common stock are not entitled to peyptive rights or other protections against usroftesenior debt or equity securities. Therefodglional
common share issuances, directly or through coimerr exchangeable securities (including Commaiits), warrants or options, will dilute
the holdings of our existing common stockholderd such issuances or the perception of such isssanag reduce the market price of our
common stock. In addition, new issues of prefestedk could have a preference on liquidating distions and a preference on dividend
payments that could limit our ability to pay a diehd or make another distribution to the holdersusfcommon stock. Because our decision t
issue securities in any future offering will depemmdmarket conditions and other factors beyondcoutrol, we cannot predict or estimate the
amount, timing or nature of future issuances. Thus stockholders bear the risk of our future affgs reducing the market price of our
common stock and diluting their interest in us.

Risks Related to Our Status as a REIT

Failure to remain qualified as a REIT would causesuo be taxed as a regular corporation, which wowlgbstantially reduce funds
available for distributions to our stockholders.

The REIT rules and regulations are highly techngocal complex. We believe that our organization method of operation has
enabled us to meet the requirements for qualificagind taxation as a REIT commencing with our staoxdble year ended December 31, 201
However, we cannot provide assurance that we ®iliain qualified as a REIT.

Failure to qualify as a REIT could result from amher of situations, including, without limitation:

« if the leases of our hotels to our TRS lesseesatreespected as true leases for federal incompugposes;

» if our operating partnership is treated as a pljptraded partnership taxable as a corporatiorigfderal income tax purposes;
or

< if our existing or future hotel management compsauie not qualify as “eligible independent contragtar if our hotels are
not “qualified lodging facilities,” as required ligderal income tax law.

If we fail to qualify as a REIT in any taxable yease will face serious tax consequences that wiissantially reduce the funds
available for distributions to our stockholders dgse:

« we would not be allowed a deduction for dividend&lgo stockholders in computing our taxable inc@me would be subje
to federal income tax at regular corporate rates;

« we could be subject to the federal alternative minih tax and possibly increased state and locasiatel

. unless we are entitled to relief under certain fadecome tax laws, we could not re-elect REITugtauntil the fifth calendar
year after the year in which we failed to qualifyaREIT.

In addition, if we fail to qualify as a REIT, we Nuno longer be required to make distributions.a\esult of all these factors, our
failure to qualify as a REIT could impair our abyilto expand our business and raise capital, acolid adversely affect the value of our stock

Even if we continue to qualify as a REIT, we mayctaother tax liabilities that reduce our cash flows
Even if we continue to qualify for taxation as alREve may be subject to certain federal, statelaodl taxes on our income and
assets including, but not limited to taxes on anglistributed income, tax on income from some ati¢igiconducted as a result of a foreclosure
and state or local income, property and transfeggaln addition, our TRS is subject to regulaipooate federal, state and local taxes. Any of
these taxes would decrease cash available foitdistms to stockholders.
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Failure to make required distributions would subjeas to federal corporate income tax.

We intend to operate in a manner so as to quadify REIT for federal income tax purposes. Toqualfya REIT, we generally are
required to distribute at least 90% of our REITatiabe income, determined without regard to the dimib paid deduction and excluding any
capital gain, each year to our stockholders. Tcettient that we satisfy this distribution requirerdut distribute less than 100% of our REIT
taxable income, we will be subject to federal cogp®income tax on our undistributed taxable incomaddition, we will be subject to a 4%
non-deductible excise tax if the actual amount Wapay out to our stockholders in a calendar isekss than a minimum amount specified
under the Code.

REIT distribution requirements could adversely affeour liquidity and may force us to borrow funds eell assets during
unfavorable market conditions or pay taxable stodividends.

To satisfy the requirements for qualification @ET and to meet the REIT distribution requirements may need to borrow
funds on a short-term basis or sell assets, evie ifthen-prevailing market conditions are not fabte for these borrowings or sales. Our casl
flows from operations may be insufficient to furedjuired distributions as a result of differencesrning between the actual receipt of income
and the recognition of income for federal incomegarposes, or the effect of non-deductible cagixglenditures, the creation of reserves or
required debt service or amortization payments. ilbefficiency of our cash flows to cover our distition requirements could have an adv
effect on our ability to raise short- and long-tedabt or sell equity securities to fund distribnaequired to maintain our qualification as a
REIT. Also, although the Internal Revenue ServitRS$") has issued private letter rulings to othdfliRs, which may be relied upon only by
the taxpayers to whom they were issued, and a vevprocedure applicable to our 2007 through 20gdhie years sanctioning certain
issuances of taxable stock dividends by REITs unddain circumstances, no assurance can be dieémve will be able to pay taxable stock
dividends to meet our REIT distribution requirensent

The formation of our TRS increases our overall téigbility.

Our TRS is subject to federal, state and localimedax on its taxable income, which typically cetsiof the revenue from the
hotels leased by our TRS lessees, net of the apgmtpenses for such hotels and rent payments émd, in the case of any hotel that is ov
by a wholly-owned subsidiary of our TRS, the revefmom that hotel, net of the operating expengescordingly, although our ownership of
our TRS allows us to participate in the operatimmpime from our hotels in addition to receiving rehat operating income will be fully subject
to income tax. The after-tax net income of our TiR&vailable for distribution to us.

Our TRS lessee structure subjects us to the risknafeased hotel operating expenses that could asely affect our operating
results and our ability to make distributions toastkholders.

Our leases with our TRS lessees require our TR®déessto pay us rent based in part on revenue fuorhaiels. Our operating ris
include decreases in hotel revenue and increadestéh operating expenses, including but not lichtie the increases in wage and benefit cost
repair and maintenance expenses, energy costdfagdoperating expenses, which would adverselycatfar TRS’ ability to pay us rent due
under the leases. Increases in these operatingigapean have a significant adverse effect onioandial condition, results of operations, the
market price of our common and preferred sharesoandbility to make distributions to our stockhersl.

If our operating partnership is treated as a publljctraded partnership taxable as a corporation ffmderal income tax purposes, we
will cease to qualify as a REIT.

Although we believe that our operating partnershilpbe treated as a partnership for federal incaaxepurposes, no assurance
be given that the IRS will not successfully chajjerthat position. If the IRS were to successfuliptend that our operating partnership should
be treated as a publicly traded partnership taxable corporation, we would fail to meet the 75%sgrincome test and certain of the asset tes
applicable to REITs and, unless we qualified fataia statutory relief provisions, we would ceasejtialify as a REIT. Also, our operating
partnership would become subject to federal, statelocal income tax, which would reduce signifitathe amount of cash available for debt
service and for distribution to us.
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If Interstate, our other hotel management companjes any other hotel management companies that waymnangage in the future
do not qualify as “eligible independent contractqt®r if our hotels are not “qualified lodging fadities,” we will fail to qualify as a
REIT.

Rent paid by a lessee that is a “related partyn#&rd ours will not be qualifying income for purpes of the two gross income tests
applicable to REITs. An exception is provided, hwere for leases of “qualified lodging facilitiesd &8t TRS so long as the hotels are managed
by an “eligible independent contractor” and certatiner requirements are satisfied. We lease sutietgrall of our hotels to our TRS
lessees. All of our hotels are operated pursuanbtel management agreements with Interstate dred bbtel management companies, each ¢
which we believe qualifies as an “eligible indepentdcontractor.” Among other requirements, to yals an eligible independent contractor,
the hotel manager must not own, directly or throiiglstockholders, more than 35% of our outstandimayes, and no person or group of
persons can own more than 35% of our outstandiagestand the shares (or ownership interest) diidked manager, taking into account
certain ownership attribution rules. The ownersdtipibution rules that apply for purposes of th@Séo thresholds are complex, and monitoring
actual and constructive ownership of our sharesumhotel managers and their owners may not beipahcAccordingly, there can be no
assurance that these ownership levels will notdseeded.

In addition, for a hotel management company toifpuas an eligible independent contractor, such gany or a related person
must be actively engaged in the trade or businesparating “qualified lodging facilities” (as defd below) for one or more persons not
related to the REIT or its TRS at each time thahstompany enters into a hotel management contiitfita TRS or its TRS lessee. As of the
date hereof, we believe each of our hotel manageooenpanies operates qualified lodging facilitiesdertain persons who are not related to
us or our TRS. However, no assurances can be mavitht our hotel management companies or any btitet managers that we may engage
in the future will in fact comply with this requimeent. Failure to comply with this requirement wotgduire us to find other managers for
future contracts, and, if we hired a managementpamy without knowledge of the failure, it could peodize our status as a REIT.

Finally, each property with respect to which ourSTRssees pay rent must be a “qualified lodginditia¢ A “qualified lodging
facility” is a hotel, motel or other establishmembre than one-half of the dwelling units in whiake ased on a transient basis, including
customary amenities and facilities, provided thatwagering activities are conducted at or in cotinaavith such facility by any person wha
engaged in the business of accepting wagers andsabgally authorized to engage in such business im connection with such facility. As
of the date hereof, we believe that the propettiasare leased to our TRS lessees and the prdpaitis owned by a wholly-owned subsidiary
of our TRS are qualified lodging facilities. Althgli we intend to monitor future acquisitions andiiayements of properties, REIT provisions
of the Code provide only limited guidance for makareterminations under the requirements for qealifodging facilities, and there can be no
assurance that these requirements will be satisfied

Our ownership of our TRS is subject to limitatior@d our transactions with our TRS could cause ushe subject to a 100% penalty
tax on certain income or deductions if those trart$ieons are not conducted on arm’s-length terms.

Overall, no more than 25% of the value of a REBASsets may consist of stock or securities of omeare TRSs. In addition, the
Code limits the deductibility of interest paid @ceued by a TRS to its parent REIT to provide emsce that the TRS is subject to an
appropriate level of corporate taxation. The Cdde amposes a 100% excise tax on certain transechetween a TRS and its parent REIT
are not conducted on an arm’s-length basis. Th&:1@& would apply, for example, to the extent thiatwere found to have charged our TRS
lessees rent in excess of an arm’s-length rent.mdgtor the value of our investment in our TRStfte purpose of ensuring compliance with
TRS ownership limitations and structure our tratisas with our TRS on terms that we believe are’sutength to avoid incurring the 100%
excise tax described above. There can be no assyfaowever, that we will be able to comply witk 26% TRS limitation or to avoid
application of the 100% excise tax.

We may be subject to adverse legislative or reqaiatax changes that could reduce the market prafeour stock.

At any time, the federal income tax laws goverrREJ Ts or the administrative interpretations of #n¢éevs may be amended. We
cannot predict when or if any new federal incomelaav, regulation, or administrative interpretation any amendment to any existing federal
income tax law, regulation or administrative intetation, will be adopted, promulgated or beconfiectiize and any such law, regulation, or
interpretation may take effect retroactively. Wel anir stockholders could be adversely affectedryysaich change in, or any new, federal
income tax law, regulation or administrative intetation.
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You may be restricted from acquiring or transferigncertain amounts of our stock.

The stock ownership restrictions of the Code fofBEand the 9.8% stock ownership limit in our charhay inhibit market
activity in our capital stock and restrict our less combination opportunities.

To qualify as a REIT for each taxable year, fivdewer individuals, as defined in the Code, mayaowh, beneficially or
constructively, more than 50% in value of our igsaad outstanding stock at any time during theHa#tof a taxable year. Attribution rules in
the Code determine if any individual or entity biécially or constructively owns our capital stockder this requirement. Additionally, at least
100 persons must beneficially own our capital stiheking at least 335 days of a taxable year foheaxable year. To help insure that we mee
these tests, our charter restricts the acquisati@hownership of shares of our capital stock.

Our charter, with certain exceptions, authorizesditectors to take such actions as are necessdrygesirable to preserve our
qualification as a REIT. Unless exempted by ourtd@d directors, our charter prohibits any persamf beneficially or constructively owning
more than 9.8% in value or number of shares, whiehis more restrictive, of the outstanding shafesny class or series of our capital stock.
Our board of directors may not grant an exemptiomfthese restrictions to any proposed transfelreese ownership in excess of 9.8% of the
value of our outstanding shares would result infailing to qualify as a REIT. These restrictionstoansferability and ownership will not
apply, however, if our board of directors determsittgat it is no longer in our best interest to ocurg to qualify as a REIT.

We may pay taxable dividends in our common stockl @ash, in which case stockholders may sell sharEsur common stock to pay
tax on such dividends, placing downward pressuretha market price of our common stock.

We may distribute taxable dividends that are payabtash and common stock at the election of stadkholder. If we made a
taxable dividend payable in cash and common staglable stockholders receiving such dividends éllrequired to include the full amount
the dividend as ordinary income to the extent afcaurent and accumulated earnings and profitdetarmined for federal income tax
purposes. As a result, stockholders may be reqtiredy income tax with respect to such dividemdsxcess of the cash dividends received. |
a U.S. stockholder sells the common stock thatdéives as a dividend to pay this tax, the salesgeds may be less than the amount include
in income with respect to the dividend, dependindle market price of our common stock at the tirithe sale. Furthermore, with respect to
certain non-U.S. stockholders, we may be requivedithhold federal income tax with respect to sdehdends, including in respect of all or a
portion of such dividend that is payable in comrstock. If we made a taxable dividend payable il@asl our common stock and a
significant number of our stockholders determinseth shares of our common stock to pay taxes awedividends, it may put downward
pressure on the trading price of our common stédék.do not currently intend to pay a taxable dividlefiour common stock and cash.

The 100% prohibited transactions tax may limit oability to dispose of our properties, and we coindur a material tax liability if
the IRS successfully asserts that the 100% prolabitransaction tax applies to some or all of ourgpar future dispositions.

A REIT’s net income from prohibited transactionsimbject to a 100% tax. In general, prohibitedseations are sales or other
dispositions of property, other than foreclosureperty, held primarily for sale to customers in thidinary course of business. We have
selectively disposed of certain of our propertirethie past and intend to make additional dispasitia the future. Although a safe harbor tc
characterization of the sale of property by a R&$Ta prohibited transaction is available, someuofpast dispositions may not have qualified
for that safe harbor and some or all of our futlispositions may not qualify for that safe harie believe that our past dispositions will not
be treated as prohibited transactions, and we maig aisposing of property that may be characteriag held primarily for sale to customer
the ordinary course of business. Consequently, @ choose not to engage in certain sales of oyngpties or may conduct such sales thra
our TRS, which would be subject to federal andesitmtome taxation as a corporation. Moreover,ssug@nce can be provided that the IRS
will not assert that some or all of our past oufatdispositions are subject to the 100% prohititadsactions tax. If the IRS successfully
imposes the 100% prohibited transactions tax oresmnall of our dispositions, the resulting tablldy could be material.

ltem 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.
None.
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Item 2. Properties.
Our Portfolio

A list of our hotel properties owned as of Decenttier2014 is included in the table below. We ownlmotels in fee simple,
except for six hotels that are held under grouaddeor other leasehold interest, as describedim Fotel Operating Agreements &round
Leases” below. According to STR’s current chain scal@s,of our hotel properties with 8,169 guestroonescategorized as Upscale hotels
and 29 of our hotel properties with 3,294 guestre@ame categorized as Upper-midscale hotels. @dirfcial and room information is for the
year ended December 31, 20

Number of
Franchise/Brand Location Guestrooms STR Segmen
Marriott
Courtyard by Matrriott (1 Flagstaff, AZ 164 Upscale
Courtyard by Marriott (1 Phoenix (Scottsdale), A 155 Upscale
Courtyard by Marriott (2 Atlanta, GA 15C Upscale
Courtyard by Matrriott (3 Indianapolis, IN 297 Upscale
Courtyard by Marriott (1 New Orleans (Metairie), L/ 15: Upscale
Courtyard by Marriott (3 New Orleans (Convention), L 20z Upscale
Courtyard by Marriott (3 New Orleans (French Quarter), 1 14C Upscale
Courtyard by Marriott (1 Jackson, M¢ 117 Upscale
Courtyard by Matrriott (3 Memphis (Germantown), T 93 Upscale
Courtyard by Matrriott (3 Dallas (Arlington), TX 105 Upscale
Courtyard by Matrriott (3 El Paso, TX 9C Upscale
Fairfield Inn & Suites by Marriott (3 Denver, CC 16C Uppermidscale
Fairfield Inn & Suites by Marriott (1 Louisville, KY 13t Uppermidscale
Fairfield Inn & Suites by Marriott (3 Baton Rouge, L/ 78 Uppermidscale
Fairfield Inn & Suites by Marriott (3 Memphis (Germantown), T 8C Uppermidscale
Fairfield Inn & Suites by Marriott (3 Dallas (Fort Worth), TX 7C Uppermidscale
Fairfield Inn & Suites by Marriott (3 Seattle (Bellevue), W 144 Uppermidscale
Fairfield Inn & Suites by Marriott (3 Spokane, W# 84 Uppermidscale
Residence Inn by Marriott (X Fort Wayne, IN 10¢ Upscale
Residence Inn by Marriott (: New Orleans (Metairie), L/ 12C Upscale
Residence Inn by Marriott (. Jackson (Ridgeland), M 10C Upscale
Residence Inn by Marriott (1) (: Portland, OF 124 Upscale
Residence Inn by Marriott (¢ Memphis (Germantown), T 78 Upscale
Residence Inn by Marriott (X Dallas (Arlington), TX 9€ Upscale
Residence Inn by Marriott (. Salt Lake City, UT 18¢ Upscale
SpringHill Suites by Marriott (1 Flagstaff, AZ 112z Upscale
SpringHill Suites by Marriott (1 Phoenix (Scottsdale), A 121 Upscale
SpringHill Suites by Marriott (1 Denver, CC 124 Upscale
SpringHill Suites by Marriott (3 Indianapoalis, IN 15€ Upscale
SpringHill Suites by Marriott (1 Louisville, KY 19€ Upscale
SpringHill Suites by Marriott (3 Baton Rouge, L/ 78 Upscale
SpringHill Suites by Marriott (3 New Orleans, LA 20&€ Upscale
SpringHill Suites by Marriott (1 Minneapolis (Bloomington), M} 11: Upscale
SpringHill Suites by Marriott (3 Nashville, TN 78 Upscale
TownPlace Suites by Marriott ( Baton Rouge, L/ 9C Uppermidscale
Total Marriott (35 hotel properties) 4,507
Hilton
DoubleTree (1 Baton Rouge, L/ 127 Upscale
DoubleTree (1 San Francisco, C, 21C Upscale
Hampton Inn (3 Fort Collins, CC 75 Uppermidscale
Hampton Inn (1 Fort Wayne, IN 11¢ Uppermidscale
Hampton Inn (3 Medford, OR 75  Uppermidscale
Hampton Inn (3 Provo, UT 87 Uppermidscale
Hampton Inn (1 Santa Barbara (Goleta), C 101 Uppermidscale
Hampton Inn & Suites (4 Austin, TX 20¢ Uppermidscale
Hampton Inn & Suites (1 Ventura (Camarillo), C/ 11€ Uppermidscale
Hampton Inn & Suites (1 San Diego (Poway), C. 10€ Uppermidscale
Hampton Inn & Suites (1 Tampa (Ybor City), FL 13¢ Uppermidscale
Hampton Inn & Suites (1 Minneapolis (Bloomington), M} 14€ Uppermidscale
Hampton Inn & Suites (1 Nashville (Smyrna), TP 83 Uppermidscale
Hampton Inn & Suites (1 El Paso, TX 13¢ Uppermidscale
Hampton Inn & Suites (1 Dallas (Fort Worth), TX 10t Uppermidscale



Hilton Garden Inn (1
Hilton Garden Inn (4
Hilton Garden Inn (1
Hilton Garden Inn (1
Hilton Garden Inn (1
Hilton Garden Inn (3
Hilton Garden Inn (1
Hilton Garden Inn (3
Hilton Garden Inn (1
Hilton Garden Inn (3
Homewood Suites (¢

Total Hilton (26 hotel properties)

Houston (Energy Corridor), T.
Houston (Galleria), T
Birmingham, AL

Birmingham, AL

Fort Collins, CC

Atlanta (Duluth), GA
Minneapolis (Eden Prairie), M
Greenville, SC

Nashville (Smyrna), TP
Dallas (Fort Worth), TX
Jackson (Ridgeland), M
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182
19C
13C
9t
12C
12z
97
12C
112
98
91
3,19¢

Upscale
Upscale
Upscale
Upscale
Upscale
Upscale
Upscale
Upscale
Upscale
Upscale
Upscale
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Number of
Franchise/Brand Location Guestrooms STR Segmen
Hyatt
Hyatt House (1 Denver (Englewood), Ct 13t Upscale
Hyatt Place (3 Phoenix, AZ 127 Upscale
Hyatt Place (1 Phoenix (Scottsdale), A 12€ Upscale
Hyatt Place (1 Denver (Englewood), Ct 12€ Upscale
Hyatt Place (1 Denver (Lone Tree), Ct 127 Upscale
Hyatt Place (3 Fort Myers, FL 14¢ Upscale
Hyatt Place (1 Orlando (Convention), F 15C Upscale
Hyatt Place (1 Orlando (Universal), Fl 15C Upscale
Hyatt Place (1 Atlanta, GA 15C Upscale
Hyatt Place (1 Chicago (Hoffman Estates), 12€ Upscale
Hyatt Place (1 Chicago (Lombard), Il 151 Upscale
Hyatt Place (1 Baltimore (Owing Mills), MD 12: Upscale
Hyatt Place (3 Minneapolis, MN 21% Upscale
Hyatt Place (3) (5 Long Island (Garden City), N 122 Upscale
Hyatt Place (3) (4 Portland, OF 13€ Upscale
Hyatt Place (1 Dallas (Arlington), TX 127 Upscale
Hyatt Place (3 Dallas (Las Colinas), T 122z Upscale
Total Hyatt (17 hotel properties) 2,35¢
IHG
Holiday Inn (3) (4) Atlanta (Duluth), GA 14: Uppermidscale
Holiday Inn Express (1 Chicago (Vernon Hills), IL 11¢ Uppermidscale
Holiday Inn Express (1 Charleston, W\ 6€ Uppermidscale
Holiday Inn Express & Suites (. San Francisco, C. 25Z Uppermidscale
Holiday Inn Express & Suites (. Minneapolis (Minnetonka), M! 93 Uppermidscale
Holiday Inn Express & Suites (: Dallas (Las Colinas), T: 12¢ Uppermidscale
Holiday Inn Express & Suites (. Salt Lake City (Sandy), U 88 Uppermidscale
Staybridge Suites (¢ Denver (Glendale), Ct 121 Upscale
Staybridge Suites (: Jackson, M¢ 92 Upscale
Total IHG (9 hotel properties) 1,102
Carlson
Country Inn & Suites by Carlson ( Charleston, W\ 64 Uppermidscale
Total Carlson (1 hotel property) 64
Starwood
Aloft (3) Jacksonville, FL 13€ Upscale
Four Points (3 San Francisco, C, 101 Upscale
Total Starwood (2 hotel properties) 237
Total Portfolio (90 hotel properties) 11,46¢

(1) This hotel property is subject to mortgage del@etember 31, 2014. For additional information @ning our debt and lenders, see |
7. "“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Finahkiiformation and Results of Operations—Outstagditdebtedness” and Item 8.
“Financial Statements and Supplementary Data—Nbte Rebt” in our Consolidated Financial Statements.

(2) We own a 90% controlling interest in this hotelecty with the opportunity to acquire the remainiri9o interest in 2016.

(3) This hotel property is unencumbered at Decembe2@14.

(4) These hotel properties are subject to ground leaségscribed below in “Other Hotel Operating Agreats —Ground Leases.

(5) This hotel property is subject to a PILOT (paymieriteu of taxes) lease as described below in “Othatel Operating Agreements —
Ground Leases.
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Since December 31, 2014, we have not acquiredspoded of any hotel properties.

In addition to our hotel property portfolio, we owix parcels of land, one of which is designatetield for sale, that we believe
are suitable for the development of new hotel pridge the possible expansion of existing hotepprties or the development of restaurants ir
proximity to certain of our hotel properties. Wélwonsider unique opportunities to develop hotgitzing our own resources if
circumstances warrant. We may in the future selé¢hparcels when market conditions warrant. Toaedthe risk of incurring a prohibited
transaction tax on any sales, we may transfer somra# of these parcels to our TRS.

Our Hotel Operating Agreements
Ground Leases

At December 31, 2014, five of our hotel properties subject to ground lease agreements that c\adrtae land underlying the
respective hotel property.

*  The Residence Inn by Marriott located in Portla®®, is subject to a ground lease with an initiabéetermination date of June 30,
2084 with one option to extend for an additionalygérs. Ground rent for the initial lease term waspaid in full at the time we
acquired the leasehold interest. If the optiondeied is exercised, monthly ground rent will bergleal based on a formula establishec
in the ground lease.

e The Hampton Inn & Suites located in Austin, TX idgect to a ground lease with an initial lease teation date of May 31, 2050.
Annual ground rent currently is estimated to bet$fillion for 2015. Annual rent is increased evéwe years with the next
adjustment coming in 2020.

e  The Hilton Garden Inn located in Houston (Gall&iaa), Texas is subject to a ground lease witméial lease termination date of
April 20, 2053 with one option to extend for an didehal 10 years. Annual ground rent currently sérmated to be $0.5 million for
2015. Annual rent is increased every five yeath e next adjustment coming in 2018.

*  The Hyatt Place located in Portland, OR is sulijget ground lease with a lease termination datkioé 30, 2084 with one option to
extend for an additional 14 years. Ground rentHerinitial lease term was prepaid in full at thee we acquired the leasehold intet
If the option to extend is exercised, monthly grdwent will be charged based on a formula estadtish the ground lease.

»  The Holiday Inn located in Duluth, GA is subjecta@round lease with a lease termination date ofl Ap2069. Annual ground rent
currently is estimated to be $0.2 million in 20nnual rent is increased annually by 3% for eaddtsssive lease year, on a
cumulative basis.

These ground leases generally require us to maikal igayments and payments for our share of chacgess, expenses,
assessments and liabilities, including real proptrtes and utilities. Furthermore, these growadés generally require us to obtain and
maintain insurance covering the subject property.

In addition, the Hyatt Place located in Garden QWY is subject to a PILOT (payment in lieu of taxéease with the Town of
Hempstead Industrial Development Authority, or iBé\, as lessor. The lease expires on Decembe2@®19. Upon expiration of the lease, we
expect to exercise our right to acquire a fee stnmtierest in the Garden City hotel property frdma DA for nominal consideration.
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Franchise Agreements

At December 31, 2014, all of our hotel propertipsrate under franchise agreements with MarriottpHij Hyatt, IHG, Country
Inns & Suites By Carlson, Inc. (“Carlson”) or Stawd Hotels and Resorts Worldwide, Inc. (“StarwooiVe believe that the public’s
perception of the quality associated with a braai@ hotel is an important feature in its attractass to guests. Franchisors provide a variety
of benefits to franchisees, including centralizeslervation systems, national advertising, markginograms and publicity designed to increas
brand awareness, loyalty programs, training ofgrarel and maintenance of operational quality atlsaicross the brand system.

The franchise agreements require our TRS lessedégrechisees, to pay franchise fees ranging bet@&eand 6% of each hotel's
gross revenue. In addition, some of our franchige@ments require our TRS lessees to pay markiet@sgof up to 4% of each hotel’s gross
revenue. These agreements generally specify marsageaperational, record-keeping, accounting, rapgpand marketing standards and
procedures with which our TRS lessees, as thelfiiaees, must comply. The franchise agreementsaibligur TRS lessees to comply with the
franchisors’ standards and requirements, incluttiaiging of operational personnel, safety, mairitajrspecified insurance, the types of
services and products ancillary to guest room sesvihat may be provided by the TRS lessee, digflaijgnage and the type, quality and age
of furniture, fixtures and equipment included iregurooms, lobbies and other common areas. Sothe @igreements require that we deposit
set percentage, generally not more than 5% of thesgevenue of the hotels, into a reserve funddpital expenditures.

Hotel Management Agreemen

At December 31, 2014, all of our hotel properties @perated pursuant to hotel management agreemihtshird party hotel
management companies, including the following:

Number of Number of

Management Company Properties Guestrooms
Interstate Management Company, LLC and its afélidbble Management Group, LL 49 5,52:
Select Hotel Group, LL( 12 1,681
Affiliates of Marriott, including Courtyard Managemnt Corporation, SpringHill SMC Corporation and

Residence Inn by Marrio 6 973
White Lodging Services Corporatit 4 78€
Kana Hotels, Inc 3 31t
InterMountain Management, LLC and its affiliatelldiHotels and Resorts, L 7 723
Affiliates of IHG including IHG Management (MaryldhLLC and Intercontinental Hotel Group

Resources, Inc 2 39t
HP Hotels Management Company, | 2(1) 22t
OTO Development, LLC 2 26(
American Liberty Hospitality, Inc 2 37z
Stonebridge Realty Advisors, Ir 1 21C

Total 90 11,46:

(1) We entered into hotel management agreements withsbate Management Company, LLC in January 204 héohotels previously
managed by HP Hotels Management Company, Inc.

Our typical hotel management agreement requireés pay a base fee to our hotel manager calcul&edp@rcentage of hotel
revenues. In addition, our hotel management ageaeigenerally provide that the hotel manager eam & incentive fee for revenue or
EBITDA over certain thresholds. Our TRS lesseeg eamaploy other hotel managers in the future. Wealp and will not, have any owners
or economic interest in any of the hotel managernentpanies engaged by our TRS lessees.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings.

We are involved from time to time in litigation sing in the ordinary course of business. Howewerare not currently aware of
any actions against us that we believe would neterdversely affect our business, financial ctindior results of operations.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.
Not applicable.
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PART II
Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stodholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Seaities.
Market Information

Our common stock began trading on the NYSE on Faeiprd, 2011 under the symbol “INN.” Prior to thiate, there was no
public trading market for our common stock. The faported sale price for our common stock as tegoon the NYSE on February 20, 2015
was $13.24 per share. The following table sethfibre high and low sales price per share of oomrmoon stock per quarter reported on the
NYSE, and the distributions declared on our comistook for each of the quarters indicat

Distribution Declared
Per Common
2014 High Low Share/Unit

Fourth Quarte $ 12.7C $ 10.68 $ 0.117¢
Third Quartel $ 11.07 $ 10.27 % 0.117¢
Second Quarte $ 1061 $ 9.01 $ 0.112¢
First Quartel $ 9.4¢ $ 8.6¢ $ 0.112¢
Distribution Declared
Per Common

2013 High Low Share/Unit

Fourth Quarte $ 9.3¢ $ 8.6 $ 0.112¢
Third Quartel $ 103 % 9.1C $ 0.112¢
Second Quarte $ 10.4¢  $ 9.1: $ 0.112¢
First Quarte! $ 1047 $ 9.0z $ 0.112¢

Stockholder Information

As of February 20, 2015, our common stock was bélécord by 381 holders and there were 86,088sb@Bes of our common sto
outstanding.

Distribution Information

As a REIT, we must distribute annually to our stamklers an amount at least equal to 90% of our R&ta@ble income, determined
without regard to the deduction for dividends paidl excluding any net capital gain. We will be sgbfo income tax on our taxable income
that is not distributed and to an excise tax toetktent that certain percentages of our taxablenrare not distributed by specified dates. Out
cash available for distribution may be less thanamount required to meet the distribution requéets for REITs under the Code, and we
be required to borrow money, sell assets or isapéad stock to satisfy the distribution requirertsen

The timing and frequency of distributions will betlaorized by our Board of Directors, in its soledtetion, and declared by us basec
upon a variety of factors deemed relevant by orgatidors, including financial condition, restrictoander applicable law and loan agreements
capital requirements and the REIT requirements®fCQode. Our ability to make distributions will geally depend on receipt of distributions
from Summit OP, which depends primarily upon lggagments from our TRS lessees with respect to otalh

We are generally restricted from declaring or pgyany distributions, or setting aside any fundsliierpayment of distributions, on
our common stock unless full cumulative distribnS@n our preferred stock have been declared dmer giaid or set aside for payment in full
for all past distribution periods.
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Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Corpensation Plans

The following table provides information as of Ded®er 31, 2014 with respect to our securities thay tre issued under existing
equity compensation plans:

Number of Securities
Remaining Available

Number of Securities to Weighted Average for Future Issuance
be Issued Upon Exercise Exercise Price of Under Equity
Plan Category of Outstanding Options Outstanding Options Compensation Plans (1)
Equity Compensation Plans Approved by Summit REIT
Stockholders (2 846,000 $ 9.7t 614,47:
Equity Compensation Plans Not Approved by SummitlRE
Stockholder: — — —
Total 846,000 ¢ 9.7F 614,47.

(1) Excludes securities reflected in the column emtitldumber of Securities to be Issued Upon Exerofs®utstanding Options.”
(2) Consists of our 2011 Equity Incentive Plan, whicsvapproved by our board of directors and our stolekholder prior to completion of
our IPO.

Stock Performance Graph

The following graph compares the yearly changeuinaumulative total stockholder return on our comrsbares for the period
beginning February 8, 2011 and ended December®4, 2vith the semi-annual changes in the Standadd®@or’'s 500 Stock Index (“S&P
500 Index™), and the SNL US REIT Hotel Index foetbame period, assuming a base share price ofGRL{i.our common stock, the S&P
500 Index and the SNL US REIT Hotel Index for congpiae purposes. The SNL US REIT Hotel Index imposed of publicly traded REITs
which focus on investments in hotel propertiestal'stockholder return equals appreciation in stmie plus dividends paid and assumes the
all dividends are reinvested. The performancetgiramot indicative of future investment performandVe do not make or endorse any
predictions as to future share price performance.

Period Ended

Index 02/08/11 06/30/11 _ 12/30/11 _06/29/12 _12/31/12 _06/28/13 _12/31/13 _ 06/30/14 _ 12/31/14
Summit Hotel Properties, In 100.0( 117.0( 100.0¢ 91.0C 106.1¢ 108.0¢ 105.4¢ 127.2: 152.4¢
S&P 500 100.0( 100.5( 96.7¢ 105.97 112.2¢ 127.8( 148.6¢ 159.2¢ 168.9¢
SNL US REIT Hote 100.0( 89.61 79.51 89.6¢ 89.6¢ 99.5:¢ 113.3( 132.9¢ 149.5¢
e NN
160 il 54T 400

SNL LS REIT Hotel

Index Value

x4

LLESL 0 M1 123111 302 124012 GG 313 1231113 063014 X304
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Iltem 6. Selected Financial Data.

The following information should be read in conijtioe with “Management’s Discussion and Analysig-ofancial Condition and
Results of Operatio” and our audited consolidated financial statemeatsl related notes thereto, appearing elsewhethigiForm 10-K.

Summit Hotel Summit Hotel
Summit Hotel Properties, Inc. Properties, LLC Combined Properties, LLC
(in thousands, except per share 2014 2013 2012 2/14/11- 12/31/11 1/1/11- 2/13/11 2011 2010
Statement of Operations Date
Revenues:
Room $ 380,47. $ 283,27¢ $ 154,600 $ 102,10¢ $ 10,62( $ 112,72¢  $ 99,05¢
Other hotel operations reven 22,99¢ 15,67¢ 7,10( 4,28( 51¢ 4,79¢ 4,327
Total revenue 403,46t 298,95¢ 161,70( 106,38 11,13¢ 117,52° 103,38:
Expenses:
Hotel operating expense
Room 101,15( 80,39: 45,13( 30,21¢ 3,67¢ 33,89( 29,91¢
Other direct 55,38¢ 39,81t 21,28¢ 15,47¢ 2,28¢ 17,76¢ 15,60¢
Other indirec’ 104,95¢ 78,13¢ 44,02¢ 28,29¢ 3,642 31,93¢ 27,67¢
Total hotel operating expens 261,49 198,34 110,44 73,98¢ 9,60« 83,59: 73,19¢
Depreciation and amortizatic 65,31: 51,18¢ 30,64¢ 21,64¢ 2,651 24,297 21,75:
Corporate general and administrat 19,88 12,92¢ 9,57 6,561 — 6,561 —
Hotel property acquisition cos 76¢< 1,88¢ 3,05( 254 — 254 367
Loss on impairment of asse 8,841 1,36¢ 66C — — — 6,47¢
Total expense 356,30¢ 265,71( 154,37( 102,44¢ 12,258 114,70: 101,79:
Operating income (los! 47,15 33,24¢ 7,33( 3,93¢ (1,11€) 2,827 1,591
Other income (expense
Interest expens (26,96¢) (20,13)) (14,909 (9,999 (3,439 (13,429 (21,57%
Other income (expens 98€ (1,597) (9€) (37) 2 (35) (37)
Total other expense, n (25,98 (21,729 (15,005 (10,030 (3,439 (13,469 (21,619
Income (loss) from continuin
operations before income tax 21,17t 11,51¢ (7,675 (6,097) (4,549 (10,640 (20,027)
Income tax benefit (expens (744) (4,894 72¢ 2,25¢ (55C) 1,70¢ (195)
Income (loss) from continuin
operations 20,43: 6,62t (6,94%) (3,839 (5,099 (8,931 (20,216
Income (loss) from discontinue
operations 497 (72¢) 4,671 (345) (1,108 (1,459 (704)
Net income (loss 20,92: 5,897 (2,270) (4,177) (6,20%) (10,389 (20,920
Income (loss) attributable to n-
controlling interests
Operating partnershi 51 (297) (1,194 (1,240 — (1,240 —
Joint venture 1 31€ — — — — —
Net income (loss) attributable to Sumi
Hotel Properties, Inc./Predeces 20,87: 5,87¢ (1,07€) (2,937) (6,207) (9,149 (20,92()
Preferred dividend (16,58¢) (14,590 (4,625) (411) = (411) =
Net income (loss) attributable
common stockholders/memb $ 428: $ (871) $ (5,70) $ (3349 $ (6,20 $ (9.559) § (20,920
Earnings per shar
Basic and diluted net income (lo¢
per share from continuing
operations $ 0.0 $ 011 $ 0.2 $ (0.13)
Basic and diluted net income (lo¢
per share from discontinued
operations 0.01 (0.01) 0.11 (0.07)
Basic and diluted net incon
(loss) per shar $ 0.0 $ (0.12) $ (0.19) $ (0.12)
Weighted average common sha
outstanding
Basic 85,24 70,32; 33,71 27,27¢
Diluted 85,56¢ 70,32] 33,710 27,27¢
Dividends per shar $ 0.4¢ $ 04t $ 04t $ 0.2¢
Balance Sheet Data (at period enc
Total asset $ 1,459,02 $ 1,294,471 $ 810,78¢ $ 554,00! ne $ 554,000 $ 493,00¢
Debt $ 626,53. $ 43558¢ $ 312,610 $ 217,10« ne $ 217,10 $ 420,43
Total equity $ 785,20. % 822,37t % 47353 $ 319,44 ne $ 319,44¢  $ 59,84«
Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial @dition and Results of Operations.
Overview

We are a self-managed hotel investment companythgtorganized in June 2010. We focus on acquairtgowning premium-
branded, select-service hotels in the Upscale gpktdmidscale segments of the U.S. lodging indusisythese segments are currently define
by STR.

We had no business activities prior to completibthe IPO and the related formation transaction§eloruary 14, 2011. As a res
of the formation transactions, we acquired solearsiip of the 65 hotels in our predecessor’s plotftn addition, we assumed the
indebtedness of our predecessor and its subsisli®igr predecessor was considered the acquiractmunting purposes and its financial
statements became our financial statements upopletion of the formation transactions.



From the completion of our IPO through December28iL4, we acquired 49 hotel properties with a tot&#,938 guestrooms for
purchase prices aggregating approximately $1.®billn addition, pursuant to our strategy to comdilly evaluate our hotel properties, since
our IPO and through December 31, 2014, we solda?d! properties with a total of 2,014 guestroomisDAcember 31, 2014, our portfolio
consisted of 90 hotel properties with a total o46B guestrooms located in 21 states.
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Substantially all of our assets are held by, ahdfalur operations are conducted through, Sumriit Through a wholly-owned
subsidiary, we are the sole general partner of Su@m. At December 31, 2014, we owned, directly amtikectly, approximately 99% of
Summit OP’s issued and outstanding Common Uniig,airof Summit OP’s issued and outstanding SekieSeries B and Series C Preferred
Units. Pursuant to the Summit OP partnership agee¢mve have full, exclusive and complete respdilitgiland discretion in the management
and control of Summit OP, including the abilitydause Summit OP to enter into certain major traimgacincluding acquisitions, dispositions
and refinancings, and to make distributions torpae and to cause changes in Summit OP’s busic#sgies.

Industry Trends and Outlook

Room-night demand in the U.S. lodging industryeseyally correlated to macroeconomic trends. Kéyeds of demand include
growth in GDP, corporate profits, capital investitseaind employment. Following periods of recessiecgvery of room-night demand for
lodging historically has lagged improvements indherall economy. However, in the economic recoveginning in early 2010, room-night
demand led improvements in the overall economyth@igh we expect that our hotel properties willizmameaningful RevPAR gains as the
economy and lodging industry continue to improte, fisk exists that global and domestic economiitibns may cause the economic
recovery to stall, which likely would adverselyexf our growth expectations.

The U.S. lodging industry experienced a positieadrthrough 2014 that we expect to continue inttb28s the U.S. economy
continues to improve. According to a report pregan January 2015 by PricewaterhouseCoopers, UL, RevPAR growth in 2015 for
Upscale hotels and Upper-midscale hotels is prefettd be 6.6% and 8.2%, respectively. We have #iymsutlook about macro-economic
conditions and their effect on room-night demandhilé/the supply of new hotels under constructios ingreased and is expected to accelera
in 2015, we expect that our near-term results matlbe adversely affected by increased lodging Isupmpur markets at this time.

Operating Performance Metrics

We use a variety of operating performance indicasord other information to evaluate the financadition and operating
performance of our business. These key indicatmiside financial information that is prepared ic@cdance with GAAP, as well as other
financial information that is not prepared in act@rce with GAAP. In addition, we use other inforimatthat may not be financial in nature,
including statistical information and comparativaal We use this information to measure the perdoa of individual hotel properties,
groups of hotel properties and/or our businessvalsade. We periodically compare historical informatto our internal budgets as well as
industry-wide information. These key indicatorslirte:

»  Occupancy— Occupancy represents the total number of guasisamxcupied divided by the total number of guests available.
*  Average Daily Rate (ADR)— ADR represents total room revenues divided byttted number of guestrooms occupied.
* Revenue Per Available Room (RevPAR — RevPAR is the product of ADR and Occupancy.

Occupancy, ADR and RevPAR are commonly used messuithin the hotel industry to evaluate operatiegfprmance. RevPAR
is an important statistic for monitoring operatpgrformance at the individual hotel property leaetl across our business as a whole. We
evaluate individual hotel RevPAR performance omlsolute basis with comparisons to budget and peadpds, as well as on a company-
wide and regional basis. ADR and RevPAR includeg oabm revenue. Room revenue depends on demamae@sured by occupancy), prici
(as measured by ADR), and our available supplyotéllrooms. Our ADR, occupancy and RevPAR perfolceanay be affected by
macroeconomic factors such as regional and locpl@ment growth, personal income and corporateiegsnoffice vacancy rates and
business relocation decisions, airport and othsiniess and leisure travel, new hotel property cangon, and the pricing strategies of
competitors. In addition, our ADR, occupancy and/lR&R performance is dependent on the continuedesisonf our franchisors and brands.
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Hotel Property Portfolio Activity
Acquisitions

We acquired six hotel properties in 2014 and 1&lhmbperties in 2013. A summary of these acquoisgtiis as follows (dollars in thousands,
except Cost per Key):

Guestrooms as 0 Purchase Renovation

Date Acquired Franchise/Brand Location December 31, 201 Price Cost Cost per Key
2014:
January ¢ Hilton Garden Inr Houston (Galleria), T> 18z $ 37,500 $ 3,40((3) $ 225,00!
January 1( Hampton Inr Santa Barbara (Goleta), C 101 27,90((1) 2,10((3) 297,001
January 2¢ Four Points by Sheratc San Francisco, C. 101 21,25( 1,40((3) 224,00(
March 14 DoubleTree by Hiltor San Francisco, C. 21C 39,06( 4,50((3) 207,00(
August 15 Hilton Garden Inr Houston (Energy Corridor), T 19C 36,000 3,20((3) 206,001
September ! Hampton Inn & Suite Austin, TX 20¢ 53,00( 2,40((3) 265,00(

Total for the year ended December 31, 2 6 hotel propertie: 99t $ 214,71 $ 17,000 $ 233,00(
2013:
January 2: Hyatt Place Chicago (Hoffman Estates), 12¢ $ 923 $ 1,40((3) $ 84,00(
January 2: Hyatt Place Orlando (Convention), F 15C 12,25 1,90((2) 94,00(
January 2: Hyatt Place Orlando (Universal), FI 15C 11,84: 1,90((2) 92,00(
February 11 IHG / Holiday Inn Express & Suite San Francisco, C, 252 60,50( 4,20((2) 257,001
March 11 SpringHill Suites by Marriot New Orleans, LA 20¢ 33,09t —(2) 159,00(
March 11 Courtyard by Marriot New Orleans (Convention), L 20z 30,821 2,40((2) 164,00(
March 11 Courtyard by Marriot New Orleans (French Quarter), L 14C 25,68: 10C(2) 184,00(
March 11 Courtyard by Marriot New Orleans (Metairie), L/ 15¢ 23,53¢ 2,50((2) 170,00(
March 11 Residence Inn by Marrio New Orleans (Metairie), L+ 12C 19,89( —(2) 166,00(
April 30 Hilton Garden Inr Greenville, SC 12C 15,25( 10C(2) 128,00(
May 21 IHG / Holiday Inn Express & Suite Minneapolis (Minnetonka), M! 93 6,90( 1,60((2) 91,00(
May 21 Hilton Garden Inr Minneapolis (Eden Prairie), M 97 10,20( 2,30((2) 129,00(
May 23 Fairfield Inn & Suites by Marriol Louisville, KY 13t 25,02 2,50((3) 204,00(
May 23 SpringHill Suites by Marriot Louisville, KY 19¢ 39,13¢ 3,60((3) 216,00(
May 23 Courtyard by Marriot Indianapolis, IN 297 58,63« —(2) 197,00(
May 23 SpringHill Suites by Marriot Indianapolis, IN 15€ 30,20¢ —(2) 194,00(
October 1 Hampton Inn & Suite Ventura (Camarillo), C/ 11€ 15,75( 3,00((3) 162,00(
October € Hampton Inn & Suite San Diego (Poway), C. 10¢ 15,15( 30C(3) 143,00(
December 3: Hyatt Place Minneapolis, MN 213 32,50¢ —(2) 153,00(

Total for the year ended December 31, 2 19 hotel propertie 303/ $ 475,61 $ 27,800 $ 166,00(

(1) The purchase price for this hotel included theasse of 412,174 Common Units in our Operating Rastmip valued at the time of issuance at $3.7 onilli
(2) The amounts reflect actual total renovation costs.
(3) The amounts reflect actual-to-date and estimateirgng costs to complete.

The purchase price and renovation costs are fubgedortgage debt, advances on our senior unsecevetl/ing line of credit
facility, cash and the issuance of Operating Pastrip Common Units described in footnote 1 to #ide above. Additional information about
the mortgage debt financing is provided below iut€@anding Indebtedness — Mortgage Loans.”

Of the total renovation costs detailed in the taltleve, $26.2 million have been incurred as of bdsmr 31, 2014. There is no
assurance that our actual renovation costs wilemoeed our estimates.

Dispositions

Pursuant to our strategy to periodically evaluatetmtel properties and land held for developmemtsold four hotel properties and
three parcels of land held for development in 28dd 15 hotel properties and five parcels of land far development in 2013. Historically,
when a property was identified as being held fée,sae reclassified the property on our consoliddtalance sheets, evaluated for potential
impairment and, in the case of a hotel properfyored historical and future results of operationdiscontinued operations.
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As discussed in the footnotes to the consolidatexhtial statements, we have elected to early aéiSpt No. 2014-08, which
changes the criteria for discontinued operatioriattude only disposals that represent a stratglgft in operations with a major effect on
operations and results. While we have electeq ealbption of ASU No. 2014-08, the sale of the Aiclen Hotel & Suites, Aspen Hotel &
Suites and Hampton Inn in Fort Smith, AR has beelutled in discontinued operations as these hatels classified as held for sale in prior
periods. Under this ASU, the Company anticipates the majority of future property sales will & classified as discontinued operations.

One hotel was recorded in discontinued operatioms g the year ended December 31, 2014, for whi$8.4 million impairment
charge was recorded during the period. Additiomgdairments of approximately $8.9 million were ratmd during the year ended
December 31, 2014 for properties that were notrdsmbas discontinued operations as a result ofdhlg adoption of ASU No. 2014-08. In
2013, we recognized impairment charges of $7.7anilbn hotel properties and $1.4 million relatediatod held for development.

A summary of the dispositions in 2014 and 2013ofe8 (dollars in thousands):

Disposition Gross Sales
Date Franchise/Brand Location Price
2014;
January 17 Americlnn Hotel & Suites and Fort Smith, AR

Aspen Hotel & Suite $ 3,08((1)
September ! Hampton Inr Fort Smith, AR 8,80((1)
October 21 Country Inn & Suites and adjacent San Antonio, TX

land parcel: 7,90((2)

Total 2014 $ 19,78(

2013:
January 1! Americlnn Hotel & Suite: Golden, CC $ 2,60(
February 1¢ Hampton Inr Denver, CC 5,50(
February 27 Land parce Jacksonville, FL 1,90(
May 1 Holiday Inn and Holiday Inn Boise, ID

Express 12,60(
May 30 Courtyard by Marriot Memphis, TN 4,22¢
August 8 SpringHill Suites Lithia Springs, GA 2,40(
August 21 Land parce Missoula, MT 75C
August 29 Fairfield Inn Lewisville, TX 1,96(
September 3 Fairfield Inn Lakewood, CC 2,80(
October 3( Fairfield Inn Emporia, KS 1,65((3)
November 1 SpringHill Suites Little Rock, AR 4,50(
November 1 Land parce El Paso, TX 2,40(
November ¢ Fairfield Inn and Americinn Salina, KS

Hotel & Suites 3,00(
November 12 Hampton Inn, Fairfield Inn and lar

parcel Boise, ID 8,09(
November 1¢ Land parce Houston, TX 2,50(
December 1! Holiday Inn Expres: Emporia, KS 1,7753)

Total 2013 $ 5865

(1) The sale of these hotel properties included thigasent of the related ground leases.

(2) The sale of this property included three adjacamd Iparcels totaling 5.64 acres.

(3) We provided seller financing in the form of mortgdgans on these sales totaling $2.4 million. €hasrtgage loans mature in the
first quarter of 2015.
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Other Hotel Property Investment Activities

We have entered into a purchase agreement witheh froperty developer to acquire a Hampton Innutés in downtown
Minneapolis, MN for $38.7 million, which price indes change orders to date. The purchase is stjeettain conditions, including the
completion of construction of the hotel in accordamwith agreed upon architectural and engineerasigahs, receipt of a Hampton Inn & Sui
franchise, and receipt of a certificate of occupgaiterefore, there is no assurance that the atiquisvill be completed. In January 2014, we
issued a standby letter of credit for $13.1 milliorsupport of this purchase agreement. This letteredit was issued under our senior
unsecured credit facility. We anticipate acquirihg hotel property in the first half of 2015. rraglditional information, see “ltem 7.
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financ@hdition and Results of Operations—Liquidity ancp@a Resources”.

Non-GAAP Financial Measures

We consider funds from operations (“FFQO”) and eagribefore interest, taxes, depreciation and apaticn (“EBITDA”), both of
which are non-GAAP financial measures, to be ugefiivestors as key supplemental measures of penating performance. We caution
investors that amounts presented in accordanceonitkefinitions of FFO and EBITDA may not be comgide to similar measures disclosed
by other companies, since not all companies catetfeese non-GAAP measures in the same manneraRB@BITDA should be considered
along with, but not as alternatives to, net incdtoss) as a measure of our operating performarfe®.d&hd EBITDA may include funds that
may not be available for our discretionary use wufeinctional requirements to conserve funds fitehexpenditures, property acquisitions,
debt service obligations and other commitmentsuarartainties. Although we believe that FFO andBBA can enhance the understandin
our financial condition and results of operatiahgse non-GAAP financial measures are not necésbatier indicators of any trend as
compared to a comparable GAAP measure such asgmhe (10ss).

Funds From Operations

As defined by the National Association of Real Estavestment Trusts, (‘“NAREIT”), FFO representsineome or loss
(computed in accordance with GAAP), excluding pmefe dividends, gains (or losses) from sales operty, impairment, items classified by
GAAP as extraordinary, the cumulative effect ofradpes in accounting principles, plus depreciatioth @mortization, and adjustments for
unconsolidated partnerships and joint venturespyéeent FFO because we consider it an importaqtieogntal measure of our operational
performance and believe it is frequently used lopses analysts, investors and other interesgetigs in the evaluation of REITs, many of
which present FFO when reporting their results. Fs-idtended to exclude GAAP historical cost defatian and amortization, which assumes
that the value of real estate assets diminishablsabver time. Historically, however, real estaédues have risen or fallen with market
conditions. Because FFO excludes depreciation amaitezation unique to real estate, gains and lossas property dispositions and
impairment losses, it provides a performance mesathat, when compared year over year, reflecteffieet to operations from trends in
occupancy, room rates, operating costs, developawivities and interest costs, providing perspectiot immediately apparent from net
income. Our computation of FFO differs from the NBIR definition and may differ from the methodolofgy calculating FFO used by other
equity REITs and, accordingly, may not be comparablsuch other REITs because the amount of dgpi@tiand amortization we add bacl
net income or loss includes amortization of deféfieancing costs and amortization of franchiseligpfion fees. FFO should not be
considered as an alternative to net income (lasshputed in accordance with GAAP) as an indicatauo liquidity, nor is it indicative of
funds available to fund our cash needs, includingatility to pay dividends or make distributions.
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The following is a reconciliation of our GAAP neicome to FFO for the years ended December 30, 20148 and 2012 (in
thousands, except per share/unit data):

2014 2013 2012

Net income (loss $ 20,92: $ 5897 $ (2,270)
Preferred dividend (16,58%) (14,590 (4,625
Depreciation and amortizatic 65,32¢ 53,14 34,87
Loss on impairment of asse 9,24 9,04« 2,96
Gain on disposal of ass¢ (44¢€) (4,309 (2,81))
Noncontrolling interest in joint ventu Q) (31€) —
Adjustments related to joint ventu (209 (319 —
Funds from operatior $ 78,25¢ $ 48,55¢ $ 28,13(

FFO per common share/ul $ 09C $ 0.6€ $ 0.6¢
Weighted average diluted common shares/unit 86,59( 73,24! 40,91:

() Includes Common Units in Summit Hotel OP, i Company’s operating partnership, held by limjgadners (other than us and our
subsidiaries) because the Common Units are redderfmatcash or, at our election, shares of our comistock.

During the year ended December 31, 2014, FFO isecthy $29.7 million, or 61%, over the prior yednarily due to an increas
in revenues of $104.5 million during the year enBedember 31, 2014 in comparison with the prioryedich resulted in an increase in net
income for the year ended December 31, 2014 ofofhilion over the prior year. The increase inegeues was the result of increases in
Occupancy and ADR as discussed below under “Restudperations.”

Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation andn@rtization

EBITDA represents net income or loss, excludinginfierest, (ii) income tax expense and (iii) degpmdon and amortization. We
believe EBITDA is useful to an investor in evalagtiour operating performance because it providesstors with an indication of our ability
to incur and service debt, to satisfy general dpega@xpenses, to make capital expenditures afthtb other cash needs or reinvest cash into
our business. We also believe it helps investoranimgfully evaluate and compare the results ofaparations from period to period by
removing the effect of our asset base (primarilgrdeiation and amortization) from our operatinguitss Our management also uses EBITDA
as one measure in determining the value of aceprisiand dispositions.

The following is a reconciliation of our GAAP neicome to EBITDA for the years ended December 31420013 and 2012 (in
thousands):

2014 2013 2012

Net income (loss $ 20,92: $ 589 $ (2,270)
Depreciation and amortizatic 65,32¢ 53,14« 34,87
Interest expens 26,96¢ 20,31: 15,76¢
Interest incomt (690 (83 (35)
Income tax expense (bene! 71€ 4,35 (1,289
Noncontrolling interest in joint ventu (@D} (31€)
Adjustments related to joint ventu (204) (315) —

EBITDA $ 113,03¢ $ 82,99 $ 47,04:

During the year ended December 31, 2014, EBITDAgased by $30.0 million, or 36%, over the priorny@@marily due to an
increase in net income before depreciation and ratdon of $27.2 million during the year ended Bexber 31, 2014 in comparison with the
prior year. The increase in net income before el@ption and amortization was primarily driven lyiacrease in revenues of $104.5 million
during the year ended December 31, 2014 in congravidth the prior year. The increase in revenuas thie result of increases in Occupancy
and ADR as discussed below under “Results of Opaist
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Hotel Revenues and Operating Expenses

Our revenues are derived from hotel operationscangist of room revenue and other hotel operatiemsnue. As a result of our
focus on select-service hotels in the Upscale gmgedmidscale segments of the U.S. lodging industristantially all of our revenues are
related to the sales of hotel rooms. Our otherllogterations revenue consists of ancillary revemakzded to food and beverage sales, meetin(
rooms and other guest services provided at out potperties.

Our hotel operating expenses consist primarilyxpieases incurred in the day-dey operation of our hotel properties. Many of
expenses are fixed, such as essential hotel staffestate taxes, insurance, depreciation andigaypes of franchise fees, and these expense
do not decrease even if the revenues at our haipkpties decrease. Our hotel operating expensesst@f room expenses (wages, payroll
taxes and benefits, linens, cleaning and guestsagnplies, and complimentary breakfast), other tiegpenses (office supplies, utilities,
telephone, advertising and bad debts), and otldéneict expenses (real and personal property tax®ssance, travel agent and credit card
commissions, hotel management fees, and franchéss.f

Results of Operations

The comparisons that follow should be reviewedanjgnction with the consolidated financial statetseéncluded elsewhere in tl
Form 10-K. Hotel properties classified as discandith operations prior to our adoption of ASU 2014a@8 not included in the discussion
below.
Comparison of 2014 to 2013

The following table contains key operating metfimsour total portfolio and our same-store portdior 2014 compared with 2013

(dollars in thousands, except ADR and RevPAR). dAfne same-store hotels as properties that weasmof the current reporting date and
that we have owned for the entire prior fiscal year

2014 2013 Dollar Change Percentage Changr
Same-Store Same-Store Same-Store Same-Store
Total Portfolio Portfolio Total Portfolio Portfolio Total Portfolio Portfolio Total Portfolio Portfolio

(90 hotels) (65 hotels) (85 hotels) (65 hotels) (90/85 hotels; (65 hotels) (90/85 hotels! (65 hotels)
Total revenue $ 403,46t $ 240,62° $ 298,95! $ 219,48 $ 104,50¢ $ 21,13¢ 35.(% 9.6%
Hotel operating expens: $ 261,49° $ 159,03: % 198,34 % 147,29¢ % 63,15¢ $ 11,73¢ 31.6% 8.C%
Occupancy 75.1% 75.2% 73.% 73.2% n/e WE 3.1% 3.1%
ADR $ 122.5: $ 111.9¢ $ 110.3% $ 105.2: $ 12.1% $ 6.7z 11.% 6.4%
RevPAR $ 9271 $ 84.4: $ 81.0: $ 76.9¢ $ 116¢ $ 7.44 14.4% 9.7%

The total portfolio information above includes raues and expenses from the six hotels we acquir2@i4 (the “2014 Acquired
Hotels”) and the 19 hotel properties we acquiredda3 (the “2013 Acquired Hotels”) from the dateaofjuisition through December 31, 2014,
and operating information (occupancy, ADR, and ReR}Pfor the period each hotel was owned. Accordintiie information does not reflec
full twelve months of operations in 2014 for thel20Acquired Hotels or a full twelve months of opgenas in 2013 for the 2013 Acquired
Hotels. The combined 2014 Acquired Hotels and 28dQuired Hotels are referred to as the “2014/20t§ured Hotels.”

RevenuesTotal revenues increased $104.5 million, or 35.@94403.5 million in 2014, compared with $299.1llion in 2013.
The growth was due to a $21.1 million increaseaima-store revenues and an $83.7 million increasevienues at the 2014/2013 Acquired
Hotels.

The same-store revenue increase of 9.6%, to $24illién in 2014 compared with $219.5 million in ZBlwas due to a 220 basis
point increase in occupancy in 2014 compared with32 and a 6.4% increase in ADR in 2014 compardd 2013. The increases in occupa
and ADR resulted in a 9.7% increase in same-stekd®RR to $84.42 in 2014 compared with $76.98 inR0hese increases were due to the
improving economy, our strong revenue and asseagament programs, hotel industry fundamentals andvations made at our hotel
properties.
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Hotel Operating Expensediotel operating expenses increased $63.2 miilid2014 compared with 2013. The increase is due in
part to an increase in operating expenses at th4/2013 Acquired Hotels of $51.8 million. In additi the increase in same-store hotel
operating expenses is due to $11.7 million of Vdeaosts related to the increase in revenue. ESgzat the same-store hotels declined as a
percentage of revenue from 67.1% in 2013 to 6612014, due to consistent fixed expenses and isicigaevenues at the same-store hotel
properties.

The following table summarizes our hotel operagrgenses for our same-store (65 hotels) portfoli®?014 and 2013 (dollars in
thousands):

Percentage Percentage of Revenu
2014 2013 Change 2014 2013
Rooms expens $ 62,75: $ 59,78: 5.C% 26.1% 27.2%
Other direct expens 33,19: 29,62( 12.1% 13.8% 13.5%
Other indirect expens 63,08¢ 57,89 9.C% 26.2% 26.4%
Total hotel operating expens $ 159,03 $ 147,29¢ 8.C% 66.1% 67.1%

Depreciation and AmortizationDepreciation and amortization expense increadddldmillion, or 27.6%, to $65.3 million in 2014
compared with 2013, primarily due to depreciatieaaziated with the 2014/2013 Acquired Hotels ageiased amortization of capitalized
renovation costs at existing hotel properties. Zb&4 depreciation and amortization expense incl$88s3 million of fixed asset depreciation,
$1.5 million of financing costs amortization, an@l%million of franchise fees amortization. The 3@kpreciation and amortization expense
includes $48.9 million of fixed asset depreciati$h,9 million of financing costs amortization, @4 million of franchise fees amortization.

Corporate General and Administrativ€orporate general and administrative expensesased by $7.0 million, or 53.4%, to
$19.9 million in 2014 compared with 2013. The irase is primarily due to an increase in equity-bassdpensation of $1.4 million, an
increase in salaries and bonus expense of $2.ibmidhd increased professional fees of $2.6 milteated to internal controls improvements
and other matters.

Other Income/Expensélther expense, net increased $4.3 million, or%9i6 2014 compared with 2013 primarily due to an
increase in interest expense due to higher avetalgeoutstanding. This increase was slightly offisea reduction in debt transaction costs an
an increase in interest income.

Income Tax Expense/Benefiur total income tax expense (related to contineperations and discontinued operations) in 20!
$0.7 million consists of Alternative Minimum Taxe@eral) of $0.1 million and state taxes of $0.8iaml Included in state taxes are franchise
taxes due in Texas of $0.4 million, which are basedross receipts, and taxes due in other stat&$.® million. Net operating losses of $6.6
million have been used in the current year to redua tax expense. Our total income tax experedatéd to continuing operations and
discontinued operations) in 2013 of $4.4 millioprémarily due to our establishment of a valuatdiowance related to net operating losses
(“NOLs") incurred by our TRS in 2011, 2012 and 2013

Comparison of 2013 to 2012
The following table contains key operating metfimsour total portfolio and our same-store portdior 2013 compared with 2012

(dollars in thousands, except ADR and RevPAR). \&finé samestore hotels as properties that we own as of thecureporting date and tr
we have owned for the entire prior fiscal year.

2013 2012 Percentage Changt
Total Same-Store Total Same-Store Same-Store
Portfolio Portfolio Portfolio Portfolio Total Portfolio Portfolio
(85 hotels) (47 hotels) (66 hotels) (47 hotels) (85/66 hotels’ (47 hotels)
Total revenue $ 298,95¢ $ 146,07¢ $ 161,70C $ 136,77 84.€% 6.8%
Hotel operating expens $ 198,34 $ 99,32¢ $ 110,44: $ 93,85 79.€% 5.8%
Occupancy 73.2% 72.2% 70.%% 70.9% 2.5% 1.4%
ADR $ 11037 % 102.0: % 985 $ 97.2¢ 12.(% 4.%%
RevPAR $ 81.0: $ 73.7¢  $ 69.8¢ $ 68.9¢ 16.(% 7.C%

The total portfolio information above includes raues and expenses from the 2013 Acquired Hotelshendi9 hotel properties we
acquired in 2012 (the “2012 Acquired Hotels”) frone date of acquisition through December 31, 2@h8, operating information (occupancy,
ADR, and RevPAR) for the period each hotel was aviecordingly, the information does not refledul
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twelve months of operations in 2013 for the 2018j#iced Hotels or a full twelve months of operatiom2012 for the 2012 Acquired Hotels.
The combined 2013 Acquired Hotels and 2012 Acquiitetkls are referred to as the “2013/2012 Acquidetkls.”

RevenuesTotal revenues increased $137.3 million, or 84.894299.0 million in 2013, compared with $161.iflion in 2012.
The growth was due to a $9.3 million increase meatore revenues and a $128.0 million increasevienues at the 2013/2012 Acquired
Hotels.

The same-store revenue increase of 6.8%, to $llitn in 2013 compared with $136.8 million in ZBlwas due to a 140 basis
point increase in occupancy in 2013 compared witt22 and a 4.9% increase in ADR in 2013 compardk 2012. The increases in occupa
and ADR resulted in a 7.0% increase in same-stekd®RR to $73.79 in 2013 compared with $68.98 in20hese increases were due to the
improving economy and hotel industry fundamental$ senovations made at 13 hotel properties in 2012.

Hotel Operating ExpensedHotel operating expenses increased $87.9 miitid2013 compared with 2012. The increase is due in
large part to an increase in operating expenste&013/2012 Acquired Hotels of $82.4 million.addition, the increase in same-store hotel
operating expenses is due to $5.5 million of vdei@osts related to the increase in revenue. Exgsesisthe same-store hotels declined as a
percentage of revenue from 68.6% in 2012 to 68291 3, due to stability in expenses despite irgingarevenues at the same-store hotel
properties.

The following table summarizes our hotel operagrgenses for our same-store (47 hotels) portfoli®?013 and 2012 (dollars in
thousands):

Percentage Percentage of Revenu
2013 2012 Change 2013 2012
Rooms expens $ 39,76: $ 38,31¢ 3.8% 27.2% 28.(%
Other direct expens 19,69¢ 17,757 10.€% 13.5% 13.(%
Other indirect expens 39,28: 37,18: 5.6% 26.9% 27.2%
Other expens 58¢ 59¢ (1.8% 0.4% 0.4%
Total hotel operating expens $ 99,32¢ § 93,85t 5.8% 68.(% 68.6%

Depreciation and AmortizationDepreciation and amortization expense increag6cbdmillion, or 67.0%, to $51.2 million in 2013
compared with 2012, primarily due to renovationsxasting hotel properties and depreciation assediwith the 2013/2012 Acquired
Hotels. The 2013 depreciation and amortization egpéncludes $48.9 million of fixed asset deprézigt$1.9 million of financing costs
amortization, and $0.4 million of franchise feesoatization. The 2012 depreciation and amortizaggpense includes $28.0 million of fixed
asset depreciation, $2.3 million of financing caatsortization, and $0.4 million of franchise feasoatization.

Corporate General and Administrativi€orporate general and administrative expensesased by $3.4 million, or 35.1%, to
$12.9 million in 2013 compared with 2012. The irase is primarily due to an increase in equity-basedpensation of $0.9 million, costs
related to the development of corporate functidwas did not exist prior to our IPO of $0.9 millicamd costs related to the move of our
corporate headquarters from Sioux Falls, SD, tatiap$X of $0.6 million.

Other Income/Expenséur other income/expense increased $6.7 milliod408%, in 2013 compared with 2012. The major
component of other income/expense is interest esggeand the increase is primarily due to interggérse on new debt related to our
2013/2012 Acquisition Hotels.

Income Tax Expense/Bene@ur total income tax expense (in continuing operetiand discontinued operations) in 2013 of $4.4
million is primarily due to our establishment o¥@uation allowance related to net operating lo$9¢©Ls") incurred at our TRS in 2011,
2012 and 2013. As a result of consecutive losssywardetermined that it is more likely than not tlve will not be able to recognize our NC
before they expire. Our total income tax benefitqdntinuing operations and discontinued opera}ion2012 of $1.3 million was the result of
NOLs at our TRS. The net operating losses weraaily the result of the disruption at the sevéatel properties rebranded in 20.
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Discontinued Operations

Pursuant to our strategy, we periodically evaluwatehotel properties for potential sale and redgplent of capital. When a hotel
property was sold or identified as being held fieswe reported its historical and future resofteperations, including impairment charges, ir
discontinued operations until we adopted ASU 2084r0the first quarter of 2014.

Discontinued operations include the following hgiedperties that have been sold:

*  Hampton Inn, Holiday Inn Express, and AmericinTimin Falls, ID — sold May 2012;
*  Americlnn Hotel & Suites in Missoula, MT — sold Ausgt 2012;

»  Courtyard by Marriott in Missoula, MT — sold Deceent2012;

*  Americlnn Hotel & Suites in Golden, CO — sold Jaryu2013;

*  Hampton Inn in Denver, CO — sold February 2013;

e Holiday Inn and Holiday Inn Express in Boise, IDseld May 2013;

e Courtyard by Marriott in Memphis, TN — sold May Z)1

e SpringHill Suites in Lithia Springs, GA — sold AusflR013;

e Fairfield Inn in Lewisville, TX — sold August 2013;

e Fairfield Inn in Lakewood, CO — sold September 2013

e  Fairfield Inn in Emporia, KS — sold October 2013;

e SpringHill Suites in Little Rock, AR — sold Novemhb2013;

* Fairfield Inn and Americinn Hotel & Suites in SairKS — sold November 2013;

e Hampton Inn and Fairfield Inn & Suites in Boise, 4B sold November 2013;

e Holiday Inn Express in Emporia, KS — sold Decemb@t 3;

e Americlnn Hotel & Suites and Aspen Hotel & SuitasHort Smith, AR - sold on January 17, 2014; and
e Hampton Inn in Fort Smith, AR — sold on Septemhe2®14.

A summary of results from our hotel properties uggld in discontinued operations follows (in thowsgn

2014 2013 2012
Revenue! $ 3,12¢ $ 19,45¢ $ 33,19:
Hotel operating expens 2,30¢ 14,85¢ 24,70
Depreciation and amortizatic 13 1,96( 4,22¢
Loss on impairment of asse 40C 7,67¢ 2,30¢

Operating income (los: 411 (5,03¢) 1,961
Interest expens — (174 (85%)
Other income 55 3,94 3,01(

Income (loss) before tax 46€ (1,265 4,11¢
Income tax benefi 26 537 561

Income (loss) from discontinued operatic $ 49z $ (72¢) $ 4,67
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Liquidity and Capital Resources
Liquidity Requirements

Our short-term liquidity requirements consist priityaof operating expenses and other expenditunestlly associated with our
hotel properties, recurring maintenance and capipénditures necessary to maintain our hotel ptiggen accordance with brand standards,
capital expenditures to improve our hotel propsrtaequisitions, interest expense and scheduledipal payments on outstanding
indebtedness, note funding obligations, restriceesh funding obligations and distributions to dockholders.

Our long-term liquidity requirements consist priihaof the costs of acquiring additional hotel peoges, renovations and other
nonrecurring capital expenditures that periodically made with respect to our hotel properties,sahéduled debt payments, including
maturing loans.

To satisfy the requirements for qualification &RET, we must meet a humber of organizational grerational requirements,
including a requirement that we distribute annuatlyeast 90% of our REIT taxable income to ouclsholders, determined without regard to
the deduction for dividends paid and excluding aetcapital gains. We intend to distribute a sidfit amount of our taxable income to
maintain our status as a REIT and to avoid taxratigtributed income. Therefore, if sufficient furele not available to us from hotel
dispositions, our senior unsecured revolving crizility and additional mortgage and other loams,will need to raise additional capital to
grow our business and invest in additional hotepprties.

We expect to satisfy our liquidity requirementshnéash provided by operations, working capital risterm borrowings under our
senior unsecured revolving credit facility and thkease of restricted cash upon satisfaction ofifage requirements. In addition, we may fun
the purchase price of hotel acquisitions and cbetquired capital improvements by borrowing under senior unsecured revolving credit
facility, assuming existing mortgage debt, issuegurities (including Common Units issued by thepng Partnership), or incurring other
mortgage or other types of debt. Further, we mak $& raise capital through public or private afigs of our equity or debt securities.
However, certain factors may have a material adveffect on our ability to access these capitatcas) including our degree of leverage, the
value of our unencumbered hotel properties, bomgweéstrictions imposed by lenders and market ¢mmdi. We will continue to analyze
which sources of capital are most advantageous & any particular point in time, but financingynmet be consistently available to us on
terms that are attractive, or at all. We beliewa thur cash provided by operations, working capitatrowings available under our senior
unsecured revolving credit facility and other sasrof funds available to us will be sufficient teeh our ongoing liquidity requirements for at
least the next 12 months.

At December 31, 2014, we have $3.5 million of magg debt maturing in 2015. We have scheduledipghdebt payments in
2015 totaling $14.6 million. Although we believe wél have the capacity to satisfy these debt mtasrand pay these scheduled principal
debt payments, or we will be able to fund them gisiraws under our senior unsecured credit factlitgre can be no assurances that our cred
facility will be available to repay such amortizidgbt, as draws under our senior unsecured ciadiity are subject to certain financial
covenants.

We anticipate making renovations and other non+retgcapital expenditures with respect to our hpteperties pursuant to
property improvement plans required by our franmlsisWe expect 2015 capital expenditures for tlaesigities at hotel properties we own as
of February 20, 2015 to be in the range of $28I0anito $38.0 million. Actual amounts may difffeom our expectations. We may also m
renovations and incur other non-recurring capixglemditures in 2015 at hotel properties we acquitbe future.

Cash Flows

The increase in net cash provided by operatingities of $29.7 million from 2013 to 2014 primarifgsulted from an increase in
net income of $28.6 million, after adjusting fomacash items. Additionally, prepaid expenses deecdtay $3.6 million during 2014 compa
to an increase of $3.7 million during 2013 as altesf lower acquisition activity during 2014, whicesulted in lower escrow balances related
to the acquisition of properties during the peri®rtially offsetting these increases were chamgascounts payable and accrued expenses,
which increased by $1.1 million during 2014 complanéth a $9.3 million increase in 2013 due to tingéinig of vendor payments.

The $266.9 million reduction in net cash used iresting activities in 2014 compared with 2013 re=iifrom a decrease in hotel
property acquisitions of $263.8 million and a $3&iflion change in restricted cash due to net caskrves of $16.3 million being released in
2014. These changes were partially offset by aedee in proceeds from asset dispositions of $88li&n.
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The $337.4 million decrease in net cash providefinancing activities in 2014 compared with 2018uiéed from a reduction in
borrowings of $338.6 million, a reduction in prodedrom equity offerings of $381.8 million, a red¢ioa in proceeds from joint venture
partners of $7.5 million and an increase in dividepaid of $9.0 million. These changes were gdbrtidfset by a reduction in principal
payments on debt of $397.0 million.

The increase in net cash provided by operatingities of $37.7 million from 2012 to 2013 primarifgsulted from an increase in
net income of $37.7 million, after adjusting fomacash items.

The $234.4 million increase in net cash used iestimg activities in 2013 compared with 2012 re=iifrom an increase in hotel
property acquisitions of $224.7 million and an g®&se in hotel property improvements and additiéi®28.8 million; partially offset by an
increase in proceeds from asset dispositions of0®2illion.

The $226.0 million increase in net cash providedimgncing activities in 2013 compared with 2018uiéed from a net increase in
debt in 2013 of $89.4 million compared with an &&se in 2012 of $48.3 million. In addition, we iiged net proceeds of $389.3 million from
the issuance of equity in 2013 compared with neteeds of $178.9 million in 2012. The 2013 proceetited to our January 14 and
September 19, 2013 common stock offerings and ancM20, 2013 preferred stock offering and the 2fxb2eeds related to our October 3,
2012 common stock offering and our December 11230#&ferred stock offering. Dividends and distribns paid to members increased $24.5
million in 2013.

Outstanding Indebtedness

At December 31, 2014, we had $426.5 million in tariding indebtedness secured by first priority gage liens on 49 hotel
properties. We also had $200.0 million borrowedan$300.0 million senior unsecured credit facitiat was supported by 36 hotel propet
included in the credit facility borrowing base. €Thotel properties in the borrowing base must rarnaencumbered by mortgage debt. In
addition, we have five other hotel properties cimitey 777 guestrooms, unencumbered by mortgagettabare available to be used as
collateral for future loans.

We intend to secure or assume term loan finanainge our senior unsecured credit facility, togethi¢h other sources of
financing, to fund future acquisitions and capitaprovements. We may not succeed in obtaining neanting on favorable terms, or at all,
and we cannot predict the size or terms of futumancings. Our failure to obtain new financing @bativersely affect our ability to grow our
business.

We intend to maintain a prudent capital structuré, avhile the ratio will vary from time to time, vgenerally intend to limit our
ratio of indebtedness to EBITDA to no more thantsione. For purposes of calculating this ratio,exelude preferred stock from
indebtedness. In 2014, we obtained financing thinalept financing having staggered maturities atehithto continue to do so in the future.
Our debt includes, and may include in the futuelgtdecured by first priority mortgage liens onghproperties and unsecured debt.

As of December 31, 2014, we were in compliance wighcovenants under our debt agreements. We dounrently anticipate ar
change in circumstances that would impair our ghiti continue to comply with these covenants.

We believe we will have adequate liquidity to mesfuirements for scheduled maturities and prindipphyments. However, we
can provide no assurances that we will be ableftoance our indebtedness as it becomes due amdindnced, whether such refinancing will
be available on favorable terms.
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A summary of our debt at December 31, 2014 foll¢aedlars in thousands):

Amortization

Number of Properties

Principal
Amount

Lender Interest Rate (1) Period (Years) Maturity Date Encumbered Outstanding
Senior Unsecured Credit Facilit
Deutsche Bank AG New York
Branch
$225 Million Revolvel 2.07% Variable n/a October 10, 201 n/a $ 125,001
$75 Million Term Loar 3.94% Fixed (2 n/a October 10, 201 n/a 75,00(
Total Senior Unsecured Credit
Facility 200,00(
Mortgage Loans
ING Life Insurance and Annuit 6.10% Fixec 20 March 1, 201¢ 14 62,32'
(cross-collateralized
4.55% Fixec 25 March 1, 201¢ with other ING loan 32,99¢
KeyBank National Associatio 4.46% Fixec 30 February 1, 202 4 28,48
4.52% Fixec 30 April 1, 2023 3 22,06
4.30% Fixec 30 April 1, 2023 3 21,40:¢
4.95% Fixec 30 August 1, 202! 2 37,93¢
Bank of America Commercial
Mortgage 6.41% Fixec 25 September 1, 201 1 8,151
Merrill Lynch Mortgage Lending
Inc. 6.38% Fixec 30 August 1, 201¢ 1 5,151
GE Capital Financial Inc 5.39% Fixec 25 April 1, 2020 1 9,30(
5.39% Fixec 25 April 1, 2020 1 5,007
MetaBank 4.25% Fixec 20 August 1, 201¢ 1 7,10¢
Bank of Cascade 2.17% Variable 25 December 19, 202 1 9,80(
(cross-collateralizec
with other Bank of
4.30% Fixec 25 December 19, 202 Cascades nott 9,80(
Goldman Sach 5.67% Fixec 25 July 6, 201¢ 2 13,78°
Compass Ban 4.57% Fixed (3 20 May 17, 201¢ 1 12,50¢
2.57% Variable 25 May 6, 202(C 3 24,63"
General Electric Capital Cor 5.39% Fixec 25 April 1, 2020 1 5,26¢
5.39% Fixec 25 April 1, 2020 1 6,167
4.82% Fixec 20 April 1, 2018 1 7,21z
5.03% Fixec 25 March 1, 201¢ 1 9,77¢
AIG 6.11% Fixec 20 January 1, 201 1 12,93¢
Greenwich Capital Financial
Products, Inc 6.20% Fixec 30 January 6, 201 1 22,71
Wells Fargo Bank, National
Association 5.53% Fixec 25 October 1, 201! 1 3,52
5.57% Fixec 25 January 1, 201 1 6,03¢
U.S. Bank, NA 6.22% Fixec 30 November 1, 201 1 17,53¢
6.13% Fixec 25 November 11, 202 1 11,81¢
5.98% Fixec 30 March 8, 201¢ 1 13,08!
Total Mortgage Loan 49 426,53:

(1) The interest rates at December 31, 2014 abovegffiget to our use of interest rate derivatives, rehapplicable.

(2) We entered into an interest rate derivative toatiffely produce a fixed interest rate, however,ittierest rate spread over LIBOR
may change based upon our Leverage Ratio, as défirthe credit facility documents.

(3) An interest rate derivative instrument effectivegnverts 85% of this loan to a fixed rate.

Senior Unsecured Credit Facilit

At December 31, 2014, we have a $300.0 million@emnsecured credit facility. Deutsche Bank AG Néwvk Branch (“Deutsche
Bank”) is the administrative agent and DeutschekBaecurities Inc. is the sole lead arranger. Tneliation of lenders includes Deutsche
Bank, Bank of America, N.A., Royal Bank of Canaday Bank, Regions Bank, Fifth Third Bank, Raymoath&s Bank, N.A., and U.S. Bank
National Association. Our existing and future sdizsies that own or lease a hotel property thatdkided in the unencumbered borrow



base supporting the facility are required to gugréms credit facility.

The senior unsecured credit facility is compriséd 8225.0 million revolving credit facility (theb225 Million Revolver”) and a
$75.0 million term loan (the “$75 Million Term LognThis credit facility has an accordion featurbieh will allow us to increase the
commitments by an aggregate of $100.0 million an$B25 Million Revolver and the $75 Million Term & prior to October 10, 2017. The
$225 Million Revolver will mature on October 10,12Q which can be extended to October 10, 2018 rabption, subject to certain conditions.
The $75 Million Term Loan will mature on October, ZD18.
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Outstanding borrowings on this credit facility #ireited to the least of (i) the aggregate committsesf all of the lenders, (ii) the
aggregate value of the unencumbered assets medtipyi 60%, less our consolidated unsecured indebssd all as calculated pursuant to the
terms of the credit facility documentation, ang {he principal amount that when drawn under¢hedit facility would result in an unsecured
interest expense, calculated on a pro forma basthé next consecutive four fiscal quarters afiking such draws into account, equal to 50%
of the net operating income of the unencumbereetsisas adjusted pursuant to the credit facilitudeentation.

At December 31, 2014, the maximum amount of bomgwiermitted under the senior unsecured credilitiagias $300.0 million,
of which, we had $200.0 million borrowed, $13.8lril in standby letters of credit, and $86.2 mitliavailable to borrow.

At February 20, 2015, 36 of our unencumbered Hgberties are included in the borrowing base sttppthe senior unsecured
credit facility. Thus, none of these propertieavsilable to be leveraged with other indebtednéstevincluded in the borrowing base. As a
result, the maximum amount of borrowing permitteder the senior unsecured credit facility was $3@6illion, of which, we had $195.0
million borrowed, $13.8 million in standby lettesbcredit and $91.2 million available to borrow.

Payment Terma&Ne are obligated to pay interest at the end of saérted interest period, but not less than guwgriith all
outstanding principal and accrued but unpaid istedee at the maturity. We have the right to paprény portion of the outstanding
borrowings from time to time without penalty or pi@m. We pay interest on advances at varying ra@sed upon, at our option, either (i) 1,
2, 3, or 6-month LIBOR, plus a LIBOR margin betweei5% and 2.50%, depending upon our leverage (@sialefined in the credit facility
documentation), or (ii) the applicable base rateictvis the greatest of the administrative agegmtime rate, the federal funds rate plus 0.50%,
or 1-month LIBOR plus 1.00%, plus a base rate nmabgtween 0.75% and 1.50%, depending upon ourdgeenatio. In addition, on a
quarterly basis, we are required to pay a fee enuttused portion of the credit facility equal te thused amount multiplied by an annual rate
of either (i) 0.30%, if the unused amount is eqoair greater than 50% of the maximum aggregateuaitnaf the credit facility, or (ii) 0.20%,
the unused amount is less than 50% of the maxinggregate amount of the credit facility.

Financial and Other Covenant#/e are required to comply with a series of finahara other covenants to borrow under this ¢
facility. The material financial covenants incluglenaximum leverage ratio, a minimum consolidateditzle net worth, a maximum dividend
payout ratio, a minimum consolidated fixed chargeerage ratio, a maximum ratio of secured indel#ssgo total asset value, a maximum
ratio of secured recourse indebtedness to totat astue, a maximum ratio of consolidated unsecurdebtedness to total unencumbered asst
value, and a maximum ratio of unencumbered adjust¢dperating income to assumed unsecured intexpsnse.

We are also subject to other customary covenarthkiding restrictions on investment and limitatmmliens and maintenance of
properties. This credit facility also contains ausary events of default, including, among othdrs,failure to make payments when due unde|
any of the credit facility documentation, breactanf covenant continuing beyond any cure period,mkruptcy or insolvency.

Unencumbered Asset3his credit facility is unsecured; however, baeviiags are limited by the value of hotel propertiest
qualify as unencumbered assets supporting thistdesility. At December 31, 2014, 36 of our hopebperties qualify as, and are deemed t
unencumbered assets that support this credittfacimong other conditions, unencumbered assets naidbe subject to liens or security
interests, and the owner and operating lesseectf suencumbered asset must execute a guarantyesugmt pursuant to which the owner and
operating lessee become subsidiary guarantoreafrédit facility. In addition, hotel properties yniae added to or removed from the
unencumbered asset pool at any time so long as harminimum of 20 hotel properties in the unemoered asset pool, the unencumbered
assets meet certain diversity requirements (sudimés on concentrations in any particular markeat)d the then-current borrowings on the
credit facility do not exceed the maximum availabteler the credit facility given the availabilifynitations described above. Further, to be
eligible as an unencumbered asset, the hotel groperst: be franchised with a nationally-recognifeahchisor; have been in operation a
minimum of one year; satisfy certain ownership, aggment and operating lessee criteria; and natltject to material defects, such as liens,
titte defects, environmental contamination and otttandard lender criteria.
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Mortgage Loans

At December 31, 2014, we had $426.5 million in mage loans. These loans are secured by first yrimortgage liens on hotel
properties.

On January 9, 2014, as part of our acquisitiomef82-guestroom Hilton Garden Inn in Houston, ¥,assumed a $17.8 million
mortgage loan with a fixed interest rate of 6.22%bamortization period of 30 years, and a matulitte of November 1, 2016.

On January 10, 2014, as part of our acquisitiome@8-guestroom Hampton Inn in Santa Barbara (&RIEA, we assumed a $12.0
million mortgage loan with a fixed interest rate6o133%, an amortization period of 25 years, anthturity date of November 11, 2021.

On March 14, 2014, as part of our acquisition ef 200-guestroom DoubleTree by Hilton in San Frawi€A, we assumed a $13.3
million mortgage loan with a fixed interest rate5088%, an original amortization period of 30 yearsd a maturity date of March 8, 2016.

On March 28, 2014, we amended two loans with GEt@lapinancial which are cross-collateralized bg @ourtyard by Marriott and
the SpringHill Suites by Marriott, both locatedScottsdale, AZ. The loans were amended to beaesttat a fixed rate of 5.39% and the
maturity dates were extended to April 1, 2020.

On March 28, 2014, we amended two loans with Gémgeatric Capital Corp. which are croseflateralized by the Hilton Garden |
(Lakeshore) and the Hilton Garden Inn (Liberty Babloth located in Birmingham, AL. Both loans waraended to bear interest at a fixed rat:
of 5.39% and the maturity dates were extended til Ap2020.

On May 6, 2014, we closed on a $25.0 million loathwCompass Bank. The loan carries a variableob89-day LIBOR plus 240
basis points, amortizes over 25 years, and hasyaf\2020 maturity date. The loan is secured st firortgage liens on the Hampton Inn &
Suites hotels located in San Diego (Poway), CA,tMen(Camarillo), CA and Fort Worth, TX. The nebpeeds from this loan were used to
pay down the $225 Million Revolver.

On December 19, 2014, we refinanced our loan withikBof the Cascades and increased the amount &éddnc$7.9 million. As part
of the refinance the loan was split into two notéste A carries a variable interest rate of 30-dBBOR plus 200 basis points and Note B
carries a fixed interest rate of 4.30%. Both ndizge an outstanding balances of $9.8 million, aizetton periods of 25 years and maturity
dates of December 19, 2024.

For additional information regarding our mortgagarls, please read our audited consolidated finlstei@ments and related notes
thereto, appearing elsewhere in this Form 10-K.

Equity Transactions

On January 14, 2013, we completed an underwrittdtiqpoffering of 17,250,000 shares of our commumtks. Net proceeds were
$148.1 million, after the underwriting discount asftering-related expenses. We used the proceedmfel property acquisitions and to pay
down our term debt and our senior secured revoleredit facility.

On March 20, 2013, we completed an underwrittedipuatffering of 3,400,000 shares of 7.125% SerieSunulative Redeemable
Preferred Stock for net proceeds of $81.7 millafter the underwriting discount and offering-rethexpenses. We used the proceeds to pay
down the principal balance of our senior securedlwng credit facility.

On September 19, 2013, we completed an underwptibtic offering of 17,250,000 shares of commortistiNet proceeds were
$152.0 million, after the underwriting discount aftering-related expenses of $6.5 million. We ufeglproceeds to fund hotel property
acquisitions, pay off our senior secured interigmnlpand reduce the outstanding balances undeeaiorsecured revolving credit facility.

45




Table of Contents
Capital Expenditures

In 2014, we spent $35.6 million on renovations|udig $22.0 million on hotel properties that wermd prior to 2013 and $13.6
million on hotel properties acquired since the hagig of 2013. We currently have renovations undgrat 10 of our hotel properties. We
anticipate spending a total of $28.0 million to &Bfillion on hotel property renovations in 201.e expect to fund these renovations with
cash provided by operations, working capital, beings under our senior unsecured credit facilityd ather potential sources of capital, to the
extent available to us.

In addition, the Company capitalized $6.9 millidrother capital improvements at our hotels in 2014.
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

From time to time, we enter into off-balance steweaingements. At December 31, 2014, we had $13l®min outstanding stanty

letters of credit, of which $0.7 million was supieg performance bonds and $13.1 million was sujippra purchase agreement for the
Hampton Inn & Suites in downtown Minneapolis, MNsdgbed in “Contractual Obligations” below.

Contractual Obligations

The following table outlines the timing of requirpdyments related to our long-term debt and otbetractual obligations at
December 31, 2014 (dollars in thousands):

Payments Due By Perioc

Less than One One to Three Four to Five More than

Total Year Years Years Five Years
Debt obligations (1 $ 779,78. $ 41,53( $ 282,54 $ 150,47: $ 305,23-
Operating lease obligations ( 54,68: 841 1,72¢ 1,45z 50,66(
Purchase obligations (. 7,08¢ 7,08¢ — — —
Other lon¢-term liabilities (4) 2,634 2,63¢ — — —
Total $ 844,18 $ 52,09 $ 284.27" $ 151,92 $ 355,89

(1) Amounts shown include amortization of principal toréies, and estimated interest payments. Intgragients on our variable rate
debt have been estimated using the interest mrateféect at December 31, 2014, after giving effeatur interest rate swaps.

(2) Primarily ground leases and corporate office leases

(3) This amount represents purchase orders and exemé@cts for renovation projects at our hoteperties.

(4) This represents the remaining amounts to be addamuder a note funding obligation carrying an iestrate of 10.0% per annum
paid monthly, an initial maturity date of May 13)17 with an option to extend the maturity dateluvitly 13, 2018.

We have entered into a purchase agreement witheh froperty developer to acquire a Hampton Innuté&s in downtown
Minneapolis, MN for $38.7 million, which price inales change orders to date. The purchase is stbjeettain conditions, including the
completion of construction of the hotel in accordamwith agreed upon architectural and engineerasjoms, receipt of a Hampton Inn & Sui
franchise, and receipt of a certificate of occupafderefore, there is no assurance that the atiquisvill be completed. In January 2014, we
issued a standby letter of credit for $13.1 milliorsupport of this purchase agreement. This letteredit was issued under our senior
unsecured credit facility. We anticipate acquirihg hotel property in the first half of 2015.

Inflation

Operators of hotel properties, in general, postesability to adjust room rates daily to refldu effects of inflation. However,
competitive pressures may limit the ability of @n@anagement companies to raise room rates.
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Critical Accounting Policies

The preparation of financial statements in confeymiith GAAP requires us to make estimates andragsions that affect the
reported amount of assets and liabilities at the d&our financial statements and the reportedwusnsoof revenues and expenses during the
reporting period. While we do not believe the ré@dramounts would be materially different, applmatbf these policies involves the exercise
of judgment and the use of assumptions as to fuicertainties and, as a result, actual resultklatitfer from these estimates. We evaluate
our estimates and judgments on an ongoing basihadke our estimates on experience and on varibes assumptions that we believe to be
reasonable under the circumstances. The followgpgesent certain critical accounting policies tiegiuire us to exercise our business judgr
or make significant estimates:

Investment in Hotel Propertie

AcquisitionsWe allocate the purchase price based on the fhiewaf the acquired assets and assumed liabilifiessdetermine the
acquisition-date fair values of all assets and rassuliabilities using methods similar to those usgdndependent appraisers, for example,
using a discounted cash flow analysis that usesoappte discount and/or capitalization rates arallable market information. Estimates of
future cash flows are based on a number of fadtetading historical operating results, known amticipated trends, and market and econc
conditions. Acquisition costs are expensed as necuiChanges in estimates and judgments relatdnt tallocation of the purchase price could
result in adjustments to our investment in hoteprties or intangible assets, which can affectat@ation and/or amortization expense anc
results of operations.

D epreciation and Amortizatiotlotel properties are recorded at cost and depegtiading the straight-line method over an
estimated useful life of 25 to 40 years for buifgirand two to 15 years for furniture, fixtures aogiipment. We are required to make subjer
assessments as to the useful lives of our asggtsifposes of determining the amount of depreciatipense to reflect each year. While we
believe our estimates are reasonable, a change iestimated useful lives could affect our respiltsperations.

Impairment of Hotel Propertie§Ve monitor events and changes in circumstancesdarators that the carrying value of a hotel
property or land held for development may be imgzhiAdditionally, we perform quarterly reviews tonitor the factors that could trigger an
impairment. Factors that could trigger an impairtreeralysis include, among others: i) significandemperformance relative to historical or
projected operating results, ii) significant chasm@ethe manner of use of a property or the styaddégur overall business, iii) a significant
increase in competition, iv) a significant advechange in legal factors or regulations, and v)ificant negative industry or economic trends.
When such factors are identified, we prepare amagt of the undiscounted future cash flows, witfinterest charges, of the specific property
and determine if our investment is recoverable hasethe undiscounted future cash flows. If impaintis indicated, we estimate the fair
value of the property and an adjustment is madedace the carrying value of the property to failue. These assessments may affect the
results of our operations.

Variable Interest Entities

We consolidate variable interest entities (“VIE'he determine that we are the primary benefic@rthe entity. When evaluating
the accounting for a VIE, we consider the purpasenhich the VIE was created, the importance ohezfdhe activities in which it is engaged
and our decision-making role, if any, in those\atiis that significantly determine the entgyeéconomic performance relative to other econ
interest holders. We determine our rights, if aoyreceive benefits or the obligation to absodsés that could potentially be significant to the
VIE by considering the economic interest in thatgntegardless of form, which may include debtigg management and servicing fees, or
other contractual arrangements. We consider retdaators of the entity’s design including theigfsg capital structure, contractual rights to
earnings (losses), subordination of our interesltive to those of other investors, contingentnpagts, and other contractual arrangements
may be economically significant. Evaluating tlse@unting for a VIE requires the exercise of siigaifit professional judgment.

Revenue Recognitio

Our revenues are comprised of room revenue and btitel operations revenue, which includes reverfues the sale of food and
beverages and other ancillary amenities. We recegmeivenues, net of any sales and occupancy takested from guests, when rooms are
occupied and services are rendered. All rebateslsedunts are recorded as a reduction in revelparopriate allowances are made for
doubtful accounts and are recorded as bad debhsgp&he allowances are calculated as a perceotaged accounts receivable and take int
consideration past collection history and spedtistomer information. Cash received prior to gaesval is recorded as an advance from the
customer and is recognized as revenue at the firnecapancy.
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Equity-Based Compensation

Our 2011 Equity Incentive Plan provides for thengraf stock options, stock appreciation rightstrieted stock, restricted stock
units, dividend equivalent rights and other stoekédd awards. We account for equity-based compensading the Black-Scholes option-
pricing model for stock options and the grant datevalue of our common stock for all other awar8eme of the awards we issue are market
based awards and are valued using a Monte Carldaion model. We expense these awards over thaggseriod. The amount of the
expense may be subject to adjustment in futuregeriue to a change in forfeiture assumptions.

Income Taxes

Commencing with our short taxable year ended Deeeb, 2011, we elected to be taxed as a REIT wetéain provisions of tt
Internal Revenue Code. To qualify as a REIT, wetrmeset certain organizational and operational r@goénts, including a requirement to
distribute annually to our stockholders at lea$t3ff our REIT taxable income, determined withogamel to the deduction for dividends paid
and excluding net capital gains, which does noessarily equal net income as calculated in accoelaith GAAP. As a REIT, we generally
will not be subject to federal income tax (otharthaxes paid by our TRS) to the extent we culyetiitribute 100% of our REIT taxable
income to our stockholders. If we fail to qualify @ REIT in any taxable year, we will be subjedetteral income tax on our taxable income a
regular corporate income tax rates and generallyo@iunable to re-elect REIT status until thetfifialendar year after the year in which we
failed to quality as a REIT, unless we satisfy @iartelief provisions. Such an event could matbriaflversely affect our net income and net
cash available for distribution to stockholderswdwer, we intend to be organized and operate ih aunanner as to qualify for treatment as &
REIT.

We account for federal and state income taxes ofT®S$ using the asset and liability method. Defétex assets and liabilities are
recognized for the future tax consequences attiilatto differences between carrying amounts dfteng assets and liabilities based on G/
and respective carrying amounts for tax purposas$operating losses and tax-credit carry forwdttsvever, deferred tax assets are only
recognized to the extent that it is more likelyrtimot that they will be realized. Deferred tax éss@d liabilities are measured using enacte
rates expected to apply to taxable income in tlesyim which temporary differences are expectdsttoecovered or settled. The effect on
deferred tax assets and liabilities of a changedirrates is recognized in income in the period ithdludes the enactment date. In the event the
these assumptions change, the deferred taxes raageh

New Accounting Standards Adopted

In April 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-08,éBentation of Financial Statements (Topic 205)Rmgberty, Plant, and
Equipment (Topic 360): Reporting Discontinued Opierss and Disclosures of Disposals of ComponenendEntity.” The ASU changed the
criteria for reporting discontinued operations wtehhancing related disclosures. Criteria for diiooed operations will now include only
disposals that represent a strategic shift in djpermwith a major effect on operations and finahogsults. The ASU is to be applied on a
prospective basis and would be effective for usriregg January 1, 2015; however, we have electdg adoption in the first quarter of 2014,
which is permitted for disposals and classificadias held for sale, which have not been reportediqusly. While we have elected early
adoption for our consolidated financial statemeamis footnote disclosures, the Americinn Hotel &t8sii Aspen Hotel & Suites and Hampton
Inn in Fort Smith, AR will be included in discontied operations as these hotels were classifiedldgdr sale in our consolidated financial
statements in prior periods. The Americlnn Hote$8&ites and Aspen Hotel & Suites were sold in JgnB@i4. The Hampton Inn in Fort
Smith, AR was sold in September 2014.

On May 28, 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-8%Venue from Contracts with Customers”, which reggian entity to
recognize the amount of revenue to which it expecte entitled for the transfer of promised goodservices to customers. The ASU will
replace most existing revenue recognition guidamé¢&S. GAAP when it becomes effective. The newmdéad is effective for us on January 1,
2017 and early adoption is not permitted. The stethgermits the use of either the retrospectiveuonulative effect transition method. We are
evaluating the effect that ASU 2014-09 will havecam consolidated financial statements and reldigtlosures. We have not yet selected a
transition method nor have we determined the etietihe standard on our consolidated financiakstents.

In August 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-15stbsure of Uncertainties about an Entity’s Alyilib Continue as a Going
Concern”, which requires management to perfornrimt@nd annual assessments of an entity’s abdigontinue as a going concern within
one year of the date the financial statementssateed and provides guidance on determining whemawdo disclose going concern
uncertainties in the financial statements. Cert#sielosures will be required if conditions giveeri® substantial doubt about an entity’s ability
to continue as a going concern. This guidanceféecde for us on January 1, 2017.
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Recent Developments
Equity

On January 2, 2015, we redeemed 20,691 Common, Wiitsh had been tendered on December 15, 20120f601 shares of our
common stock. On February 2, 2015, 94,256 Commadts Wrere tendered for redemption, which we intemdetleem for 94,256 shares of our
common stock on April 1, 2015.

ltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Marlet Risk.
Market Risk

Market risk includes risks that arise from chanigegterest rates, foreign currency exchange ra@smodity prices, equity prices
and other market changes that affect market-seasitstruments. In pursuing our business stratethesprimary market risk to which we are
exposed is interest rate risk. Our primary interatt exposure is to 3fay LIBOR. We primarily use fixed interest ratediting to manage o
exposure to fluctuations in interest rates. Omratdid basis we also use derivative financial insgnts to manage interest rate risk.

At December 31, 2014, we were party to four interate derivative agreements, with a total notiarabunt of $103.0 million,
where we receive variable-rate payments in exchéorgmaking fixed-rate payments. These agreemeastaecounted for as cash flow hedges
and have a termination value of $2.1 million.

At December 31, 2014, after giving effect to ouersst rate derivative agreements, $465.2 millowry,4.3%, of our debt had fixed
interest rates and $161.3 million, or 25.7%, hatkbée interest rates. At December 31, 2013, afieing effect to our interest rate derivative
agreements, $358.6 million, or 82.3%, of our delut fixed interest rates and $77.0 million, or 17, H#d variable interest rates. Assuming no
increase in the level of our variable rate debstanding as of December 31, 2014, if interest rateased by 1.0% our cash flow would
decrease by approximately $1.6 million per year.

As our fixed-rate debts mature, they will becombjsct to interest rate risk. In addition, as ouratsle-rate debts mature, lenders
may impose interest rate floors on new financimgragements because of the low interest rates exmend during the past few years. At
December 31, 2014, we have $3.5 million of debtumiag) in 2015. We have scheduled principal debnpents in 2015 totaling $14.6 million,
of which $13.6 million has fixed interest rates.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.

The financial statements and supplementary datareztjby this item are included on pages F-1 thnoe@9 of this Annual Repo
on Form 10-K and are incorporated by referenceihere

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Acunting and Financial Disclosure.
None.
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Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.
Controls and Procedures

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management evaluated, with the participatioousfChief Executive Officer and our Chief Financdficer, the effectiveness
of our disclosure controls and procedures (as ddfin Rule 13a-15(e) under the Exchange Act) &eakember 31, 2014. Based on that
evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and our €titinancial Officer concluded that, as of Decen®er2014, our disclosure controls and
procedures were effective to provide reasonablgrasse that information required to be discloseth@reports we file or submit under the
Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarizedegoated within the time periods specified in 8tC'’s rules and forms, and that such
information is accumulated and communicated torsanagement to allow timely decisions regarding iregudisclosure.

Management's Report on the Effectiveness of Intehi@ontrol Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over finahaaorting. Internal control
over financial reporting is a process designedbynder the supervision of, our Chief Executivéic@f and our Chief Financial Officer, and
effected by our board of directors, managementahner personnel, to provide reasonable assurageediag the reliability of financial

reporting and the preparation of financial statetméor external purposes in accordance with GAA® iaoludes those policies and procedure:s
that:

. pertain to the maintenance of records that, inoreasle detail, accurately and fairly reflect trengactions and
dispositions of our assets;

. provide reasonable assurance that transactiorre@eled as necessary to permit preparation ofi¢iahstatements in
accordance with GAAP and that our receipts andegpenditures are being made only in accordanceawithorizations
of our management and our board of directors; and

. provide reasonable assurance regarding preventitimely detection of unauthorized acquisition, as@lisposition of
our assets that could have a material effect orioancial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or @¢taisstatements. Also,
projections of any evaluation of effectivenessutufe periods are subject to the risk that contrdy become inadequate because of chang
conditions, or that the degree of compliance with policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In connection with the preparation of this Annuaiprt on Form 10-K, our management, under the sigien of our Chief
Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officegnducted an evaluation of the effectiveness ofit@rnal control over financial reporting
of December 31, 2014, based on criteria establighétternal Control—Integrated Framework (1992pbtished by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commisdased on such evaluation, our management cortthidé we had effective internal
control over financial reporting as of December114.

Ernst & Young LLP, our independent registered pubticounting firm, has issued an auditor’s attestateport on our
managemens assessment of the effectiveness of our inteoratal over financial reporting as of December 2114. This report is included
Part Il, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reportm

We have implemented significant changes to ourraecontrol over financial reporting throughou¢ ttourse of the year ended
December 31, 2014 to strengthen and improve ouathieternal control structure. The changes toiaternal control over financial reporting
include the following:

. Designing and implementing processes and procedugsrform monthly reconciliations of accountimformation
related to our hotels, which is included in ouficonsolidated financial statements, to the actiogrinformation
provided by our third party property managers fackeindividual hotel.

. Designing and implementing processes and proceduitggsve our accounting staff perform monthly reziations of
intercompany accounts.

. Designing and implementing processes and procedardéise review of our consolidated financial stagmts and the
accounting for acquisitions and dispositions oehptoperties and land held for development incigdamong others, a
monthly review of undeveloped land inventory, andae extensive, formalized review of acquisitionl @isposition
transactions.

. Hiring and developing additional finance and actimgnpersonnel with the requisite experience arillsdlo maintain
and improve our processes, procedures and inteondélol environment.

We believe that we have designed and implementednial controls to remedy the material weaknesstified in our Annual Report
on Form 10-K filed for the year ended December2BI,3. We continue to work diligently to design amghlement procedures and controls
that we believe will further strengthen and impraowe internal control structure and environment.

ltem 9B. Other Information.
Additional Material Federal Income Tax Considerations

The following is a summary of additional materiadiéral income tax considerations with respecteaothinership of our stock. This
summary supplements and should be read togethetheétdiscussion under “Material Federal Income Tarsiderations” in the prospectus
dated March 29, 2013 and filed as part of a regfisin statement on Form S-3 (No. 333-187624).

Asset Test

As discussed in the prospectuses referenced almuar tAdditional Material Federal Income Tax Coresitions” previously
issued IRS guidance established a safe harborsgidgewhen a mortgage loan may be treated as astdé asset for purpose of the 75%
REIT asset test. IRS Revenue Procedure 2014-5aaeglthat safe harbor with a new safe harbor. Utheenew safe harbor, the IRS will not
challenge a REIT’s treatment of a loan as beingair, a qualifying real estate asset in an amequal to the lesser of (1) the fair market value
of the loan on the date of the relevant quarteByTRasset testing date or (2) the greater of (@)ir market value of the real property securing
the loan on the date of the relevant quarterly R&d3et testing date or (b) the fair market valudefeal property securing the loan determ
as of the date the REIT committed to acquire tla@.|0We intend to invest in any mortgage loansrmaaner that will enable us to continue to
satisfy the asset test requirements.

Taxation of Taxable U.S. Stockholders

A U.S. withholding tax at a 30% rate will be impdsan dividends paid on our stock received by Ut&ldolders who own their
stock through foreign accounts or foreign interraeids if certain disclosure requirements related.®. accounts or ownership are not
satisfied. In addition, if those disclosure requients are not satisfied, a U.S. withholding taa 80% rate will be imposed on proceeds from
the sale of our stock received after December 316Dy U.S. stockholders who own their stock thiofayeign accounts or foreign
intermediaries. We will not pay any additional amtsuin respect of any amounts withheld.

Taxation of Non-U.S. Stockholders

A U.S. withholding tax at a 30% rate will be impdsan dividends paid on our stock received by cemain-U.S. stockholders if
they held our stock through foreign entities tlaltto meet certain disclosure requirements reltidd.S. persons that either have accounts
such entities or own equity interests in such istitin addition, if those disclosure requiremertsnot satisfied, a U.S. withholding tax at a
30% rate will be imposed on proceeds from the shtair stock received after December 31,
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2016 by certain non-U.S. stockholders. If payméntithholding taxes is required, non-U.S. stocklesfdthat are otherwise eligible for an
exemption from, or reduction of, U.S. withholdiraxés with respect of such dividends and proceelib&vrequired to seek a refund from the
Internal Revenue Service to obtain the benefitiochexemption or reduction. We will not pay anyitiddal amounts in respect of any amot
withheld.

PART III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governace.

The information required by this item is incorpadby reference to our Definitive Proxy StatemantSchedule 14A (the “2015
Proxy Statement”) for the 2015 Annual Meeting adc¢kholders.

Item 11. Executive Compensation.

The information required by this item is incorpadby reference to the 2015 Proxy Statement.
Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners andManagement and Related Stockholder Matters.

The information required by this item is incorpadby reference to the 2015 Proxy Statement.
Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, an®irector Independence.

The information required by this item is incorpadby reference to the 2015 Proxy Statement.
Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services.

The information required by this item is incorpadby reference to the 2015 Proxy Statement.

PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules.

1. Financial Statements:

Included herein at pages F-1 through F-35
2. Financial Statement Schedules:

The following financial statement schedule is inigd herein at pages F-36 - F-39.
Schedule lll — Real Estate and Accumulated Deptiecia

3. Exhibits:

See the Exhibit Index that appears after the sigagiage to this Annual Report on Form 10-K, whécimcorporated herein by
reference.

All schedules for which provision is made in Regjola S-X are either not required to be includedelrepursuant to the related
instructions or are inapplicable or the relatedinfation is included in the footnotes to the agiie financial statement.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas duly caused this report to
be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, theoeduly authorized.

SUMMIT HOTEL PROPERTIES, INC. (registrant)

Date: March 2, 2015 By: /s/ Kerry W. Boekelheid

Kerry W. Boekelheidt
Executive Chairman of the Boa

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed &ydhowing persons on behalf of
the registrant and in the capacities and on thesdatlicated.

Signature Title Date
/sl Kerry W. Boekelheid Executive Chairman of the Board March 2, 2015
Kerry W. Boekelheid:
/s/ Daniel P. Hanse President, Chief Executive Officer and Director March 2, 2015
Daniel P. Hanse (principal executive officer)
/sl Greg A. Dowel Executive Vice President, Chief Financial March 2, 2015
Greg A. Dowell Officer and Treasurer
/s/ Paul Ruiz Vice President and Chief Accounting Officer March 2, 2015
Paul Ruiz
/sl Bjorn R. L. Hanso Director March 2, 2015

Bjorn R. L. Hansor

/sl Jeffrey W. Jone Director March 2, 2015
Jeffrey W. Jone

/s/ Kenneth J. Ka Director March 2, 2015
Kenneth J. Ka

/sl Thomas W. Store Director March 2, 2015
Thomas W. Store

Director March 2, 201t

Wayne W. Wielgu:
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Exhibit
Number

EXHIBIT INDEX

Description of Exhibit

3.1

3.2

4.1

10.1

10.2

10.3

10.4

10.5

10.6

10.7

10.8

10.9

10.10

10.11

10.12

10.13

10.14

10.15

10.16

10.17

Articles of Amendment and Restatement of SummiteHBtoperties, Inc. (incorporated by referencesxbikit 3.1 to
Annual Report on Form K filed by Summit Hotel Properties, Inc. on FebguaBg, 2012

Amended and Restated Bylaws of Summit Hotel Prgggerinc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit ®2Amendment
No. 2 to Registration Statement on For-11 filed by Summit Hotel Properties, Inc. on Novemnh, 2010

Specimen certificate of common stock of Summit HBt@perties, Inc. (incorporated by reference tbikix 4.1 to
Amendment No. 5 to Registration Statement on Fc-11 filed by Summit Hotel Properties, Inc. on Feloyua 2011)
Amended and Restated Hotel Management Agreemeet] &abruary 14, 2011, among Interstate Manage@emipany,
LLC and the subsidiaries of Summit Hotel Properties. party thereto (incorporated by referencgxbibit 10.4 to
Current Report on Formr-K filed by Summit Hotel Properties, Inc. on Februas, 2011

First Amendment to Amended and Restated Hotel Mamagt Agreement, dated June 30, 2011, among laterst
Management Company, LLC and the subsidiaries o€ibrapany party thereto (incorporated by referendexhibit 10.2 t
Quarterly Report on Form -Q filed by Summit Hotel Properties, Inc. on AugliSt 2011)

$300,000,000 Credit Agreement dated October 103 20iong Summit Hotel OP, LP, Summit Hotel Propsrtiec., the
subsidiary guarantors party thereto, Deutsche BeaiNew York Branch, Bank of America, N.A., Royalfdaof Canada,
Key Bank National Association, Regions Bank, Fiftiird Bank, Raymond James Bank, N.A., and U.S. Bdational
Association (incorporated by reference to ExhiBitllto Current Report on Form 8-K filed by Summaiteél

Properties, Inc. on October 15, 20:

Consolidated, Amended and Restated Loan Agreenatetl d~ebruary 13, 2012, between Summit Hotel ORaRdPING
Life Insurance and Annuity Company (incorporatedéfgrence to Exhibit 10.1 to Current Report onnr&K filed by
Summit Hotel Properties, Inc. on February 16, 2(

First Modification of Consolidated, Amended and fReed Loan Agreement among Summit Hotel OP, LBoaower, ani
ING Life Insurance and Annuity Company, as lendated August 1, 2013 (incorporated by referendextubit 10.3 to
Quarterly Report on Form -Q filed by Summit Hotel Properties, Inc. on Aug6s2013)

Summit Hotel Properties, Inc. 2011 Equity IncentRlan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10d.8tirrent Report on
Form &K filed by Summit Hotel Properties, Inc. on Februas, 2011)*

Form of Indemnification Agreement between Summitéi®roperties, Inc. and each of its Executive ffs and Directol
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.14 to Adrent No. 2 to Registration Statement on Form 8ldd by Summit
Hotel Properties, Inc. on November 1, 20

Form of Option Award Agreement (incorporated byerehce to Exhibit 10.6 to Amendment No. 1 to Reagiigin
Statement on Form-11 filed by Summit Hotel Properties, Inc. on Sepdten23, 2010):

Form of Lease Agreement between Summit Hotel OPaiidPTRS Lessee (incorporated by reference to Extib4 to
Amendment No. 2 to Registration Statement on Fc-11 filed by Summit Hotel Properties, Inc. on Novemnl, 2010
Sourcing Agreement between Six Continents Hotel, ladvb/a InterContinental Hotels Group, and Suntiaitel
Properties, Inc. (incorporated by reference to BixHi0.26 to Amendment No. 3 to Registration Staeton Form S-11
filed by Summit Hotel Properties, Inc. on Decem®g?010)

Form of Incentive Award Agreement between SummitdHBroperties, Inc. and its executive officerc¢irporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Quarterly Report oftRd.0Q filed by Summit Hotel Properties, Inc. onyMa 2012)*

Form of Stock Award Agreement (Performance Basette) between Summit Hotel Properties, Inc. anebiézutive
officers (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1@3uarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed by Summittél Properties, Inc.
on May 5, 2012)

Form of Stock Award Agreement (Service-Based Shdretsveen Summit Hotel Properties, Inc. and itscatiee officers
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to QewrdytReport on Form 10-Q filed by Summit Hotel Redjes, Inc. on
May 5, 2012)*

Employment Agreement, dated May 28, 2014, betwesnriit Hotel Properties, Inc. and Kerry W. Boeketieei
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to QemdytReport on Form 10-Q filed by Summit Hotel Redjes, Inc. on
August 6, 2014)’

Employment Agreement, dated May 28, 2014, betweasnriit Hotel Properties, Inc. and Daniel P. Hansecofporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Quarterly Reportramm 1(-Q filed by Summit Hotel Properties, Inc. on Aug@s2014)*
Employment Agreement, dated May 28, 2014, betwesnriit Hotel Properties, Inc. and Craig J. Aniszev(sicorporate:
by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to Quarterly Reportramm 1(-Q filed by Summit Hotel Properties, Inc. on Aug@s2014)*
Employment Agreement, dated May 28, 2014, betwesnr&it Hotel Properties, Inc. and Christopher R. Engorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to Quarterly Reportamm 1(-Q filed by Summit Hotel Properties, Inc. on Aug@s
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10.18

10.19

12.1t
21.1%
23.1%
23.2%
31.1%

31.2t
321t
32.2%

101.INS
101.SCH
101.CAL
101.DEF
101.LAB
101.PRE

2014)*

Confidential Severance and Release Agreement, dateal 16, 2014, between Summit Hotel Properties,and Stuart J.
Becker (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.®Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed by Summit &ld®roperties, Inc.
on August 6, 2014)

Employment Agreement, dated September 11, 2014Hective as of October 1, 2014, between SummieHot
Properties, Inc. and Greg A. Dowell (incorporatgddference to Exhibit 10.1 to Current Report onmnfr8-K filed by
Summit Hotel Properties, Inc. on September 11, PO

Calculation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charged Rreferred Stock Dividen:

List of Subsidiaries of Summit Hotel Properties;.!

Consent of KPMG LLF

Consent of Ernst & Young, LL

Certification of Chief Executive Officer of Sumntiotel Properties, Inc. pursuant to Rule 13a-14&)/14(a), as adopted
pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbi-Oxley Act of 200z

Certification of Chief Financial Officer Summit HatProperties, Inc. pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15¢k), as adopted
pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbi-Oxley Act of 200z

Certification of Chief Executive Officer Summit HdtProperties, Inc. pursuant to 18 U.S.C. SectRi0] as adopted
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbi-Oxley Act of 200z

Certification of Chief Financial Officer Summit HatProperties, Inc. pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Secti@s0]1as adopted
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbi-Oxley Act of 200z

XBRL Instance Documert

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Docum

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Docuntr

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Docum

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Labels Linkbase Docunr

XBRL Taxonomy Presentation Linkbase Docum

* Management contract or compensatory plan or gearent.

T Filed herewithin
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Summit Hotel Properties, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsineets of Summit Hotel Properties, Inc. (the gamy) as of December 31, 2014 and
2013, and the related consolidated statementseyhtipns, comprehensive income (loss), changeguityeand cash flows for each of the ye
ended December 31, 2014 and 2013. Our audits redhadied the financial statement schedule 11 aslétes to information included therein as
of and for each of the two years in the period egddecember 31, 2014. These financial statementsemedule are the responsibility of the
Company’s management. Our responsibility is to egpian opinion on these financial statements ametiste based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting OversighafBioUnited States). Those standard:s
require that we plan and perform the audits toiobtasonable assurance about whether the finastei@ments are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on tldasis, evidence supporting the amounts and disis in the financial statements. An a
also includes assessing the accounting princiged and significant estimates made by managenenelhas evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetegrferred to above present fairly, in all matenégpects, the consolidated financial position
of Summit Hotel Properties, Inc. at December 31L.428nd 2013, and the consolidated results of iksaijpns and its cash flows for each of the
two years in the period ended December 31, 201dpmformity with U.S. generally accepted accounfinigiciples. Also, in our opinion, the
information as of and for each of the two yearthmperiod ending December 31, 2014 included irre¢beted financial statement schedule,
when considered in relation to the basic finansiatements taken as a whole, presents fairly imaterial respects the information set forth
therein.

As discussed in Note 21 to the consolidated fireratatements, the Company changed its methoefarrting discontinued operations
effective during the first quarter of 2014.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stadsd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bio@nited States), the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting as of Batber 31, 2014, based on criteria establishedtémrial Control—Integrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidrise Treadway Commission (1992 Framework), amdreport dated March 2, 2015
expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP
Austin, Texas
March 2, 2015
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm

The Board of Directors and Shareholders of
Summit Hotel Properties, Inc.

We have audited Summit Hotel Properties, Inc.’erimal control over financial reporting as of Decem®1, 2014, based on criteria establishe
in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issuedtry Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of thea@livay Commission (1992
framework) (the COSO criteria). Summit Hotel Prdjgs; Inc.’'s management is responsible for maiimgieffective internal control over
financial reporting, and for its assessment ofeffiectiveness of internal control over financigboeting included in the accompanying
Management’s Report on Internal Control over FimgrReporting. Our responsibility is to expresso@mion on the company'’s internal
control over financial reporting based on our audit

We conducted our audit in accordance with the statgdof the Public Company Accounting OversightriBq&nited States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtaasonable assurance about whether effectivenaiteontrol over financial reporting was
maintained in all material respects. Our auditudeld obtaining an understanding of internal coraxer financial reporting, assessing the risk
that a material weakness exists, testing and etina¢utihe design and operating effectiveness ofiiralecontrol based on the assessed risk, anc
performing such other procedures as we considezeéssary in the circumstances. We believe thadwdit provides a reasonable basis for ou
opinion.

A company'’s internal control over financial repodiis a process designed to provide reasonableaassuregarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statets:iéor external purposes in accordance with gelyesatepted accounting principles. A
company’s internal control over financial reportingludes those policies and procedures that (ftajmeto the maintenance of records that, in
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly refleettitansactions and dispositions of the assetsafdmpany; (2) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary tatgeaparation of financial statements in accor@anwith generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditureb®ttbmpany are being made only in accordance witioaizations of management and
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasanabsurance regarding prevention or timely detectfainauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company’s assets that could lzaneterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal coht@iver financial reporting may not prevent or @¢taisstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods agject to the risk that controls may become inadegjbecause of changes in conditions, or
the degree of compliance with the policies or pdaces may deteriorate.

In our opinion, Summit Hotel Properties, Inc. mained, in all material respects, effective interwattrol over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2014, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@/nited States), the consolidated
balance sheet of Summit Hotel Properties, Incf@&egember 31, 2014 and 2013, and the related tidated statements of operations,
comprehensive income (loss), changes in equitycast flows for each of the two years in the pedoded December 31, 2014 of Summit
Hotel Properties, Inc. and our report dated MarcP0A5 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP
Austin, Texas
March 2, 2015
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Summit Hotel Properties, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidatednséatts of operations, comprehensive income (losshnges in equity and cash flows of
Summit Hotel Properties, Inc. and subsidiaries @Gbenpany) for the year ended December 31, 2012¢eTt@ssolidated financial statements
the responsibility of the Comparsyinanagement. Our responsibility is to expresspémian on these consolidated financial statemeasgd or
our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stedsdof the Public Company Accounting Oversighti8d&/nited States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to abtaasonable assurance about whether the finataieiments are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on tldasis, evidence supporting the amounts and diss in the financial statements. An a
also includes assessing the accounting princiged and significant estimates made by managenenelhas evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our auditiges a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetegeferred to above present fairly, in all matenéspects, the results of Summit Hotel
Properties, Inc. and subsidiaries’ operations aed tash flows for the year ended December 312 2@lconformity with U.S. generally
accepted accounting principles.
/sl KPMG LLP
Chicago, lllinois
February 26, 2013 except as to notes 21 and 22Zhvelte as of
March 25, 201
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Summit Hotel Properties, Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(in thousands, except share amounts)

December 31

2014 2013
ASSETS
Investment in hotel properties, r $ 1,339,41 % 1,149,96
Investment in hotel properties under developn 252 —
Land held for developmel 8,18: 13,74¢
Assets held for sal 30C 12,22:
Cash and cash equivalel 38,58 46,70t
Restricted cas 34,39¢ 38,49¢
Trade receivable 7,681 7,231
Prepaid expenses and otl 6,181 8,87¢
Derivative financial instrument 66 25¢
Deferred charges, n 9,641 10,27(
Deferred tax asset, n 17¢ 48
Other asset 14,15: 6,65¢
Total asset $ 1,459,020 $ 1,294,47
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Liabilities:
Debt $ 626,53. $ 435,58!
Accounts payabl 7,271 7,58:
Accrued expense 38,06: 27,15¢
Derivative financial instrument 1,95 1,77
Total liabilities 673,82 472,09t
Commitments and contingencies (Note
Equity:
Preferred stock, $.01 par value per share, 100000Gshares authorize
9.25% Series A - 2,000,000 shares issued and adiataat December 31, 2014 and 2013
(aggregate liquidation preference of $50,398 atelbduer 31, 2014 and 201 2C 2C
7.875% Series B - 3,000,000 shares issued andcaadiayy at December 31, 2014 and 2013
(aggregate liquidation preference of $75,324 atebdwer 31, 2014 and 201 3C 3C
7.125% Series C - 3,400,000 shares issued anchndisy at December 31, 2014 and 2013
(aggregate liguidation preference of $85,522 atebdzer 31, 2014 and 201 34 34
Common stock, $.01 par value per share, 500,00G;08fes authorized, 86,149,720 and 85,402,
shares issued and outstanding at December 31,a82@112013, respective 861 854
Additional paic¢-in capital 888,19: 882,85!
Accumulated other comprehensive I (1,74¢) (1,379
Accumulated deficit and distributiol (107,779 (72,577
Total stockholder equity 779,61: 809,84
Noncontrolling interests in operating partners 5,59( 4,72
Noncontrolling interests in joint ventu — 7,81¢
Total equity 785,20: 822,37!
Total liabilities and equit $ 145902 $ 129447

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Summit Hotel Properties, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Operations
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

For the Years Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
Revenues:
Room $ 380,47. $ 283,27¢ $ 154,60(
Other hotel operations reven 22,99 15,67¢ 7,10(
Total revenue 403,46t 298,95¢ 161,70(
Expenses:
Hotel operating expense
Room 101,15( 80,39 45,13(
Other direct 55,38¢ 39,81¢ 21,28¢
Other indirect 104,95¢ 78,13¢ 44,02¢
Total hotel operating expens 261,49 198,34. 110,44:.
Depreciation and amortizatic 65,31: 51,18¢ 30,64¢
Corporate general and administrat 19,88 12,92¢ 9,57:
Hotel property acquisition cos 76¢ 1,88¢ 3,05(
Loss on impairment of asse 8,84 1,36¢ 66C
Total expense 356,30¢ 265,71( 154,37(
Operating incom: 47,15 33,24¢ 7,33(
Other income (expense
Interest expens (26,96¢) (20,137 (14,909
Other income (expens 98¢ (1,599 (96)
Total other expense, n (25,987) (21,729 (15,005
Income (loss) from continuing operations beforeme taxe: 21,17¢ 11,51¢ (7,675
Income tax benefit (expens (744 (4,899 72€
Income (loss) from continuing operatic 20,43: 6,62°¢ (6,947
Income (loss) from discontinued operatic 497 (728) 4,67
Net income (loss 20,92: 5,89 (2,270
Income (loss) attributable to n-controlling interests
Operating partnershi 51 (297) (1,199
Joint venture 1 31€ —
Net income (loss) attributable to Summit Hotel Raties, Inc. 20,87: 5,87¢ (1,076
Preferred dividend (16,58¢) (14,590 (4,625
Net income (loss) attributable to common stockhili $ 4,28: $ (8,712 $ (5,70))
Earnings per shan
Basic and diluted net income (loss) per share ftontinuing operation $ 0.0 $ (0.11) $ (0.2§)
Basic and diluted net income (loss) per share fi@oontinued operatior 0.01 (0.0 0.11
Basic and diluted net income (loss) per st $ 0.0t $ (019 $ (0.19)
Weighted average common shares outstani
Basic 85,24 70,32% 33,717
Diluted 85,56¢ 70,32} 33,71,
Dividends per shar $ 0.4€ $ 04t $ 0.45

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Summit Hotel Properties, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (kg)
(in thousands)

For the Years Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012

Net income (loss $ 20,92¢ $ 5891 $ (2,270
Other comprehensive loss, net of t

Changes in fair value of derivative financial instrents (371) (881) (639)
Total other comprehensive lo (377 (887) (639)
Comprehensive income (los 20,55: 5,01¢ (2,909
Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to-controlling interests

Operating partnershi 47 (327) (2,305

Joint venture 1 31€ —
Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to Sunttoiel Properties, Inc 20,50« 5,027 (1,609
Preferred dividend (16,58%) (14,590 (4,625
Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to comstookholders $ 391t $ (9,569 $ (6,229

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Balance at December 2
2011
Net proceeds from sa
of common stocl
Net proceeds from sa
of preferred stoc!
Common stocl
redemption of
common unit:
Dividends paic
Equity-basec
compensatiol
Other comprehensiv
income (loss
Net income (loss
Balance at December 2
2012
Net proceeds from sa
of common stocl
Net proceeds from sa
of preferred stocl
Common stocl
redemption of
common unit:
Contribution by
noncontrolling
interests in joint
venture
Dividends paic
Equity-basec
compensatiol
Other comprehensiv
income (loss
Net income (loss
Balance at December 2
2013
Common stocl
redemption of
common unite
Common units issue
for acquisition
Acquisition of nor-
controlling interest
in joint venture
Dividends paic
Equity-basec
compensatiol
Other
Other comprehensiv
income (loss
Net income
Balance at December 2
2014

Summit Hotel Properties, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity

For the Years Ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 201

(in thousands, except share amounts)

Accumulated

Shares of Shares of Other Accumulated Total Noncontrolling Interests
Preferred  Preferred Common Common Additional Comprehensive  Deficitand  Shareholder¢  Operating Joint Total
Stock Stock Stock Stock Paid-In Capital Income (Loss)  Distributions Equity Partnership ~ Venture Equity
2,000,000 $ 20 27,278,00 $ 27t $ 288,90 $ — 3 (11,020 $ 278,17" $  4127: $ — $ 319,44
— — 13,800,00 13¢ 106,26° — — 106,40! — — 106,40!
3,000,001 30 — — 72,42; — — 72,45! — — 72,45¢
— — 4,873,62! 49 20% — — 254 (254) — —
— — — — — — (19,88 (19,889 (3,179 — (23,06€)
— — 208,02 2 1,02t — — 1,02¢ 18C — 1,20¢
— — — — — (52¢) — (52¢) (111 — (639)
— — — — — — (1,076) (1,076 (1,194 — (2,270
5,000,001 50 46,159,65 462 468,82( (528) (31,985 436,81¢ 36,71¢ — 473,53
— — 34,500,00 34t 299,72 — — 300,07: — — 300,07:
3,400,001 34 — — 81,68¢ — — 81,72: — — 81,72:
— — 4,414,95! 44 30,57« — — 30,61¢ (30,619 — —
— — — — — — — — — 7,50C 7,50C
— — — — — — (46,470) (46,470 (1,129 — (47,599
— — 327,80t 3 2,04¢ — = 2,051 73 = 2,12¢
— — — — — (851) — (851) (30 — (881)
— — — — — — 5,87¢ 5,87¢ (297) 31€ 5,89i
8,400,001 84 85,402,40 854 882,85¢ (1,379 (72,577) 809,84( 4,722 7,81¢€ 822,37t
— — 438,63: 4 2,428 — — 2,42¢ (2,429 — —
— — — — — — — — 3,68t — 3,68t
_ — — — (415) — — (415) — (7,817) (8,237)
— — — — — — (56,077) (56,079 (477) — (56,550
— — 321,26¢ 3 3,47¢ — — 3,48: 42 = 3,52¢
— — (12,589) — (15€) — — (15€) — — (15€)
_ _ _ _ — (367) — (367) (4) - @7
— — — — — — 20,87: 20,87: 51 1 20,92:
8,400,000 $ 84 86,149,.72 $ 861 $ 888,19. $ (1,740 $ (107,779 $ 779,61 $ 559 $ — $ 785,20:

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Summit Hotel Properties, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(in thousands)

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net income (loss

Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to retcprovided by operating
activities:
Depreciation and amortizatic
Amortization of prepaid leas
Loss on impairment of asse
Equity-based compensatic
Deferred tax assi
Gain on disposal of asse¢
(Gain) loss on derivative financial instrume

Changes in operating assets and liabilit
Restricted cas- operating
Trade receivable
Prepaid expenses and ot
Accounts payable and accrued expel

NET CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Acquisitions of hotel propertie
Acquisition of nol-controlling interest in joint ventui
Investment in hotel properties under developn
Acquisition of land held for developme
Improvements and additions to hotel propet
Amounts extended under note funding obliga
Purchases of office furniture and equipm
Proceeds from asset dispositions, net of closiisgs
(Increase) decrease in restricted ¢- FF&E reserve

NET USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issuance of d
Principal payments on de
Financing fees on de
Proceeds from equity offerings, net of offeringts:
Proceeds from contribution by joint venture part
Dividends paic
Other
NET CASH PROVIDED BY FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Net change in cash and cash equival

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Beginning of perioc

End of perioc
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE Ol
CASH FLOW INFORMATION
Cash payments for intere
Capitalized interes
Cash payments for income taxes, net of reft

Mortgage debt assumed for acquisitions of hotepertes

Fair value of common units issued for acquisitibhatel

For the Years Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
20,92¢ $ 5,897 (2,270)
65,32t 53,14: 34,87

47 47 73
9,247 9,04¢ 2,96¢
3,52 2,12¢ 1,20¢
(127) 3,94¢ (1,801)
(44¢) (4,306) (2,811)

1 @) 2
(631) (1,309) (69)
(41¢) (1,759 (1,422)
3,61¢ (3,654 (1,049
1,077 9,25¢ 5,00¢

102,13 72,43¢ 34,70:

(177,820 (441,57} (216,89;)
(8,232 — —
(259) — (10,30%)

— (2,800)

(42,43;) (53,227) (29,39¢)
(7,366) — —

— (39¢) (210)
19,28( 52,85( 25,88’
16,27¢ (22,297 (2,091)

(200,541) (467,43 (233,001
263,60: 587,24 130,65¢
(115,829 (497,80) (82,31%)
(782) (3,421) (2,392

— 381,79 178,85
— 7,50( —
(56,55() (47,599 (23,06¢)
(15€) — —
90,28« 427,72 201,74}
(8,125) 32,72¢ 3,44:
46,70¢ 13,98( 10,53;
38,58 $ 46,70¢ 13,98(
26,74 $ 19,98¢ 15,59:
25 $ 40¢ 53
926 $ 681 43z
4317 $ 33,53: 47,16
3,68t $ — —




See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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SUMMIT HOTEL PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1 - DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS

Summit Hotel Properties, Inc. (the “Company”) isedf-managed hotel investment company that wasizgd on June 30, 2010 as a Marylanc
corporation. The Company holds both general anddohpartnership interests in Summit Hotel OP, ttf¢ (Operating Partnership”), a
Delaware limited partnership also organized on BHhe&010. On February 14, 2011, the Company closdts initial public offering (“IPO”)
and completed certain formation transactions, uicly the merger of Summit Hotel Properties, LLG(tRredecessor”) with and into the

Operating Partnership (the “Merger”). Unless thetegt otherwise requires, “we”, “us”, and “our” eefto the Company and its subsidiaries.

While the Operating Partnership was the survivaaraf the legal acquirer of the Predecessor in tbgkt, for accounting and financial
reporting purposes, the Predecessor is consideeegictounting acquirer in the Merger. As a reludt historical consolidated financial
statements of the Predecessor are presented laistibrécal consolidated financial statements of @enpany after completion of the Merger
and the related transactions (collectively, thedfganization Transaction”).

At December 31, 2014, our portfolio consists ofl§iscale and Upper-midscale hotels with a totallgfi@3 guestrooms located in 21 states.
We have elected to be taxed as a real estate imgastrust (“REIT”) for federal income tax purposssnmencing with our short taxable year
ended December 31, 2011. To qualify as a REIT,amnaot operate or manage our hotels. Accordinglystauntially all of our hotels are leased
to subsidiaries (“TRS Lessees”) of our taxable R&libsidiary (“TRS”). We indirectly own 100% of tbatstanding equity interests in all of
our TRS Lessees.

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of Presentatio

The accompanying consolidated financial statemeintise Company consolidate the accounts of the Gomand all entities that are contro
by ownership of a majority voting interest as vaalvariable interest entities for which the compiarthe primary beneficiary. All significant
intercompany balances and transactions have beeimaled in the consolidated financial statements.

We prepare our consolidated financial statementsimormity with U.S. generally accepted accounpmigciples (“GAAP”),which requires L
to make estimates and assumptions that affecefh@ted amounts of assets and liabilities at the ofsthe consolidated financial statements
and reported amounts of revenues and expenses iefbrting period. Actual results could differrfrahose estimates.

Segment Disclosure

Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”), ASC 2&&gment Reportingestablishes standards for reporting financial dgegtriptive
information about an enterprise’s reportable sedméfie have determined that we have one reporssigiment, with activities related to
investing in real estate. Our investments in retdte are geographically diversified and the chjedrating decision makers evaluate operating
performance on an individual asset level. As edauoassets has similar economic characteridtiesassets have been aggregated into one
reportable segment.

Investment in Hotel Propertie

We allocate the purchase price of hotel acquisitio®sed on the fair value of the acquired assetsassumed liabilities. We determine the
acquisition-date fair values of all assets and rassuliabilities using methods similar to those usgdndependent appraisers, for example,
using a discounted cash flow analysis that usesoappte discount and/or capitalization rates arallable market information. Estimates of
future cash flows are based on a number of fadtetading historical operating results, known amticipated trends, and market and econc
conditions. Acquisition costs are expensed as necur

Our hotel properties and related assets are reg¢@tdeost, less accumulated depreciation. We diggitdne costs of significant additions and
improvements that materially extend a propertyfes [These costs may include hotel refurbishmengvation, and remodeling expenditures.
We expense the cost of repairs and maintenance.
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We generally depreciate our hotel properties aledee assets using the straight-line method owar #stimated useful lives as follows:

Classification Estimated Useful Lives
Buildings and improvemen 25 to 40 year
Furniture, fixtures and equipme 2 to 15 year:

We periodically re-evaluate asset lives based orentiassessments of remaining utilization, whigymesult in changes in estimated useful
lives. Such changes are accounted for prospectaredywill increase or decrease future depreciaigense.

When depreciable property and equipment is retredisposed of, the related costs and accumulaprediation are removed from the bals
sheet and any gain or loss is reflected in cumpetations.

On a limited basis, we provide financing to deveispof hotel properties for development or majookation projects. We evaluate these
arrangements to determine if we participate indeai profits of the hotel property through the Igaavisions or other agreements. Where we
conclude that these arrangements are more appiedprigeated as an investment in the hotel propergyreflect the loan as an investment in
hotel properties under development in our constdididalance sheets. If classified as hotel pragerthder development, no interest income ic
recognized on the loan and interest expense isatiapd on our investment in the hotel propertyimigithe construction or renovation period.

We monitor events and changes in circumstancesdizators that the carrying value of a hotel pryer land held for development may be
impaired. Additionally, we perform a quarterly faalized review to monitor the factors that couldger an impairment. Factors that could
trigger an impairment analysis include, among ath@rsignificant underperformance relative to diigtal or projected operating results,

ii) significant changes in the manner of use of@pprty or the strategy of our overall businessluding changes in the estimated holding
periods for hotel properties and land parcelsaiigignificant increase in competition, iv) a sfgr@int adverse change in legal factors or
regulations, and v) significant negative industryeoconomic trends. When such factors are identifiexiprepare an estimate of the
undiscounted future cash flows of the specific propand determine if the investment is recoverdblenpairment is indicated, we estimate
the fair value of the property based on discountesh flows or sales price if the property is urm®rtract and an adjustment is made to reduc
the carrying value of the property to fair value.

Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operat

We classify assets as held for sale in the periaghich certain criteria are met, including whea Hale of the asset within one year is probs
Assets held for sale are no longer depreciatechamdarried at the lower of carrying amount or Yailue, less selling costs.

Historically, we presented the results of operatiohhotel properties that had been sold or otlerwualified as assets held for sale in
discontinued operations if the operations and €las¥s of the hotel properties had been or woulélminated from our ongoing operations.
Following adoption of ASU 2014-08 (see “New AccdungtStandards” below) in the first quarter of 204, anticipate that the majority of
future property sales will not be classified axdiginued operations.

We periodically review our hotel properties and taund held for development based on establishégrierisuch as age, type of franchise,
adverse economic and competitive conditions, aradesgtic fit, to identify properties which we beleegre either non-strategic or no longer
complement our business.

Variable Interest Entities

We consolidate variable interest entities (“VIE'We determine that we are the primary benefic@rthe entity. When evaluating the
accounting for a VIE, we consider the purpose fbicl the VIE was created, the importance of eaghefctivities in which it is engaged and
our decision-making role, if any, in those actedtithat significantly determine the entity’s ecomoperformance relative to other economic
interest holders. We determine our rights, if aoyreceive benefits or the obligation to absodsés that could potentially be significant to the
VIE by considering the economic interest in thatgntegardless of form, which may include debtligg management and servicing fees, or
other contractual arrangements. We consider retdaators of the entity’s design including theifsg capital structure, contractual rights to
earnings (losses), subordination of our interesltive to those of other investors, contingentnpagts, and other contractual arrangements
may be economically significant. Evaluating tlee@unting for a VIE requires the exercise of siigaifit professional judgment.
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Cash and Cash Equivalents

We consider all highly liquid investments purchaségith an original maturity of three months or lésde cash equivalents. At times, cash on
deposit may exceed the federally insured limit. M&ntain our cash with high credit quality finargisstitutions.

Restricted Cas

Restricted cash consists of certain funds mainthimescrow for property taxes, insurance, anda@edapital expenditures. Funds may be
disbursed from the account upon proof of expenegwand approval from the lenders.

Trade Receivables and Credit Policies

We grant credit to qualified customers generallihaiit collateral, in the form of trade accountsreable. We believe our risk of loss is
minimal due to our periodic evaluations of the dreerthiness of our customers.

Trade receivables result from the rental of hatelns and the sales of food, beverage, and banguétes due under normal trade terms
requiring payment upon receipt of the invoice. Eragiceivables are stated at the amount billede@tistomer and do not accrue interest.

We review the collectability of our trade receivebmonthly. A provision for losses is determinedtanbasis of previous loss experience and
current economic conditions. Our allowance for dutaccounts was $0.1 million and $0.2 millionCetcember 31, 2014 and 2013,
respectively. Bad debt expense was $0.4 millio2Gh4, $0.6 million in 2013 and $0.2 million in 2012

Deferred Charge

Our deferred charges consist of deferred finanfaeg and initial franchise fees. Costs incurredhtaining financing are capitalized and
amortized on the straight-line method over the tefitihe related debt, which approximates the istemeethod. Initial franchise fees are
capitalized and amortized over the term of thedhése agreement using the straight-line method.

Nor-controlling Interests

Non-controlling interests represent the portion ofiggin a subsidiary held by owners other than tbesolidating parent. Non-controlling
interests are reported in the consolidated balaheets within equity, separately from stockholdetglity. Revenue, expenses and net income
(loss) attributable to both the Company and the cmmtrolling interests are reported in the consabd statements of operations.

Our consolidated financial statements include nemiolling interests related to common units ofited partnership interests
(“Common Units”) in the Operating Partnership hijdunaffiliated third parties and, prior to the @ed quarter of 2014, third-party ownership
of a 19% interest in a consolidated joint venture.

Revenue Recognitic

We recognize revenue when rooms are occupied anitee have been rendered. Revenues are recortleflarey sales and other taxes
collected from customers. All rebates or discoamésrecorded as a reduction to revenue. Cash estpivor to guest arrival is recorded as an
advance from the customer and is recognized atrtteeof occupancy.

Sales and Other Taxes

We have operations in states and municipalitiesithpose sales and/or other taxes on certain Salesollect these taxes from our customers
and remit the entire amount to the various goventalainits. The taxes collected and remitted actuebed from revenues and are included in
accrued expenses until remitted.

Equity-Based Compensation

Our 2011 Equity Incentive Plan provides for thengraf stock options, stock appreciation rightstriieted stock, restricted stock units, divide
equivalent rights, and other stock-based awardsa®geunt for equity-based compensation using thelB85choles option-pricing model for
stock options and the grant date fair value ofaammon stock for all other awards. Restricted stekrds with performance-based vesting
conditions are market-based awards and are vakiad a Monte Carlo simulation model. We expenserdsvander our 2011 Equity Incentive
Plan over the vesting period. The amount of theeegp may be subject to adjustment in future pedo@sto a change in forfeiture
assumptions.
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Derivative Financial Instruments and Hedgi

All derivative financial instruments are recordédadr value and reported as a derivative finanicistrument asset or liability in our
consolidated balance sheets. We use interesteatatives to hedge our risks on variable-rate del¢rest rate derivatives could include
swaps, caps and floors. We assess the effectiveheseh hedging relationship by comparing chamyésir value or cash flows of the
derivative financial instrument with the changesaim value or cash flows of the designated hedtgd or transaction.

For interest rate derivatives designated as cashliedges the effective portion of changes invalue is initially reported as a component of
accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)eretjuity section of our consolidated balance sham®lgeclassified to interest expense in
our consolidated statements of operations in thiegén which the hedged item affects earnings. ifleéfective portion of changes in fair va
is recognized directly in earnings through gaisg)oon derivative financial instruments in the adiosted statements of operations.

Income Taxe

We have elected to be taxed as a REIT under cegtairisions of the Internal Revenue Code. To qualg a REIT, we must meet certain
organizational and operational requirements, ifolgié requirement to distribute annually to oucktmlders at least 90% of our REIT taxable
income, determined without regard to the dedudiiwmividends paid and excluding net capital gaisich does not necessarily equal net
income as calculated in accordance with GAAP. &RE4T, we generally will not be subject to federadome tax (other than taxes paid by our
TRS) to the extent we distribute 100% of our REdXable income to our stockholders. If we fail t@lify as a REIT in any taxable year, we
will be subject to federal income tax on our tagalblcome at regular corporate income tax rateggenérally will be unable to re-elect REIT
status until the fifth calendar year after the yieawhich we failed to qualify as a REIT, unless seisfy certain relief provisions.

We account for federal and state income taxes of &% using the asset and liability method. Defétex assets and liabilities are recognized
for the future tax consequences attributable tiedifices between carrying amounts of existing asset liabilities based on GAAP and
respective carrying amounts for tax purposes, gedating losses and tax-credit carryforwards. Detetax assets and liabilities are measurec
using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxiabbme in the years in which temporary differenaee expected to be recovered or settled.
The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilitfess change in tax rates is recognized in incomtbénperiod that includes the enactment date of
the change in tax rates. However, deferred taxsaase recognized only to the extent that it iserikely than not they will be realized based
on consideration of available evidence, includintyife reversals of taxable temporary differenaasiré projected taxable income and tax
planning strategies.

Fair Value Measuremei

Fair value measures are classified into a threediéair value hierarchy, which prioritizes the inp used in measuring fair value as follows:

Level 1: Observable inputs such as quoted prices in actadets.
Level 2: Directly or indirectly observable inputs, othernhguoted prices in active marke
Level 3: Unobservable inputs in which there is little ormarket data, which require a reporting entity teedep its own assumption

Assets and liabilities measured at fair value @aseldd on one or more of the following valuation tegtes:

Market approach:  Prices and other relevant information generatethagket transactions involving identical or compdeadssets or
liabilities.

Cost approact Amount required to replace the service capacitgrofsset (replacement co:

Income approach:  Techniques used to convert future amounts to desargount based on market expectations (includiegemt-value,
optior-pricing, and exce-earnings models

Our estimates of fair value were determined usirajlable market information and appropriate valoratnethods. Considerable judgment is
necessary to interpret market data and develomatgd fair value. The use of different market agstions or estimation methods may have a
material effect on the estimated fair value amauMs classify assets and liabilities in the failueshierarchy based on the lowest level of ir
that is significant to the fair value measurement.

We elected not to use the fair value option fohcasd cash equivalents, restricted cash, tradévedites, prepaid expenses and other, debt,
accounts payable, and accrued expenses. With tepion of our fixed-rate debt (See Note 11 — Dgb# carrying amounts of these
financial instruments approximate their fair valae® to their short-term nature or variable interates.
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Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conftymiith U.S. GAAP requires management to make aedatimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets and liadsliéind the disclosure of contingent assets anidtlegat the date of the financial statements
and the reported amounts of revenue and expensiag dloe reporting period. Actual results couldf@iffrom those estimates.

Reclassification:
Certain amounts reported in previous periods haes beclassified to conform to the current presimtand industry practice.
New Accounting Standart

In April 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-08,éBentation of Financial Statements (Topic 205)Rmgherty, Plant, and Equipment
(Topic 360): Reporting Discontinued Operations Bigtlosures of Disposals of Components of an Efitithe ASU changed the criteria for
reporting discontinued operations while enhanceigted disclosures. Criteria for discontinued ofi@na will now include only disposals that
represent a strategic shift in operations with gomeffect on operations and financial results. N8V is to be applied on a prospective basis
and would be effective for us beginning JanuargQl,5; however, we have elected early adoptionarfitist quarter of 2014, which is permit
for disposals and classifications as held for saléch have not been reported previously. Whilehaee elected early adoption for our
consolidated financial statements and footnotelakisces, the Americlnn Hotel & Suites, Aspen H&ebuites and Hampton Inn in Fort Smi
AR will be included in discontinued operations lasse hotels were classified as held for sale irconsolidated financial statements in prior
periods. The Americlnn Hotel & Suites and Aspendliét Suites were sold in January 2014. The Hamprorin Fort Smith, AR was sold in
September 2014.

On May 28, 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-68Venue from Contracts with Customérswhich requires an entity to recognize the
amount of revenue to which it expects to be ewutifter the transfer of promised goods or servicesugtomers. The ASU will replace most
existing revenue recognition guidance in U.S. GA®ien it becomes effective. The new standard ic¥e for us on January 1, 2017 and
early adoption is not permitted. The standard perthie use of either the retrospective or cumwatiffect transition method. We are evalua
the effect that ASU 2014-09 will have on our cordatied financial statements and related disclosdkeshave not yet selected a transition
method nor have we determined the effect of thedstad on our consolidated financial statements.

In August 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-15stbsure of Uncertainties about an Entity’s ARilib Continue as a Going

Concern”, which requires management to perfornrimt@nd annual assessments of an entity’s abdigontinue as a going concern within
one year of the date the financial statementssateed and provides guidance on determining whemawdo disclose going concern
uncertainties in the financial statements. Cerd#slosures will be required if conditions giveeri® substantial doubt about an entity’s ability
to continue as a going concern. This guidanceféestfe for us on January 1, 2017.
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NOTE 3 - HOTEL PROPERTY ACQUISITIONS

Hotel property acquisitions in 2014 and 2013 arfobews (in thousands):

Date Acquired Franchise/Brand Location Purchase Price Debt Assumed
2014:
January ¢ Hilton Garden Inr Houston, TX $ 37,50C $ 17,84¢
January 1( Hampton Inr Santa Barbara (Goleta), C 27,90( 12,037
January 2: Four Points by Sheratc San Francisco, C, 21,25( —
March 14 DoubleTree by Hiltor San Francisco, C, 39,06( 13,28¢
August 15 Hilton Garden Inr Houston (Energy Corridor), T. 36,00( —
September ! Hampton Inn & Suite Austin, TX 53,00( —

Total 2014 6 hotel propertie $ 214,71 $ 43,17:
2013:
January 2: Hyatt Place Chicago (Hoffman Estates), $ 9,23( $ —
January 2: Hyatt Place Orlando (Convention), F 12,25: —
January 2: Hyatt Place Orlando (Universal), Fl 11,84: —
February 11 Holiday Inn Express & Suite San Francisco, C, 60,50( 23,42
March 11 SpringHill Suites by Marriot New Orleans, LA 33,09¢ —
March 11 Courtyard by Marriot New Orleans (Convention), L 30,82% —
March 11 Courtyard by Marriot New Orleans (French Quarter), 1 25,68 —
March 11 Courtyard by Marriot New Orleans (Metairie), L/ 23,53¢ —
March 11 Residence Inn by Marrio New Orleans (Metairie), L/ 19,89( —
April 30 Hilton Garden Inr Greenville, SC 15,25( —
May 21 Holiday Inn Express & Suite Minneapolis (Minnetonka), MI 6,90( 3,72¢
May 21 Hilton Garden Inr Minneapolis (Eden Prairie), M 10,20( 6,38t
May 23 Fairfield Inn & Suites by Marriot Louisville, KY 25,02: —
May 23 SpringHill Suites by Marriot Louisville, KY 39,13¢ —
May 23 Courtyard by Marriot Indianapolis, IN 58,63 —
May 23 SpringHill Suites by Marriot Indianapolis, IN 30,20¢ —
October 1 Hampton Inn & Suite Ventura (Camarillo), C/ 15,75( —
October € Hampton Inn & Suite San Diego (Poway), C. 15,15( —
December 3: Hyatt Place Minneapolis, MN 32,50¢ —

Total 2013 19 hotel propertie $ 475611 $ 33,53:
The allocation of the aggregate purchase pricéisetdair value of assets and liabilities acquiredthe above acquisitions is as follows (in
thousands):

2014 2013

Land $ 11,400 $ 61,77¢
Hotel buildings and improvemer 199,57: 395,54:
Furniture, fixtures and equipme 5,48¢ 18,29¢
Other asset 11,62¢ 11,27

Total assets acquire 228,08 486,88t
Less debt assume (43,177 (33,53))
Less lease liability assum (1,752 —
Less other liabilitie! (2,67 (1,480

Net assets acquire $ 180,49: $ 451,87¢

In connection with our acquisition of the Hyatt &an Minneapolis, MN on December 31, 2013, thestautding principal balance of our first
mortgage loan receivable and related capitalizestést, totaling $20.7 million, was credited toasspart of the purchase price consideration.
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Total revenues and net income for hotel propeg@giired in 2014 and 2013, which are included incmnsolidated statements of operations
for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013asd@lows (in thousands):

2014 Acquisitions 2013 Acquisitions
2014 2014 2013
Revenue: $ 37,65 $ 122,73: $ 76,67¢
Net income $ 4977 % 21,97« $ 13,39¢

The results of operations of acquired hotel progerre included in the consolidated statementgpefations beginning on their respective
acquisition dates. The following unaudited conddns® forma financial information presents the tessof operations as if the 2014 and 2013
acquisitions had taken place on January 1, 2018.uRaudited condensed pro forma information exdutigcontinued operations and dispc
properties after the adoption of ASU 2014-08 whighre not classified as discontinued operationfgrisomparative purposes only, and is not
necessarily indicative of what actual results aéragions would have been had the hotel acquisitiaken place on January 1, 2013. This
information does not purport to represent resulisperations for future periods.

The unaudited condensed pro forma financial infaionafor 2014 and 2013, assuming the hotel propgwicquired in 2014 and 2013 were
acquired at the beginning of 2013, are as follawshousands, except per share):

2014 2013
(unaudited)
Revenue: $ 419,59! $ 379,60t
Net income $ 23,41¢ $ 17,75(
Net income attributable to common stockholc $ 6,65¢ $ 2,97¢
Net income per share attributable to common stddns- basic and
diluted $ 0.06 % 0.04

NOTE 4 - INVESTMENT IN HOTEL PROPERTIES

Investment in hotel properties at December 31, 20112013 are as follows (in thousands):

2014 2013
Land $ 164,57( $ 154,83:
Hotel buildings and improvemer 1,202,45. 993,37
Construction in progres 15,60¢ 24,24;
Furniture, fixtures and equipme 136,45t 142,97t
1,519,08! 1,315,42.
Less accumulated depreciati 179,67: 165,45¢

$ 1,339,41 $ 1,149,96

Depreciation expense was $63.3 million, $48.9 onlland $28.0 million for 2014, 2013 and 2012, retpely.
NOTE 5 - INVESTMENT IN HOTEL PROPERTIES UNDER DEVEL OPMENT

We have entered into a purchase agreement witheh froperty developer to acquire a Hampton Innuteé® in downtown Minneapolis, MN
for $38.7 million, which price includes change oo date. The purchase is subject to certainitiond, including the completion of
construction of the hotel in accordance with agngeoh architectural and engineering designs, réoéi@ Hampton Inn & Suites franchise, ¢
receipt of a certificate of occupancy. Therefohere is no assurance that the acquisition willdragleted. In January 2014, we issued a
standby letter of credit for $13.1 million in suppof this purchase agreement. This letter of ¢nedss issued under our senior unsecured crec
facility.
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NOTE 6 - ASSETS HELD FOR SALE

Assets held for sale at December 31, 2014 and 2@lide (in thousands):

2014 2013
Land $ 30C $ 1,18¢
Hotel building and improvemen — 10,29(
Furniture, fixtures and equipme — 751
$ 30C $ 12,22¢

At December 31, 2014, assets held for sale is ceegbof a land parcel in Spokane, WA.

At December 31, 2013, assets held for sale indlod&@mericinn Hotel & Suites and the Aspen HoteBdites in Fort Smith, AR, which were
sold on January 17, 2014, the Hampton Inn in Fonittg AR, which was sold on September 9, 2014,atahd parcel in Spokane, WA.

NOTE 7 - RESTRICTED CASH

Restricted cash at December 31, 2014 and 2013desl(in thousands):

2014 2013
Property taxe $ 2,60C $ 2,12¢
Insurance 50¢ 59
FF&E reserve: 30,30: 35,82
Other funds in escro 98¢ 497

$ 34,39 $ 38,49¢

NOTE 8 - PREPAID EXPENSES AND OTHER

Prepaid expenses and other at December 31, 201204:3dinclude (in thousands):

2014 2013
Earnest money and funds in esct $ 1,73t $ 5,11¢
Prepaid insuranc 1,122 1,31¢
Other 3,321 2,44¢
$ 6,181 $ 8,87¢

NOTE 9 - DEFERRED CHARGES

Deferred charges at December 31, 2014 and 2013dedin thousands):

2014 2013
Initial franchise fee: $ 6,43t $ 5,957
Deferred financing cos 8,62¢ 7,84¢€
15,06: 13,80:
Less accumulated amortizati 5,42 3,53¢
Total $ 9,641 $ 10,27(
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Amortization expense for 2014, 2013 and 2012 wash@usands):

2014 2013 2012
Initial franchise fee: $ 48t % 411 % 35¢
Deferred financing cos 1,54¢ 1,854 2,28¢
$ 2,03¢ $ 2,268 $ 2,64:

Future amortization expense is expected to béh@ingands):

2015 $ 2,052
2016 1,74C
2017 1,417
2018 922
2019 62¢
Thereaftel 2,88¢

$ 9,641

NOTE 10 - OTHER ASSETS

Other assets at December 31, 2014 and 2013 in@lutleousands):

2014 2013
Prepaid land leas $ 3,37 % 3,42(
Notes receivabl 10,77¢ 3,121
Other 113
$ 14,15 % 6,654

At December 31, 2014, the notes receivable baldataled above includes amounts drawn under afnoténg obligation carrying an interest
rate of 10.0% per annum paid monthly, an initiatumgy date of May 31, 2017 and an option to extdr@maturity date until May 13, 2018.
Of the total $10.0 million note funding obligatidi/.4 million had been advanced at December 314.201

On October 30, 2013, we sold the Fairfield Inn mgoria, KS for $1.7 million and on December 19, 204e sold the Holiday Inn Express in
Emporia, KS for $1.8 million. We provided sell@rgdncing in the form of mortgage loans on thesesstdtaling $2.4 million. These mortgage
loans mature in the first quarter of 2015 and actuded in notes receivable in the table aboveesteinber 31, 2014 and 2013.
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NOTE 11 - DEBT
At December 31, 2014, our indebtedness is compaogedrrowings under a $300.0 million senior unsedwcredit facility and indebtedness

secured by first priority mortgage liens on varitnasel properties. At December 31, 2014 and 2Qirdatstanding indebtedness included (in
thousands):

Amortization
Note Period Number of Properties Encumbered
Lender Reference Interest Rate (a) (Years) Maturity Date at December 31, 2014 2014 2013
Senior Unsecured Credit Facili
Deutsche Bank AG New Yol
Branch (b)
$225 Million Revolvel 2.07% Variable n/a October 10, 201 n/a $ 125,000 $ —
$75 Million Term Loar 3.94% Fixec n/a October 10, 201 n/a 75,000 75,000
Total Senior Unsecured Cre:
Facility 200,00( 75,00(
Mortgage Loan:
ING Life Insurance and Annuit (c) 6.10% Fixec 20 March 1, 201¢ 14 62,327 64,30¢
(crost-collateralized with other INC
(c) 4.55% Fixec 25 March 1, 201¢ loan) 32,99¢ 33,75¢
KeyBank National Associatio (d) 4.46% Fixec 30 February 1. 202 4 28,48¢ 28,96t
(e) 4.52% Fixec 30 April 1, 2023 8 22,06 22,42
) 4.30% Fixec 30 April 1, 2023 3 21,40¢ 21,767
(9) 4.95% Fixec 30 August 1, 202! 2 37,93¢ 38,497
Bank of America Commercii
Mortgage (h) 6.41% Fixec 25 September 1, 201 1 8,157 8,38:
Merrill Lynch Mortgage Lendint
Inc. (i) 6.38% Fixec 30 August 1, 201¢ 1 5,151 5,24¢
GE Capital Financial Inc (0] 5.39% Fixec 25 April 1, 2020 1 9,30( 9,47¢
(0] 5.39% Fixec 25 April 1, 2020 1 5,007 5,10¢
MetaBank (k) 4.25% Fixec 20 August 1, 201¢ 1 7,104 7,34¢
Bank of Cascade (0] 4.66% Fixec 25 September 30, 202 n/a — 11,98¢
(0] 2.17% Variable 25 December 19, 202 1 9,80( —
(cros«-collateralized with other Bank
(0] 4.30% Fixec 25 December 19, 202 Cascades nott 9,80( —
Goldman Sach (m) 5.67% Fixec 25 July 6, 201€ 2 13,78% 14,09(
Compass Ban (n) 4.57% Fixec 20 May 17, 201¢ 1 12,50¢ 13,32t
(o) 2.57% Variable 25 May 6, 202C 3 24,637 —
General Electric Capit:
Corporation (p) 5.39% Fixec 25 April 1, 2020 1 5,26¢€ 5,371
(p) 5.39% Fixec 25 April 1, 2020 1 6,167 6,29(
(a) 4.82% Fixec 20 April 1, 2018 1 7,21% 7,612
(a) 5.03% Fixec 25 March 1, 201¢ 1 9,77¢ 10,10¢
AIG (6] 6.11% Fixec 20 January 1, 201 1 12,93¢ 13,51¢
Greenwich Capital Financi
Products, Inc (s) 6.20% Fixec 30 January 6, 201 1 22,71 23,107
Wells Fargo Bank, Nationi
Associatior t) 5.53% Fixec 25 October 1, 201! 1 3,52¢ 3,657
(u) 5.57% Fixec 25 January 1, 201 1 6,03¢ 6,261
U.S. Bank, NA ) 6.22% Fixec 30 November 1, 201 1 17,53¢ —
(w) 6.13% Fixec 25 November 11, 202 1 11,81¢ —
(x) 5.98% Fixec 30 March 8, 201¢ 1 13,08t —
Total Mortgage Loan 49 426,53! 360,58
Total Debt 49 $ 626,530 $ 435,58¢
Notes:

(a) Interest rates at December 31, 2014 give effectir use of interest rate swaps, where appkcabl
(b) On October 10, 2013, we replaced our $150.0anikenior secured revolving credit facility wigh$300.0 million senior unsecured credit faciliffie unsecured credit facility is comprised of a%p2

million revolving credit facility (the “$225 Millim Revolver”) and a $75.0 million term loan (the 38Willion Term Loan”), and has an accordion featwfgich will allow us to increase the commitments by
an aggregate of $100.0 million on the $225 MillRevolver and the $75 Million Term Loan.
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The senior unsecured credit facility requires timtess than 20 of our hotel properties remain cnerbered, as defined in the credit facility docutaan, and also requires compliance with covenants
customary among our industry peers. The $225 MilRevolver matures on October 10, 2017 and canxtemeed to October 10, 2018 at our option, sulifecertain conditions. The $75 Million Term
Loan matures on October 10, 2018.

We pay interest on advances at varying rates, baseuw, at our option, either (i) 1, 2, 3, or 6-nfohtBOR, plus a LIBOR margin between 1.75% and 265@epending upon our leverage ratio (as defined
in the credit facility documentation), or (ii) tlépplicable base rate, which is the greatest o&tiministrative agent’s prime rate, the federal furate plus 0.50%, or rhonth LIBOR plus 1.00%, plus a b
rate margin between 0.75% and 1.50%, depending appleverage ratio. Unused Fees are payable glyaated are assessed at 0.30% per annum if theedrqation of the credit facility is equal to or
greater than 50%, or 0.20% per annum if the unpsetibn of the credit facility is less than 50%.

On December 27, 2013, we fully drew the $75 Milliberm Loan. On September 5, 2013, we entered imfatarest rate derivative with a notional values@6.0 million that became effective on Januar
2014 and matures on October 1, 2018. This intea¢stderivative was designated a cash flow heddestfactively fixes LIBOR at 2.04%. The intereate on the $75 Million Term Loan was 3.94% at
January 2, 2014.

At December 31, 2014, 36 of our unencumbered lpwtgderties were included in the borrowing baseHersenior unsecured credit facility, and are neglifo remain unencumbered. As a result, the
maximum amount of borrowing permitted under thé@emnsecured credit facility was $300.0 milliorfi vehich, we had $200.0 million borrowed, $13.8 inifi in standby letters of credit, and $86.2
million available to borrow.

(c) On August 1, 2013, we entered into a new $84lllon loan with ING with a fixed rate of 4.55% dm maturity of August 1, 2038. ING has the rightall the loan in full on March 1st of 2019, 2024,
2029 and 2034. Simultaneously, we amended ouriegikian with ING to (i) remove the Fairfield Inn &uites and the Residence Inn, Germantown, TNiHdrapton Inn, Fort Smith, AR; and the Fairfi
Inn, Lewisville, TX from the collateral and (i) move $3.9 million in letters of credit from the leteral. We also added the Courtyard by Marrigttk3on, MS; the Hampton Inn & Suites, Ybor, FL; and
the Courtyard by Marriott and the Residence Inntditie, LA as collateral to the two notes, sucht thath ING loans are secured by the same 14 hatelepties and are cross-defaulted.

(d) On January 25, 2013, we closed on a $29.4anilban with a fixed rate of 4.46% and a maturitfebruary 1, 2023. This loan is secured by fouthefHyatt Place hotels we acquired in October 2012
These hotels are located in Chicago (Lombard)Pinver (Lone Tree), CO; Denver (Englewood), CO; Batlas (Arlington), TX. This loan is subject tefdasance if prepaid.

(e) On March 7, 2013, we closed on a $22.7 millaan with a fixed rate of 4.52% and a maturity gfrih1, 2023. This loan is secured by three ofldyatt hotels we acquired in October 2012. Theselk
include a Hyatt House in Denver (Englewood), CO Hydtt Place hotels in Baltimore (Owings Mills), Mdhd Scottsdale, AZ. This loan is subject to dedeae if prepaid.

(f) On March 8, 2013, we closed on a $22.0 millioan with a fixed rate of 4.30% and a maturity @friA1, 2023. This loan is secured by the threetHpéace hotels we acquired in January 2013. These
hotels are located in Chicago (Hoffman Estates)dtlando (Convention), FL; and Orlando (Univers&l). This loan is subject to defeasance if prepaid

(g) On July 22, 2013, we closed on a $38.7 millmam with a fixed rate of 4.95% and a maturity afghist 1, 2023. This loan is secured by two Marfiotels we acquired in May 2013. These hotels
include a Fairfield Inn & Suites and SpringHill 8&s in Louisville, KY. This loan is subject to dafance if prepaid.

(h) On May 16, 2012, we assumed a loan in our adipn of the Hilton Garden Inn in Smyrna, TN. Thign is subject to defeasance if prepaid.
(i) On June 21, 2012, we assumed a loan in ourisitign of the Hampton Inn & Suites in Smyrna, TThis loan is subject to defeasance if prepaid.

() On March 28, 2014, we amended two loans with@ipital Financial, which are cross-collateralibgcthe Courtyard by Marriott and the SpringHill ®si by Marriott, both located in Scottsdale, AZ.
The loans were amended to bear interest at a fatedbf 5.39% and the maturity dates were extemalégril 1, 2020.

(k) On July 26, 2013, we closed on a $7.4 millioar with a fixed rate of 4.25% and a maturity ofyast 1, 2018. This loan is secured by the Hyatté®ia Atlanta, GA. We may receive additional
proceeds of $1.3 million after the Hyatt Placeintta required
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performance level prior to November 2015. This lbas a prepayment penalty of: (i) 3% until July 2815, (ii) 2% until July 26, 2017, and (iii) 1%tilifFebruary 1, 2018.

() On December 19, 2014, we refinanced our loah Bank of the Cascades and increased the amaamtcied by $7.9 million. As part of the refinanice lban was split into two notes. Note A carries a
variable interest rate of 30-day LIBOR plus 200ibaseints and Note B carries a fixed interest ofté.30%. Both notes have an outstanding balant$8.8 million, amortization periods of 25 yearsian
maturity dates of December 19, 2024,

(m) This loan is secured by the SpringHill SuitgsMiarriott and the Hampton Inn & Suites in Bloomiog, MN. This loan is subject to defeasance if pigp

(n) This loan is secured by the Courtyard by Mariio Flagstaff, AZ and has a variable interesé rat 30-day LIBOR plus 350 basis points (3.67% et&mber 31, 2014). On October 11, 2012, we enterec
into an interest rate derivative that effectivebneerted 85% of this loan to a fixed rate.

(0) On May 6, 2014, we closed on a $25.0 millicariavith Compass Bank. The loan carries a variaike of 30-day LIBOR plus 240 basis points, amostiager 25 years, and has a May 6, 2020 maturity
date. The loan is secured by first mortgage lienthe Hampton Inn & Suites hotels located in Saegbi(Poway), CA, Ventura (Camarillo), CA and Foroith, TX.

(p) On March 28, 2014, we amended two loans withega Electric Capital Corp., which are cross {ateralized by the Hilton Garden Inn (Lakeshore) #ire Hilton Garden Inn (Liberty Park), both
located in Birmingham, AL. Both loans were ament®etear interest at a fixed rate of 5.39% and taeunity dates were extended to April 1, 2020.

(q) These loans are secured by the SpringHill SuijeMarriott in Denver, CO and the Double Tre®aton Rouge, LA. These loans have a variable isteege of 90-day LIBOR plus 350 basis points. On
May 4, 2012, we entered into interest rate deneatithat effectively converted these loans to edfirate. These loans are cross-defaulted and colisseralized.

(r) On December 20, 2012, we assumed a loan iacguisition of the Residence Inn by Marriott int3alke City, UT. This loan has a prepayment penalltthe greater of 1% or the yield maintenance
premium.

(s) On February 11, 2013, we assumed a loan imoguisition (through a joint venture) of the Holidan Express & Suites in San Francisco, CA. Taanlhas an interest rate of 6.20% and a maturtty da
of January 6, 2016. This loan is subject to defieeesdf prepaid.

(t) On May 21, 2013, we assumed a loan in our atipn of the Holiday Inn Express & Suites in Mimp®lis (Minnetonka), MN. This loan has an interesé of 5.53% and a maturity date of October 1,
2015. This loan is subject to defeasance if prepaid

(u) On May 21, 2013, we assumed a loan in our adipn of the Hilton Garden Inn in Minneapolis (Ederairie), MN. This loan has an interest rate.6f7% and a maturity date of January 1, 2016. This
loan is subject to defeasance if prepaid.

(v) On January 9, 2014, as part of our acquisitibthe 182-guestroom Hilton Garden Inn in HousfbX, we assumed a $17.8 million mortgage loan wiftxed interest rate of 6.22%, an amortization
period of 30 years, and a maturity date of Novenih@016.

(w) On January 10, 2014, as part of our acquisitibthe 98-guestroom Hampton Inn in Santa Barb@adta), CA, we assumed a $12.0 million mortgage hith a fixed interest rate of 6.133%, an
amortization period of 25 years, and a maturitedd#tNovember 11, 2021.

(x) On March 14, 2014, as part of our acquisitibthe 210-guestroom DoubleTree by Hilton in Samisco, CA, we assumed a $13.3 million mortgage leih a fixed interest rate of 5.98%, an
amortization period of 30 years, and a maturiteeddtMarch 8, 2016.

On May 23, 2013, we closed on a $92.0 million Jalgaate senior secured interim loan with KeyBan#l Regions Bank, with a maturity of
November 23, 2013. In the third quarter of 2018,paid off the senior secured interim loan usirgcpeds from a new mortgage loan v
KeyBank and proceeds from our September 19, 20a48rmm stock offering.
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Our total fixed-rate and variable-rate debt at Dalzer 31, 2014 and 2013, after giving effect toiaterest rate derivatives, are as follows (in
thousands):

2014 2013
Fixec-rate deb $ 465,22( $ 358,59(
Variable-rate deb 161,31: 76,99¢
$ 626,53 $ 435,58¢

Maturities of long-term debt for each of the naexefyears are as follows (in thousands):

2015 $ 14,63¢
2016 98,02:
2017 141,89:
2018 105,31(
2019 16,31¢
Thereaftel 250,35!

The weighted average interest rate for all borrgwiwas 4.35% and 5.03% at December 31, 2014 ar] Bfdpectively.

Information about the fair value of our fixed-ratebt that is not recorded at fair value is as fedidin thousands):

2014 2013
Carrying Carrying
Value Fair Value Value Fair Value Valuation Technigue
Fixec-rate deb $ 362,60: $ 34951 $ 329,54 $ 319,42¢ |evel 2- Market approac

At December 31, 2014 and 2013, we had $102.6 mitiod $104.0 million, respectively, of debt withrighle interest rates that had been
converted to fixed interest rates through derivafiancial instruments which are carried at failue. Differences between carrying value and
fair value of our fixed-rate debt are primarily dimechanges in interest rates. Inherently, fixed-tebt is subject to fluctuations in fair value as
a result of changes in the current market rataetefést on the valuation date. For additional imfation on our use of derivatives as interest
hedges, refer to “Note 18 - Derivative Financiatinments and Hedging.”

NOTE 12 - ACCRUED EXPENSES

Accrued expenses at December 31, 2014 and 2018im¢in thousands):

2014 2013
Accrued taxe: $ 13,34¢ $ 10,35¢
Accrued salaries and benel 8,86° 7,17¢
Accrued interes 2,09t 1,721
Accrued expenses at hotels and o 13,75¢ 7,89¢
$ 38,06: $ 27,15¢
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NOTE 13 - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Ground Leases

We lease land for one hotel property in Duluth, G#ler the terms of an operating ground lease agneeexpiring April 1, 2069. We also
have two prepaid land leases for two hotel propeiiti Portland, OR which expire in June of 2084 laane a remaining prepaid balance of ¢
million and $3.4 million at December 31, 2014 afd 2, respectively. We have one option to exterddHeases for an additional 14 years
lease land for one hotel property in Houston (GilArea), TX under the terms of an operating grblease agreement with an initial
termination date of April 20, 2053 with one optimnextend for an additional 10 years. We leasd fanone hotel property in Austin, TX with
an initial lease termination date of May 31, 209®tal rent expense for these leases for 2014, 20832012 was $1.1 million, $0.5 million ¢
$0.5 million and, respectively.

Future minimum rental payments for noncancelabkrating leases with a remaining term in excessefyear are as follows (in thousands):

2015 $ 817
2016 83C
2017 83¢
2018 72¢
2019 71¢
Thereaftel 50,66(

$ 54,59(

In addition, we lease land for one hotel propent@arden City, NY under a PILOT (payment in lieuafes) lease. We pay a reduced amount
of property tax each year of the lease as rent.|ddme expires on December 31, 2019. Upon expiratithe lease, we expect to exercise our
right to acquire a fee simple interest in the htgehominal consideration.

Franchise Agreements

All of our hotel properties operate under franctdgeeements with major hotel franchisors. The tesfreur franchise agreements generally
range from 10 to 20 years with various extensiavigions. Each franchisor receives franchise faaging from 2% to 6% of each hotel
property’s gross revenue, and some agreementseghat we pay marketing fees of up to 4% of gresenue. In addition, some of these
franchise agreements require that we deposit &ptage of the hotel property’s gross revenue, gdligarot more than 5%, into a reserve fund
for capital expenditures. In 2014, 2013 and 201@ ewpensed fees related to our franchise agreeme®&3.6 million, $27.7 million and $2C
million, respectively.

Management Agreements

Our hotel properties operate pursuant to manageaggaements with various third-party managementpzomes. The terms of our
management agreements range from three to twergyyréiars with various extension provisions. Eachagament company receives a base
management fee, generally a percentage of total hatperty revenues. In some cases there areralathly fees for certain services, such as
accounting, based on number of rooms. Generalhgthee also incentive fees based on attainingioditencial thresholds. In 2014, 2013 and
2012, we expensed fees related to our hotel marageagreements of $16.1 million, $13.5 million &82 million, respectively.

Pending Hotel Property Acquisitions

We have a purchase agreement with a hotel progextgloper to acquire a Hampton Inn & Suites in dmwm Minneapolis, MN for

$38.7 million, which price includes change ordersiate. The purchase is subject to certain comditiocluding the completion of construction
of the hotel in accordance with agreed upon archital and engineering designs, receipt of a Hampto & Suites franchise, and receipt of a
certificate of occupancy. As this acquisition isitingent upon the satisfaction of these customksireg conditions, there is no assurance tl
will be completed.

Departure of Executive Officer

As previously reported, at the end of May 2014 a8td. Becker resigned from his position as Exgeudice President, Chief Financial Officer
and Treasurer of the Company. On June 16, 20Jefrinection with Mr. Becker’s resignation, the Compantered into a severance and
release agreement with Mr. Becker (the “Agreememtfie Agreement became effective on June 19, 20d4eovided for Mr. Becker’s
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resignation effective as of May 27, 2014. The Agreat also provides for the following: (i) a reledseMr. Becker of all claims against the
Company, its affiliates and other parties; (ii)owenant by Mr. Becker not to solicit the Compargrsployees for employment for a period of
one year, and confidentiality and non-disparageraewnénants; (iii) a severance payment to Mr. Beakéhne gross amount of $348,289 (equal
to Mr. Becker's 2013 base salary plus payment flaarued and unused vacation), less applicabteofiadeductions, all of which was paid in
a single lump sum in July 2014; (iv) payment to Becker for up to twelve months of COBRA premiumsd (v) accelerated vesting of all
restricted shares of common stock and options pusty awarded to Mr. Becker.

Litigation

We are involved from time to time in litigation sirig in the ordinary course of business; howeverave not currently aware of any actions
against us that we believe would have a materfatebn our financial condition or results of oparas.

NOTE 14 - EQUITY
Common Stock

The Company is authorized to issue up to 500,0@0sb@res of common stock, $0.01 par value per shidnéders of our common stock are
entitled to receive dividends on such stock wherarad if authorized by our board of directors dudssets legally available therefor and
declared by us and to share ratably in the as$etsraompany legally available for distributiondar stockholders in the event of our
liquidation, dissolution or winding up after paymef or adequate provision is made for all knowbtdeand liabilities of our company. Each
outstanding share of our common stock entitleshtiider to one vote on all matters submitted tot& wd stockholders, including the electior
directors and, except as may be provided with @speany other class or series of stock, the hieldésuch shares possess the exclusive v
power.

During the year ended December 31, 2014, we is488@531 shares of common stock to limited partoéthe Operating Partnership upon
redemption of their Common Units.

On May 28, 2014, we issued 278,916 shares of constumk to our executive officers and employeesymnsto our 2011 Equity

Incentive Plan. Of the total shares issued on M&ay2R14, 1,756 were forfeited during 2014. Durihg year ended December 31, 2014, we
issued 32,317 shares of common stock to our diregtarsuant to our 2011 Equity Incentive Plan, 9,88ares of common stock to one of our
independent directors in lieu of cash for diredems, and 4,253 shares of common stock upon thesasexercise of outstanding stock option:
with an exercise price of $9.75 per share. Upating of outstanding restricted stock, 12,588 sharere withheld to cover employee tax
obligations.

During the year ended December 31, 2013, we iséiedl, 950 shares of common stock to limited pastoéthe Operating Partnership upon
redemption of their Common Units.

On September 19, 2013, we completed an underwpitbfic offering of 17,250,000 shares of commortktdNet proceeds were $152.0
million, after the underwriting discount and offegirelated expenses of $6.5 million. We used tloeqeds to fund hotel property acquisitions,
to pay off our senior secured interim loan, angddyg down our senior secured revolving credit facili

On March 1, 2013, we issued 292,090 shares of canstoxzk to our executive officers and employeesyamt to our 2011 Equity
Incentive Plan. During the year ended DecembeR313, we issued 29,228 shares of common stockrtdicectors pursuant to our 2011
Equity Incentive Plan and 6,488 shares of commockstio one of our independent directors in liecagh for director fees.

On January 14, 2013, we completed an underwrittéfigoffering of 17,250,000 shares of common stdébt proceeds were $148.1 million,
after the underwriting discount and offering-rethéxpenses of $7.2 million. We used the proceedlsnid hotel property acquisitions and to
pay down our mortgage debt and our senior secengmving credit facility.

Preferred Stock

The Company is authorized to issue up to 100,0@0sb@res of preferred stock, $0.01 par value panestof which 2,000,000 shares have bee
designated as 9.25% Series A Cumulative RedeerRablerred Stock (the “Series A preferred sharé&000,000 shares have been designate
as 7.875% Series B Cumulative Redeemable PrefSierk (the “Series B preferred shares”) and 3,4llDghares have been designated as
7.125% Series C Cumulative Redeemable Preferrazk $tive “Series C preferred shares”).

The Series A preferred shares, Series B prefetraces and Series C preferred shares (collectitiady;Preferred Shares”) rank senior to our
common stock and on parity with each other witlpees to the payment of dividends and distributiohassets in the event of a liquidation,
dissolution, or winding up. The Preferred Sharesalchave any maturity date and are not subjestandatory redemption or sinking fund
requirement. The Company may not redeem the Sanmeferred shares, Series B preferred sharesras3g preferred shares prior to
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October 28, 2016, December 11, 2017, and MarcR@D8, respectively, except in limited circumstanadating to the Company’s continuing
qualification as a REIT or in connection with ca@rtahanges in control. After those dates, the Campaay, at its option, redeem the
applicable Preferred Shares, in whole or from timgme in part, by payment of $25 per share, plug accumulated, accrued and unpaid
distributions to, but not including, the date afleenption. If the Company does not exercise itstsith redeem the Preferred Shares upon
certain changes in control, the holders of thed?retl Shares have the right to convert some @f dfleir shares into a number of the
Company’s common stock based on a defined fornsulaject to a share cap, or alternative consideralibe share cap on each Series A
preferred share is 5.92417 shares of common stéaai Series B preferred share is 5.6497 sharegmmhon stock, and each Series C prefe
share is 5.1440 shares of common stock, subjexrtain adjustments.

On March 20, 2013, we completed a public offerin@,d00,000 Series C preferred shares for net pagef $81.7 million, after the
underwriting discount and offering-related expense3.3 million.

The Company pays dividends at an annual rate Gfl28.for each Series A preferred share, $1.9687&&ch Series B preferred share, and
$1.78125 for each Series C preferred share. Didg@yments are made quarterly in arrears on ortabedast day of February, May,
August and November of each year.

Non-controlling Interests in Operating Partnership

Pursuant to the limited partnership agreement ofOperating Partnership, beginning on Februan2042, the unaffiliated third parties who
hold Common Units in our Operating Partnership héeeright to cause us to redeem their Common Umigxchange for cash based upon the
fair value of an equivalent number of our sharesomhmon stock at the time of redemption; however,Gompany has the option to redeem
with shares of our common stock on a one-for-orsésbdhe number of shares of our common stock idsugpon redemption of Common
Units may be adjusted upon the occurrence of ceeaents such as share dividend payments, shadé/sitns or combinations.

At December 31, 2014 and 2013, unaffiliated thiadties owned 784,968 and 811,425, respectivelg,amfimon Units of the Operating
Partnership, representing an approximate 1% linptathership interest in the Operating Partnership.

We classify outstanding Common Units held by utiatéd third parties as non-controlling interestshie Operating Partnership, a component
of equity in the Company’s consolidated balancesthél'he portion of net income (loss) allocatethetsse Common Units is reported on the
Company'’s consolidated statement of operationseagoome (loss) attributable to non-controllingeiests of the Operating Partnership.

Non-controlling Interests in Joint Venture

On February 11, 2013, we formed a joint venturénait affiliate of IHG to purchase a Holiday Inn Eegs & Suites in San Francisco, CA.
Prior to June 30, 2014, we owned an 81% controlltgrest in the joint venture and our partner odvael 9% interest, which we classified as
non-controlling interest in joint venture on oumnsolidated balance sheets. For the periods pridune 30, 2014, the portion of net income
(loss) allocated to our partner was reported orconsolidated statements of operations as net iad@yas) attributable to non-controlling
interests in joint venture. On June 30, 2014, wpuaed the remaining non-controlling interest f@8Zmillion and the hotel property became
wholly-owned by us.

Other Joint Venture Interests

We own a majority interest in a joint venture thamns a fee simple interest in a hotel property\aadilso own a minority interest in a related
joint venture “Leasehold Venture”) that holds a leasehold inteirethe property. We control the Leasehold Venaseave are the managing
member of the entity. Additionally, the majority thie profits and losses of the Leasehold Ventuseabsorbed by us. As a result, we have
concluded that the Leasehold Venture represendsiable interest entity that should be consolidaténl our consolidated financial statements.
As such, all of the net assets and operating esfithe Leasehold Venture are included in our olidated financial statements for the periods
presented.

NOTE 15 - BENEFIT PLANS

On August 1, 2011, we initiated a qualified conttiry retirement plan (the “Plan”), under Sectid@i) of the Internal Revenue Code which
covers all full-time employees who meet certaigibliity requirements. Voluntary contributions mbag made to the Plan by employees. The
Plan is a Safe Harbor Plan and requires a mandatopjoyer contribution. The employer contributioqpense for the years ended

December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 was $0.2 mil§6rl million and $0.1 million, respectively.

NOTE 16 - EQUITY-BASED COMPENSATION

Our equity-based awards were issued under our EQuity Incentive Plan, which provides for the gragtof stock options, stock appreciation
rights, restricted stock, restricted stock unitgidtnd equivalent rights, and other equity-bassdrds or incentive
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awards. Stock options granted may be either ineerstiock options or nonqualified stock options. tirgsterms may vary with each grant, and
stock option terms are generally five to ten yedrs.have outstanding equity-based awards in thre fidrstock options and restricted stock
awards. All of our existing equity-based awardsdassified as equity awards.

At December 31, 2014 and 2013, the Company hadvex$®,669,896 and 10,485,951 shares of commoR,stespectively, for the issuance
common stock (i) upon the exercise of stock optissiance of time-based restricted stock awasdaance of performance-based restricted
stock awards, grants of director stock awardstleeroawards issued pursuant to the Company’s 2@iityElncentive Plan, (ii) upon
redemption of Common Units, or (iii) under the ATdéfering.

Stock Options

Concurrent with the completion of our IPO, we geahoptions to our executive officers to purchade,®0 shares of common stock. These
options have an exercise price of $9.75 per shiagenarket value of the common stock on the datganit, and vest ratably over five years
based on continued service, or upon a change imaton

The fair value of stock options granted was estihatsing a Black-Scholes valuation model and tHeviing assumptions:

2011
Expected dividend yiel 5.0¢%
Expected stock price volatilil 56.€%
Risk-free interest rat 2.51%
Expected life of options (in year 6.5
Weighted average estimated fair value of options

at grant date per sha $ 3.4¢

The expected dividend yield was calculated baseauomnnual expected dividend payments at the tira@ptions were granted. The expecte
volatility was based on historical price changea peer group of comparable entities based onxpected life of the options at the date of
grant. The risk-free interest rate was based otJtBe Treasury yield curve in effect at the datgmaint. The expected life of options is the
average number of years we estimate that optioth®evbutstanding.

The following table summarizes stock option acgivinder our 2011 Equity Incentive Plan for 2014 a0d3:

Weighted Average Aggregate Intrinsic
Weighted Average Remaining Value (Current Value
Number of Options Exercise Price Contractual Terms Less Exercise Price)
(per share) (in years) (in thousands)
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 893,00( 9.7t
Granted — —
Exercisec — —
Forfeited — —
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 893,00( 9.7t
Granted — —
Exercisec (47,000 9.7t
Forfeited — —
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 846,000 $ 9.7t 6.2 $ 2,27¢
Exercisable at December 31, 2( 507,60( $ 9.7t 6.z $ 1,36¢

All stock options outstanding at December 31, 28ftvested or expected to vest. During the yeadscDecember 31, 2014, 2013, and 2
the total fair value of stock options that vesteab\0.7 million, $0.6 million and $0.6 million, pestively.

The intrinsic value of outstanding options and eisaible options at December 31, 2014 was $2.3anillind $1.4 million, respectively. At
December 31, 2013, the exercise price of our oudétg options exceeded the market price of our comstock, resulting in no intrinsic valt
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Time-Based Restricted Stock Awards

On May 28, 2014, we awarded time-based restridtezkawards for 116,981 shares of common stockit@grecutive officers and
management. These awards vest over a three yéad pased on continued service (25% on May 27, 201tb2016 and 50% on May 27,
2017), or upon a change in control.

On March 1, 2013, we awarded time-based restrigtisek awards for 106,518 shares of common stodkit@xecutive officers. These awards
vest over a three year period based on continugiteg25% on February 28, 2014 and 2015 and 50%etmuary 28, 2016), or upon a cha

in control.

On April, 25, 2012, we awarded time-based restlisteck awards for 110,137 shares of common stookit executive officers. These awards
vest over a three year period based on continustteg25% at December 31, 2012 and 2013 and 5@&a¢mber 31, 2014), or upon a
change in control.

The holders of these awards have the right to theteelated shares of common stock and receivdiadlends declared and paid whether or
vested.

The fair value of time-based restricted stock awap@dnted is calculated based on the market valubeodate of grant.

The following table summarizes time-based restiist|®ck activity under our 2011 Equity IncentivariPfor 2014 and 2013:

Weighted Average

Grant Date Fair Aggregate Current
Number of Shares Value Value
(per share) (in thousands)

Non-vested December 31, 20 82,60: $ 7.7¢€

Granted 106,51¢ 9.7¢

Vested (27,539 7.7¢€

Forfeited — —
Non-vested December 31, 20 161,58 9.1C

Granted 116,98: 9.8z

Vested (95,696 8.6:

Forfeited (1,75€) 9.82
Non-vested December 31, 20 181,11¢ $ 9.81 $ 2,25¢

The severance and release agreement between thea@piend Stuart J. Becker described above, profatestcelerated vesting of all
restricted shares of common stock previously gchtaeMr. Becker. On the effective date of the sanee and release agreement, the
restrictions lapsed on 23,035 common shares grameéer time-based restricted stock awards.

During the years ended December 31, 2014, 20132@h8, the total fair value of time-based restdcitock awards that vested was $0.8
million, $0.2 million and $0.2 million, respectiyel

PerformanceéBased Restricted Stock Awards

On May 28, 2014, March 1, 2013 and April 25, 201 awarded performance-based restricted stock a@rd$1,935, 185,572 and 82,602
shares, respectively, of common stock to our exeewtfficers. These awards vest ratably on Janlianyeach year of the three-year period
following the grant date subject to the attainmentertain performance goals and continued sereicapon a change in control.

The severance and release agreement between thea@piend Stuart J. Becker described above, profatestcelerated vesting of all
restricted shares of common stock previously gecatdeMr. Becker. On the effective date of the samee and release agreement, the
restrictions lapsed on 45,551 common shares graméer performance-based restricted stock awards.

Other than the accelerated vesting detailed iptheious paragraph, no performance-based restrstoett awards vested during 2014 or 2013
because performance goals were not met. The hadfi¢ghese awards have the right to vote the relgliedes of common stock and any
dividends declared will be accumulated and wilsbbject to the same vesting conditions as the award

Our performance-based restricted stock awards arkenbased awards and are accounted for basdu gmant date fair value of our common
stock. These awards vest based on a performancgineezent that requires the Company'’s total stocldraleturn
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(“TSR”) to exceed the TSR for the SNL U.S. LodgRBIT Index for a designated one, two or three yesformance period. The fair value of
performance-based restricted stock awards grandésdestimated using a Monte Carlo simulation vadmathodel and the following
assumptions:

2014 2013
Expected dividend yiel 4.48% 4.52%
Expected stock price volatilil 27.9% 38.5%
Risk-free interest rat 0.06- 0.60%  0.147- 0.513%
Monte Carlo iteration 100,00( 100,00(
Weighted average estimated fair value of perforradrased restricted stock
awards $ 7.1z $ 7.0¢

The expected dividend yield was calculated baseduomnnual expected dividend payments at the dihggant. The expected volatility was
based on historical price changes of our commorkdtar a period comparable to the performance pefte risk-free interest rates were
interpolated from the Federal Reserve Bond Equntaféeld rates for “on-the-run” U.S. Treasury setias.

The following table summarizes performance-bassttioted stock activity under our 2011 Equity Inthe@ Plan for 2014 and 2013:

Weighted Average Aggregate Current
Number of Shares Grant Date Fair Value Value
(per share) (in thousands)

Non-vested December 31, 20 82,60: $ 7.7¢€

Granted 185,57: 7.0¢

Vested — —

Forfeited — —
Non-vested December 31, 20 268,17 6.4¢

Granted 161,93! 7.12

Vested (45,55) 6.5(C

Forfeited — —
Non-vested December 31, 20 384,55¢ $ 6.75 $ 4,78¢

Director Stock Awards

In 2014 and 2013, we granted 32,317 and 29,22&slurcommon stock, respectively, to our non-emgxogirectors as a part of our director
compensation program. These grants were made ond@011 Equity Incentive Plan and were vested upant.

Our non-employee directors have the option to kecshares of our common stock in lieu of cashHeirtdirector fees. In 2014 and 2013, we
issued 7,539 and 6,488 shares of common stockecteply, for director fees.

Equity-Based Compensation Expense

Equity-based compensation expense included in catpgeneral and administrative in the Consolid&tadements of Operations for 2014,
2013, and 2012 was (in thousands):

2014 2013 2012
Stock options $ 67t $ 62z $ 70C
Time-based restricted stot 96( 611 214
Performanc-based restricted stot 1,48: 54¢ 171
Director stock 40¢€ 34z 12C

$ 3,52¢ $ 2,12¢ $ 1,20t
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We recognize equity-based compensation expendayateer the vesting terms. The amount of expenag e subject to adjustment in future
periods due to a change in the forfeiture assumstio

Unrecognized equity-based compensation expens#lfoon-vested awards was $2.8 million at Decendiei2014. We expect to recognize
this cost over a remaining weighted-average pesfdd9 years with $2.0 million, $0.7 million and.$0million being recognized in 2015, 2016
and 2017, respectively.

NOTE 17 - LOSS ON IMPAIRMENT OF ASSETS

In 2014, we recognized a loss on impairment oftasse$0.4 million related to the Hampton Inn inrfF®mith, AR. This property was classif
as held for sale prior to the Company’s adoptioAS8) No. 2014-08 and its operating results, inalgdimpairment charges, were included in
discontinued operations.

In addition, during 2014, we recognized a lossropairment of assets of $8.2 million related to@wantry Inn & Suites and three adjacent
land parcels totaling 5.64 acres in San Antonio, WKich was sold in the fourth quarter of 2014, arldss on impairment of $0.7 million
related to a land parcel in Spokane, WA. Thesselo®n impairment of assets were charged to opesati

In 2013, we recognized a loss on impairment oftagstaling $7.7 million related to the CourtyardMarriott in Memphis, TN; the SpringHill
Suites in Lithia Springs, GA; the Hampton Inn, hmericinn Hotel & Suites and the Aspen Hotel & ®siin Fort Smith, AR; the Americinn
Hotel & Suites in Salina, KS and the Fairfield lmmd Holiday Inn Express in Emporia, KS. These Ihmteperties were sold in 2013 or
classified as held for sale at December 31, 20d@ tlaeir operating results, including the lossmpairment, are included in discontinued
operations. In addition, we recognized a loss goairment of assets related to a land parcel inaSbPTX that was sold in 2013 and a land
parcel in Spokane, WA that was held for sale atdb@ger 31, 2013. As a result, a loss on impairmeassets totaling $1.4 million was char
to operations.

In 2012, we recognized a loss on impairment oftagstaling $2.3 million related to the AmericlnnsTwin Falls, ID, Missoula, MT and
Lakewood, CO. These hotel properties were solditR2r 2013, and their operating results, includhmgloss on impairment, are included in
discontinued operations. In addition, in conjunetigith the sale of our Missoula, MT hotel propestiere determined that a land parcel in
Missoula was impaired. As a result, a loss on impant of assets totaling $0.7 million was chargedgerations.

NOTE 18 - DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND HEDG ING

We are exposed to interest rate risk through otiabkerate debt. We manage this risk primarily by manggie amount, sources, and dura
of our debt funding and through the use of denxafinancial instruments. Specifically, we enteoiderivative financial instruments to man
our exposure to known or expected cash paymerateceto our variable-rate debt. The maximum lengttme over which we have hedged
our exposure to variable interest rates with oustarg derivative financial instruments is approaiely six years.

Our objectives in using derivative financial instrents are to add stability to interest expensetameanage our exposure to interest rate
movements. To accomplish these objectives, we pilynase interest rate swaps as part of our intare risk management strategy. Our
interest rate swaps designated as cash flow hédgase the receipt of variable-rate payments fricounterparty in exchange for making
fixed-rate payments over the life of the agreemuiitisout exchange of the underlying notional amount

Our agreements with our derivative counterpart@gain a provision where if we default, or are ddpaf being declared in default, on any of
our indebtedness, then we could also be declarddfault on our derivative financial instruments.

On September 5, 2013, we entered into an inteassiswap with a notional value of $75.0 milliontthacame effective on January 2, 2014 an
matures on October 10, 2018. This interest ratevatére was designated a cash flow hedge and éftdgtfixes LIBOR at 2.04%. The interest
rate on the $75 Million Term Loan was 3.94% at dap2, 2014.

On October 31, 2013, we paid off a term loan anthiteated a related interest rate swap that hadianad value of $10.3 million. We incurred
termination costs of less than $0.1 million, whieére charged to debt transaction costs.
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Information about our derivative financial instrumie at December 31, 2014 and 2013 follows (doltaoants in thousands):

December 31, 201 December 31, 201
Number of Notional Number of Notional
Instruments Amount Fair Value Instruments Amount Fair Value

Interest rate swaps (ass 3 $ 28,00: $ 66 3 3 29,27 % 25¢
Interest rate swaps (liabilit 1 75,00( (1,957 1 75,00( (1,772)
4 $ 103,00, $ (1,899 4 $ 104270 $ (1,519

All of our interest rate swaps have been designasechsh flow hedges and are valued using a mapkebach, which is a Level 2 valuation
technique. At December 31, 2014 and 2013, thremipinterest rate swaps were in an asset positidroae was in a liability position. We he
not posted any collateral related to these agretmaerdl are not in breach of any financial provisiohthe agreements. If we had breached an
agreement provisions at December 31, 2014, we dwad been required to settle our obligation utideragreement that was in a liability
position at its termination value of $2.1 million.

The table below details the location in the finahstatements of the gain or loss recognized owatére financial instruments designated as
cash flow hedges (in thousands).

2014 2013 2012
Loss recognized in accumulated other compreheisdzene on derivative
financial instruments (effective portio $ (2,112 $ (1,240 $ (78€)
Loss reclassified from accumulated other comprakieriscome to interest expet
(effective portion $ (1,747 $ (359 $ (147
Gain (loss) recognized in gain (loss) on derivafigancial instruments (ineffectiy
portion) $ 1 $ 2 $ (2

Amounts reported in accumulated other compreherisoane related to derivative financial instrumentt be reclassified to interest expense
as interest payments are made on the hedged \aratel debt. In 2015, we estimate that an addit®h& million will be reclassified from
other comprehensive income as an increase to gttexpense.

NOTE 19 - INCOME TAXES

Our earnings (losses), other than from our TRSnateyenerally subject to federal corporate antkstecome taxes due to our REIT election.
At December 31, 2014 and 2013, the net operatisg darry forwards (“NOLs") of our TRS for federaidastate income tax reporting purposes
were $7.6 million and $15.2 million (after a trup-of the prior year tax provision of approximatéll.0 million), respectively.

We have a deferred tax asset at December 31, 20112 3 of $3.8 million and $5.8 million, respeeti, which relate primarily to the NOLs
of our TRS. Our deferred tax liability at DecemBér 2014 and 2013 of $1.1 million and $0.7 millioespectively, relate to differences in the
carrying amounts of investments in joint ventuned ranchise fees. In 2013, we recorded a valoatilmwance of $5.0 million. During the
year ended December 31, 2014, we reduced thisti@iuallowance by $2.6 million. ASC Topic 7£Income Taxes” (“ASC Topic 740")
requires that deferred tax assets be reduced bjuation allowance if, based on all available eni it is considered more-likely-thaot tha
some portion or all of the recorded deferred taetsswill not be realized in a future period. Weédaoncluded that it is more-likely-than-not
that our deferred tax assets will not be realizetheir entirety, and therefore, we have retaingdlaation allowance against substantially all
the deferred tax assets. In our assessment okttt for a valuation allowance, we heavily weigtietifollowing negative evidence: (i) a lack
of a history of consistent operational profitailénd (ii) the Company operates in a highly cydlindustry.

Our NOLs will begin to expire in 2032 for federaktpurposes and in the period from 2017 to 2033tfte tax purposes, if not used. If our
TRS were to experience a change in control as eldfim Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Codealfility to use NOLs after the change in
control would be limited. There were $6.6 milliohNOLs used during the year ended December 314.20he valuation allowance at
December 31, 2014 and 2013 was $2.4 million and $8llion, respectively.
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We had no unrecognized tax benefits at Decembe2@Y or in the three year period then ended. Qdrmapany recognizes interest expense
and penalties associated with uncertain tax positas a component of income tax expense. We hawsterial interest or penalties relatin
unrecognized tax benefits in the consolidated states of operations for 2014, 2013 or 2012 or exdbnsolidated balance sheets as of
December 31, 2014 or 2013.

Current tax liabilities related to the OperatingtRership of $0.5 million and $0.3 million at Decleen 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively, are
included in accrued expenses in the accompanyingatiolated balance sheets and relate to stateoaabithx expense.

A reconciliation of the federal statutory rate he effective income tax rate for the TRS follows tfiousands):

2014 2013
Tax provision (benefit) at U.S. statutory ratesTé income (loss) subject to t $ 2,02¢ % (809
State income tax, net of federal income tax be 77 (120
Effect of permanent differences and ot 1,32¢ (152
Increase (decrease) in valuation allowa (2,580 5,02¢
Other (599) —

TRS income tax expense (bene $ 248 $ 3,94¢

A reconciliation for 2012 is not presented heredrttee tax expense differed from that computed ugiagstatutory rate by less than 5% of
income before tax in total and there were no coraptsof the reconciliation over 5% of income befiave

The components of income tax expense (benefi2@d4, 2013 and 2012 are as follows (in thousands):

2014 2013 2012
Current:

Federa $ 13 ¢ — 3 —

State and loce 712 40¢ 512
Deferred:

Federal — 3,352 (1,53))

State and loce (127) 597 (270
Total provision (benefit $ 71€ $ 4357 $ (1,289
Income tax expense (bene!

From continuing operatior $ 744 % 4,89 $ (72¢)

From discontinued operatio (26) (537) (5617)
Total provision (benefit $ 71 $ 4351 $ (1,289

For federal income tax purposes, the cash distabsifpaid to our common and preferred stockholderg be characterized as ordinary inco
return of capital (generally non-taxable) or capitins.

We file U.S. and state income tax returns in judsdns with varying statutes of limitations. Wermantly have no open audits related to our
income tax returns. In general, we are not sultfetax examinations by tax authorities for year®te2012.

F-31




Table of Contents

NOTE 20 — FAIR VALUE

The following table presents information about Bmancial instruments measured at fair value oacarring basis as of December 31, 2014
and 2013. In instances in which the inputs useddasure fair value fall into different levels oétfair value hierarchy, we classify assets and
liabilities based on the lowest level of input tiwsignificant to the fair value measurement. @ssessment of the significance of a particular
input to the fair value measurement in its entiretyuires judgment, and considers factors spetcifibe asset or liability.

Disclosures concerning financial instruments messsat fair value are as follows (in thousands):

Fair Value Measurements at December 31, 2014 usil

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Assets:
Assets held for sal $ — 3 30C $ — 3 30C
Interest rate swaps (ass — 66 — 66
Liabilities:
Interest rate swaps (liability — 1,957 — 1,95
Fair Value Measurements at December 31, 2013 usil
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Assets:
Assets held for sal $ — 3 12,22¢ $ — 3 12,22¢
Interest rate swaps (ass — 25% — 25%
Liabilities:
Interest rate swaps (liability — 1,772 — 1,772

There were no transfers between Level 1 and Lewe¢ltRe fair value hierarchy during 2014 or 2013.
NOTE 21 - DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

We have adjusted our consolidated statements eatipes for 2014, 2013 and 2012 to reflect the apens of hotel properties that have been
sold or are classified as held for sale in discar@d operations. Discontinued operations includddalowing hotel properties that have been
sold:

e Hampton Inn, Holiday Inn Express and Americlnn miff Falls, ID — sold May 2012;
*  Americlnn Hotel & Suites in Missoula, MT — sold Aust 2012;

»  Courtyard by Marriott in Missoula, MT — sold Deceent2012;

*  Americlnn Hotel & Suites in Golden, CO — sold Jaryu2013;

*  Hampton Inn in Denver, CO — sold February 2013;

» Holiday Inn and Holiday Inn Express in Boise, IDseld May 2013;

*  Courtyard by Marriott in Memphis, TN — sold May Z)1

e SpringHill Suites in Lithia Springs, GA — sold AugflP013;

e Fairfield Inn in Lewisville, TX — sold August 2013;

e  Fairfield Inn in Lakewood, CO — sold September 2013

e  Fairfield Inn in Emporia, KS — sold October 2013;

e SpringHill Suites in Little Rock, AR — sold Novemhb2013;

*  Fairfield Inn and Americlnn Hotel & Suites in SairKS — sold November 2013;

e Hampton Inn and Fairfield in Boise, ID — sold Noveen 2013;

e Holiday Inn Express in Emporia, KS — sold Decemb@t 3;

e Americlnn Hotel & Suites and Aspen Hotel & SuitasHort Smith, AR — sold January 17, 2014; and
e Hampton Inn in Fort Smith, AR — sold September®]4£
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Condensed results for the hotel properties includetiscontinued operations follows (in thousands):

2014 2013 2012

Revenue: $ 3,12¢ $ 19,45¢ $ 33,19:
Hotel operating expens 2,30¢ 14,85¢ 24,70
Depreciation and amortizatic 13 1,96( 4,22¢
Loss on impairment of asse 40C 7,67¢ 2,30t

Operating income (los: 411 (5,03¢) 1,961
Interest expens — (174 (85E)
Other income g 3,94¢ 3,01(

Income (loss) before tax 46¢€ (1,26%) 4,11¢
Income tax benefi 26 537 561

Income (loss) from discontinued operatit $ 49z $ (72¢) $ 4,671
Income (loss) from discontinued operations attabig to non-

controlling interes $ 6 $ (25) $ 807
Income (loss) from discontinued operations attdbig to

common stockholdel $ 48€ ¢ (709) $ 3,87(

NOTE 22 - EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE

We apply the two-class method of computing earnpeysshare, which requires the calculation of sspagarnings per share amounts for our
non-vested time-based restricted stock awardsmithforfeitable dividends and for our common stdolkir non-vested time-based restricted
stock awards with non-forfeitable rights to dividerare considered securities which participatenttisiributed earnings with common stock.
Under the twaelass computation method, net losses are not édldda participating securities unless the holde¢he security has a contracti
obligation to share in the losses. Our non-vestad-based restricted stock awards with nonforfégtalividends do not have such an obligatior
so they are not allocated losses.

At December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, we had 8468#®)000 and 893,000 stock options outstandirgpeastively, which were not included
in the computation of diluted earnings per shaseha effect would have been anti-dilutive.

In 2013 and 2012, our basic and diluted earningsipare are based on basic weighted average corsimaoes outstanding due to our loss
attributable to common stockholders, net of amaliotated to participating securities.
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Below is a summary of the components used to catieddasic and diluted earnings per share (in thnolssaxcept per share):

Numerator:
Income (loss) from continuing operatic
Less: Preferred divident
Allocation to participating securitie
Attributable to noncontrolling intere
Income (loss) from continuing operations attriblgah common stockholde
Income (loss) from discontinued operations attablg to common stockholde
Net income (loss) attributable to common stockh@deet of amount allocated
to participating securitie
Denominator
Weighted average common shares outstar- basic
Dilutive effect of equit-based compensation awa
Weighted average common shares outstar- diluted
Earnings per common she- basic and dilutec
Net income (loss) from continuing operatic
Net income (loss) from discontinued operati

Net income (loss
NOTE 23 - SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Equity Transactions

2014 2013 2012
20,43, $ 6,628 $ (6,947)
16,58¢ 14,59( 4,62t

94 73 37
46 44 (2,007)
3,70% (8,087) (9,60¢)
48€ (709) 3,87(
418¢ $ (8,785 $ (5,739
85,24: 70,32 33,71
324 — —
85,56¢ 70,32’ 33,71,
0.0/ $ ©.11) $ (0.2)
0.01 (0.01) 0.11
0.0: $ 0.1 $ (0.17)

On January 1, 2015, 128,185 of our outstandingopeidince-based restricted stock awards vested &otin@any’s TSR for 2014 exceeded the

TSR for the U.S. Lodging REIT Index. Additionalgccrued dividends of $0.1 million were paid assult of this vesting.

On January 2, 2015, we redeemed 20,691 Common,Wrditsh had been tendered December 15, 2014, &estof our common stock. On
February 2, 2015, 94,256 Common Units were tend@meddemption, which we intend to redeem for sBaf our common stock on April 1,

2015.

On January 30, 2015, our board of directors dedlaash dividends of $0.1175 per share of commarks®D.578125 per share of 9.25%
Series A Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock9®0875 per share of 7.875% Series B Cumulativee®edble Preferred Stock, and
$0.4453125 per share of 7.125% Series C CumulB&deemable Preferred Stock. These dividends wédeFparuary 27, 2015 to

stockholders of record on February 16, 2015.
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NOTE 24 - SELECTED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDI

TED)

Selected consolidated quarterly financial data2fit4 and 2013 follows (in thousands, except peredha

Total revenue:
Income from continuing operatiol
Income (loss) from discontinued operati
Net income
Net income attributable to Summit Hotel Propertlas,
Earnings per shan
Basic and diluted net income (loss) per share from
continuing operation
Basic and diluted net income (loss) per share from
discontinued operatior

Basic and diluted net income (loss) per st

Total revenue:

Income (loss) from continuing operatic
Income (loss) from discontinued operatic
Net income (loss

Net income (loss) attributable to Summit Hotel Rnties, Inc.

Earnings per shan
Basic and diluted net income (loss) per share from
continuing operation
Basic and diluted net income (loss) per share from
discontinued operatior

Basic and diluted net (loss) income per sk

2014

First Second Third Fourth

Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
$ 89,54: $ 105,52! $ 109,25¢ $ 99,14
$ 2947 $ 9,201 $ 3,76¢ $ 4,517
$ 37¢  $ 41) $ (59 $ 214
$ 3,32t $ 9,16( $ 3,707 $ 4,731
$ 3,45¢ $ 8,97t 3 3,71: 3 4,72¢
$ (0.0 $ 0.06 $ (0.0) $ 0.01
$ (0.0 $ 0.06 $ (0.0) $ 0.01

2013

First Second Third Fourth

Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
$ 59,72! $ 79,108 $ 82,17 $ 77,95¢
$ 1,517 $ 6,12¢ $ 2837 $ (3,855
$ 357 $ 54t § (3,410 $ 1,78(
$ 1,87¢ $ 6,671 $ (579 $ (2,075
$ 1,94C $ 6,45¢ $ (662) $ (1,859
$ (0.09 $ 0.0z $ (0.02) $ (0.09)
0.01 0.01 (0.05) 0.0z
$ (0.0 $ 0.0/ $ (0.079) $ (0.07)
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SUMMIT HOTEL PROPERTIES, INC
Schedule Il - Real Estate and Accumulated Deprectin
December 31, 2014
(in thousands)

Initial Cost Cost Capitalizec Total Cost Total Cost Net o
Year Acquired/ Accumulated Mortgage
Building &  Subsequent tc Building & Accumulated
Location Franchise Constructed Land Improvements Acquisition Land Improvements Total Depreciation Depreciation Debt
Arlington,
TX Hyatt Place 2012z 65C 8,40¢ 1,37C 65C 9,77510,42¢ (1,590 8,83t 28,48¢4)
Arlington,  Courtyard by
TX Marriott 20121,49; 13,50: 50 1,49 13,55:15,05( (1,207) 13,84¢ —
Arlington, Residence Inn by
TX Marriott 20121,64¢ 13,85 107 1,64¢ 13,96:15,60:" (1,33¢) 14,26¢ —
Atlanta, GA Hyatt Place 200¢€1,15¢4 9,60¢ 2,504 1,154 12,10€13,26: (2,700 10,56¢ 7,104
Courtyard by
Atlanta, GA Marriott 20122,05( 26,85( 50€ 2,05( 27,35€29,40¢ (2,90%) 26,50 —
Hampton Inn and
Austin, TX Suites 201z — 53,76( 272 — 54,03:54,03: (409) 53,62¢ —
Baltimore,
MD Hyatt Place 20122,10(C 8,13¢ 1,55t 2,10( 9,69(11,79( (1,23¢) 10,55 22,061(2)
Baton Rouge
LA DoubleTree 200¢1,10(¢ 14,06 (1,837)1,10¢ 12,23(13,33( (2,144 11,18¢ 9,77¢
Baton RougeFairfield Inn and
LA Suites by Marriot 200< 34t 3,051 2,17C 34t 5,227 5,57: (1,695 3,871 —
Baton RougeSpringHill Suites by
LA Marriott 200< 44¢ 3,72¢ 2,037 44¢ 5,76€ 6,21¢ (1,819 4,39¢ —
Baton Rouge
LA TownePlace Suite 200¢ 25¢ 3,74: 1,84: 25¢€ 5,58¢€ 5,84¢ (1,727) 4,12 —
Bellevue, Fairfield Inn and
WA Suites by Marriot 20042,70¢ 12,94 3,1412,70¢ 16,08£18,79( (5,54¢) 13,24 —
Birmingham,
AL Hilton Garden Inr 20121,40C 7,22¢ 1,76( 1,40( 8,98£10,38! (1,549 8,842 5,26¢
Birmingham,
AL Hilton Garden Inr 20121,40C 10,10( 1,02( 1,40( 11,12(12,52( (1,439 11,08¢ 6,16
BloomingtonSpringHill Suites by
MN Marriott 20071,65¢ 14,07: 782 1,65¢ 14,85:16,51: (2,777) 13,74( 13,78(1)
BloomingtonHampton Inn and
MN Suites 20071,65¢ 14,59¢ 69¢ 1,65¢ 15,29¢16,95: (2,887) 14,06¢ —(2)
Charleston,
WAV Country Inn & Suite 20041,04: 3,48¢ 1,5811,04: 5,07C 6,112 (1,477%) 4,63¢ 95,324(5)
Charleston,
WV Holiday Inn Expres: 200< 907 2,90: 2,10¢ 907 5,012 5,91¢ (1,705 4,21¢ —(5)
Denver, CC Hyatt Place 20121,30( 9,23( 2,40¢ 1,30( 11,63¢12,93¢ (1,672) 11,267 —(4)
Fairfield Inn and
Denver, CC Suites by Marriot 20041,56¢€ 6,78: 3,37¢ 1,56¢€ 10,16:11,72¢ (3,59%) 8,131 —
SpringHill Suites by
Denver, CC Marriott 20071,07¢ 11,07¢ (1,564)1,07¢ 9,51510,59: (1,837%) 8,75¢ 7,21:
Denver, CC Hyatt Place 20122,00¢ 9,51t 2,37£2,00( 11,88¢13,88¢ (1,6572) 12,231 —(4)
Denver, CC Hyatt House 20122,70(C 10,78( 3,65¢€ 2,70( 14,43¢17,13¢ (1,299 15,84: —(2)
Duluth, GA Holiday Inn 2011 — 7,00( 33 — 7,33C 7,33( (1,229 6,10¢ —
Duluth, GA Hilton Garden Inr 20112,20(¢ 11,15( 1,07t 2,20( 12,22%14,42! (1,73¢) 12,68 —
Eden Prairie,
MN Hilton Garden Inr 201:1,80( 8,40( 2,45¢ 1,80( 10,85:12,65: (724) 11,92¢ 6,03¢
Hampton Inn and
El Paso, TX Suites 20052,05¢ 10,74* 2,684 2,05t 13,42¢15,48¢ (4,11¢) 11,36¢ —(5)
Courtyard by
El Paso, TX Marriott 20111,64( 10,71« 87€ 1,64( 11,58¢13,22¢ (1,68¢) 11,54( —
Courtyard by
Flagstaff, AZMarriott 200¢2,361 20,78t (2,862,361 17,92:20,28: (2,56%) 17,71¢ 12,50¢
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Initial Cost Cost Capitalizec Total Cost Total Cost Net o
Year Acquired/ Accumulated Mortgage
Building &  Subsequent tc Building & Accumulated
Location Franchise Constructed Land Improvements Acquisition Land Improvements Total Depreciation Depreciation Debt
SpringHill Suites
Flagstaff, AZ by Marriott 200¢1,39¢ 9,357 4,897 1,39¢ 14,24¢15,64" (4,927) 10,72¢ —(5)
Ft. Collins, CCHampton Inr 200¢ 73¢ 4,36: 1,61C 73¢ 5,972 6,711 (1,859 4,85 —
Ft. Collins, CCHilton Garden Inr 20071,30(¢ 11,80¢ (840)1,30( 10,96412,26¢ (1,7272) 10,54: —(5)
Ft. Myers, FL Hyatt Place 200¢1,87¢ 16,58 (3,870)1,87¢ 12,71:14,59: (1,819 12,77¢ —
Hampton Inn and
Ft. Wayne, IN Suites 200¢ 78¢€ 6,56/ 1,732 78€ 8,29¢ 9,08: (2,6279) 6,45¢ —(5)
Residence Inn by
Ft. Wayne, IN Marriott 200¢ 914 6,73¢ 2,51¢ 914 9,25£10,16¢ (1,799 8,37¢ —
Ft. Worth, TX Hampton Inr 20071,50(¢ 8,18¢ 1,265 1,50( 9,44710,94° (2,670 8,271 24,63(3)
SpringHill Suites
Ft. Worth, TX by Marriott 200¢ 55:Z 2,69¢ 2,827 b55:Z 5,52¢ 6,07¢ (1,700 4,37¢ —
Ft. Worth, TX Hilton Garden Inr 2012z 90z 6,22¢ 3,132 90z 9,36(10,26: (1,047 9,22( —
Garden City,
NY Hyatt Place 20124,20( 26,80( 69 4,20( 26,86¢31,06¢ (1,789 29,28( —
Germantown, Courtyard by
TN Marriott 200¢1,86( 5,44¢ 2,40¢ 1,86( 7,857 9,71 (2,627) 7,09( —
Germantown, Fairfield Inn and
TN Suites by Marriot 200t 767 2,70( 2,12¢ 767 4,82¢ 5,591 (1,077) 4,51« —
Germantown, Residence Inn by
TN Marriott 200¢%1,08: 5,20( 2,275 1,08: 7,475 8,55¢€ (1,897) 6,66 —(5)
Glendale, CC Staybridge Suite 20112,10C 7,90( 1,682 2,10( 9,58211,68: (1,55%) 10,12¢ —
Goleta, CA  Hampton Inr 20144,10(C 23,80( 521 4,10( 24,32:28,42: (1,132 27,28¢ 11,81¢
Greenville, SC Hilton Garden Inr 201:1,20¢ 14,05( 187 1,20( 14,23715,43" (917) 14,52( —
Hoffman
Estates, IL Hyatt Place 201:1,90(C 7,33( 1,08¢ 1,90( 8,41¢£10,31¢ (1,039 9,28¢ 21,40%6)
Houston, TX Hilton Garden Inr 2012 — 38,49: 1,68 — 40,17:40,17¢ (1,299 38,87 17,53¢
Houston, TX Hilton Garden Inr 20142,80( 33,20( 52 2,80( 33,25:36,05: (330 35,72: —
SpringHill Suites
Indianapolis, 1INy Marriott 201:4,01z 26,19: 32 4,01- 26,22%30,23° (1,539 28,70: —
Courtyard by
Indianapolis, INMarriott 201%7,78¢ 50,84¢ 63 7,78¢ 50,90¢58,69° (2,9779) 55,72( —
Courtyard by
Jackson, M¢  Marriott 200¢£1,301 7,32z 2,424 1,301 9,74€11,04° (3,499 7,54¢ —(5)
Jackson, M¢  Staybridge Suite 2007 69¢ 8,45¢ 2,28t 69¢ 10,74:11,44( (2,829 8,611 —
Jacksonville,
FL Aloft 200¢1,70(¢ 15,77" 26€ 1,70(C 16,04:17,74: (5,14¢) 12,59t —
Las Colinas,
TX Hyatt Place 2007 781 5,72¢ 2,69¢ 781 8,425 9,20¢ (2,772) 6,43 —
Las Colinas, Holiday Inn
TX Express and Suitt 2007 89¢ 6,68¢ 1,38t 89¢ 8,07< 8,97: (3,127) 5,84t —
Lombard, IL  Hyatt Place 20121,55( 15,47¢ 1,67¢ 1,55( 17,15218,70: (2,147) 16,56: —(4)
Fairfield Inn and
Louisville, KY Suites by Marriot 201:3,12( 21,90: 1,924 3,12( 23,82726,94" (1,399 25,55f 37,9347)
SpringHill Suites
Louisville, KY by Marriott 201:4,88( 34,25¢ 2,65¢€ 4,88( 36,91441,79: (2,17¢) 39,61¢ —(7)
Medford, OR Hampton Inr 20041,23( 4,78¢ 1,62E1,23( 6,412 7,64: (1,657 5,99 —
Minneapolis,
MN Hyatt Place 201 — 32,50¢ 3 — 32,50¢32,50¢ (1,3079) 31,20¢ —
Minnetonka, Holiday Inn
MN Express and Suitt 201:1,00¢ 5,90( 1,674 1,00( 7,574 8,57¢ (650) 7,92¢ 3,52
SpringHill Suites
Nashville, TN by Marriott 200¢ 777 3,57¢ 1,71 777 5,28¢ 6,06¢ (1,77¢) 4,29( —
New Orleans Courtyard by
LA Marriott 20131,94¢ 23,73¢ 207 1,94« 23,94€25,89( (2,199 23,69 —
New Orleans Courtyard by
LA Marriott 201:1,86( 21,67¢ 3,10¢ 1,86( 24,78726,64" (2,007) 24,64¢ —(5)
New Orleans Courtyard by
LA Marriott 201%2,49( 28,33" 2,62€ 2,49( 30,96:33,45! (2,597 30,86 —
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Initial Cost Cost Capitalizec Total Cost Total Cost Net o
Year Acquired/ Accumulated Mortgage
Building &  Subsequent tc Building & Accumulated
Location Franchise Constructed Land Improvements Acquisition Land Improvements Total Depreciation Depreciation Debt
New
OrleansResidence Inn
LA by Marriott 201: 1,79( 18,09¢ 36z 1,79( 18,46: 20,25: (1,48)) 18,77: —(5)
New SpringHill
OrleansSuites by
LA Marriott 201: 2,04¢ 31,04¢ 207 2,04¢ 31,25¢ 33,30 (2,267) 31,04: —
Orlando,
FL Hyatt Place 201: 3,10( 9,152 2,022 3,10( 11,17¢ 14,27¢ (2,007%) 12,27: —(6)
Orlando,
FL Hyatt Place 201: 5,51¢ 9,04: 2,045 5,51¢ 11,08¢ 16,60 (1,990 14,61 —(6)
Phoenix,
AZ Hyatt Place 201z 582 4,43¢ 147 582 4,58t 5,167 (674) 4,49:; —
Portland,
OR Hyatt Place 200¢ — 16,71 (3,599 — 13,11¢ 13,11¢ (1,862) 11,257 —
Portland, Residence Inn
OR by Marriott 200¢ — 16,40¢ 697 — 17,10¢ 17,10¢ (4,869 12,247 19,60(
Provo, UTHampton Inr 200¢  90¢ 2,86: 2,10¢ 90¢ 4,96¢ 5,877 (1,740 4,13 —
RidgelancResidence Inn
MS by Marriott 2007 1,05( 10,04( (345 1,0%( 9,697 10,74 (1,739 9,01: —(5)
RidgelancHomewood
MS Suites 2011 1,31« 6,03¢ 1,580 1,31« 7,61¢  8,93( (1,419 7,51¢ —
Salt Lake
City, Residence Inn
uT by Marriott 201z 2,39 17,561 6,91 2,39: 24,48. 26,87« (2,250 24,62« 12,93¢
San
Diego, Hampton Inn
CA and Suite: 201: 2,30( 12,85( 162 2,30( 13,01: 15,31 (779 14,53« —(3)
San Holiday Inn
FrancisExpress and
CA Suites 201 15,54¢ 44,95¢ 4,32F 15,54t 49,27¢ 64,82 (3,929 60,89¢ 22,71:
San
Franciscc
CA DoubleTree 201<¢  3,30( 35,76( 1,61¢ 3,30C 37,37¢  40,67¢ (1,887) 38,797 13,08t
San
FrancisFour Points by
CA Sherator 201<¢ 1,20( 20,05( 76€  1,20( 20,81¢ 22,01¢ (1,06%) 20,95: —
Holiday Inn
Express and
Sandy, U Suites 200¢  72C 1,76¢ 1,28(C 72C 3,04¢  3,76¢ (960) 2,80¢ —(5)
Scottsdale
AZ Hyatt Place 201z 1,50( 9,03( 1,01z 1,50C 10,04: 11,54: (1,557) 9,99( —(2)
ScottsdaleCourtyard by
AZ Marriott 200¢ 3,22¢ 10,15: 2,25¢ 3,22t 12,40¢ 15,63: (4,047) 11,58¢ 9,30(
SpringHill
ScottsdaleSuites by
AZ Marriott 2004 2,19 7,12( 2,312 2,19¢ 9,43¢ 11,62¢ (3,21¢) 8,41 5,00i
Smyrna, Hampton Inn
TN and Suite: 201z 1,14¢ 6,85¢ 787 1,14 7,64: 8,781 (737) 8,05¢ 5,151
Smyrna, Hilton Garden
TN Inn 201z 1,18¢ 10,31 87z 1,18¢ 11,18 12,37 (2,085) 11,287 8,15
Fairfield Inn
Spokane, and Suites by
WA Marriott 200<¢ 1,631 3,66¢ 2,26 1,63 5,93  7,56¢ (2,340 5,22¢ —
Ventura, Hampton Inn
CA and Suite: 201: 2,20( 13,55( 1,53t 2,20( 15,08t 17,28t (663%) 16,62: —(3)
Vernon Holiday Inn
Hills, IL Express 200t 1,19¢ 6,09¢ 205 1,19¢ 6,30z  7,50(C (1,825 5,67¢ —(5)
Yrbor
City, Hampton Inn
FL and Suite: 201z 3,60( 17,24 1,911 3,60( 19,15¢ 22,75t (1,35¢) 21,39; —(5)
Austin, Corporate
TX Office 201z — 21C 1,014 — 1,22¢ 1,22¢ (18€) 1,03¢ —

Land



Parcels 6,67¢ — — 6,67¢ —  6,67¢ — 6,67¢ —
173,050 1,231,84. 122,67:173,050 1,354,511,527,56! (179,67) 1,347,89:426,53:

(1) Properties cross-collateralize the related.loan
(2) Properties cross-collateralize the related.loan
(3) Properties cross-collateralize the related.loan
(4) Properties cross-collateralize the related.loan
(5) Properties cross-collateralize the related.loan
(6) Properties cross-collateralize the related.loan
(7) Properties cross-collateralize the related.loan
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SUMMIT HOTEL PROPERTIES, INC. / SUMMIT HOTEL OP, LP
Notes to Schedule Il - Real Estate and AccumulateBepreciation
As of December 31, 2014
(in thousands)

ASSET BASIS

(a) Balance at December 31, 201 $ 645,33¢
Additions to land, buildings and improveme 294,31(
Disposition of land, buildings and improveme (35,477
Impairment loss (2,969
Balance at December 31, 201 $ 901,20°
Additions to land, buildings and improvements 531,20°
Disposition of land, buildings and improveme (74,287
Impairment loss 9,044
Balance at December 31, 201 $ 1,349,08:
Additions to land, buildings and improvements 263,18
Disposition of land, buildings and improveme (75,459
Impairment loss 9,247)
Balance at December 31, 201 $ 1,527,56!
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION

(b) Balance at December 31, 201 $ 126,16¢
Depreciation for the period ended December 31, : 31,73:
Depreciation on assets sold or disposed (11,699
Balance at December 31, 201 $ 146,20°
Depreciation for the period ended December 31, 2013 50,44¢
Depreciation on assets sold or disposed (23,509
Balance at December 31, 2013 $ 173,14¢
Depreciation for the period ended December 31, 2014 63,29;
Depreciation on assets sold or disposed 56,769
Balance at December 31, 201 $ 179,67:

(©)
(d)

(e)

(f)

The aggregate cost of land, buildings, furniturd aquipment for Federal income tax purposes iscqapately $1,168 million

Depreciation is computed based upon the followiseful lives:

Buildings and improvements -40 years
Furniture and equipmen-15 years

We have mortgages payable on the properties ad.ndtielitional mortgage information can be foundNiote 11 - Debt to the

consolidated financial statemer

The negative balance for costs capitalized subseqaecquisition could include out-parcels soldpdsal of assets, and impairment

loss that was recorde




Exhibit 12.1

Summit Hotel Properties, Inc.
Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges and Preferred $ick Dividends
(Dollars in Thousands)

For the For the
Period Period
2/14/11 1/1/11
Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended through through Year Ended
12/31/201< 12/31/201% 12/31/2012 12/31/2011 2/13/2011 12/31/201¢
Earnings
Pre-tax income (loss) from
continuing operation $ 21,17F $ 11,51¢ $ (7,675 $ (6,09) $ (4,549 $ (20,02)
Interest expens 26,96¢ 20,137 14,90¢ 9,99: 3,43t 21,57¢
Amortization of financing cosl 1,54¢ 1,85¢ 2,28¢ 1,19¢ 94 1,60z
Amortization of capitalized
interest 463 581 59¢ 524 75 59¢
Total Earnings $ 50,15¢ $ 34,09 $ 10,12. $ 562 $ (945 $ 3,75¢
Fixed Charges
Interest expens $ 26,96¢ $ 20,137 $ 14,90¢ $ 9,99 $ 343t $ 21,57t
Capitalized interes 252 40C 53 — — —
Amortization of financing cosl 1,54¢ 1,854 2,28¢ 1,19¢ 94 1,60z
Total Fixed Charge $ 28,77(  $ 22,39. $ 17,25 $ 11,19: $ 3,52¢ $ 23,17%
Preferred Dividends $ 16,58¢ $ 14,59 $ 4,628 $ 411 % — $ —
Ratio of Earnings to Combined
Fixed Charges and Preferred
Stock Dividends 1.13(2) 0.92(2) 0.4€(3) 0.4¢(4) (0.27(5) 0.1€(6)

1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

()

(6)

Earnings were more than fixed charges and prefatek dividends. The total amount of fixed chargad preferred stock dividends for
this period was approximately $45.4 million and th&l amount of earnings was approximately $50l2an. The amount of the
adequacy, or the amount of earnings in excessed ftharges and preferred stock dividends, waappately $4.8 million.

Earnings were less than fixed charges and prefetoatk dividends. The total amount of fixed chargad preferred stock dividends for
this period was approximately $37.0 million and tbial amount of earnings was approximately $34illian. The amount of the
deficiency, or the amount of fixed charges anderefl stock dividends in excess of earnings, wasoapmately $2.9 million.

Earnings were less than fixed charges and prefstoetk dividends. The total amount of fixed chargad preferred stock dividends for
this period was approximately $21.9 million and th&l amount of earnings was approximately $10lian. The amount of the
deficiency, or the amount of fixed charges andesrefl stock dividends in excess of earnings, wasoxpmately $11.8 million.

Earnings were less than fixed charges and prefstoedk dividends. The total amount of fixed chargad preferred stock dividends for
this period was approximately $11.6 million and tibial amount of earnings was approximately $5.ioni The amount of the
deficiency, or the amount of fixed charges anderefl stock dividends in excess of earnings, wasoapmately $6.0 million.

Earnings were less than fixed charges and prefetoatk dividends. The total amount of fixed chargad preferred stock dividends for
this period was approximately $3.5 million and tb&l amount of earnings was approximately ($0.8jan. The amount of the
deficiency, or the amount of fixed charges andegrefl stock dividends in excess of earnings, wasoxpmately $4.5 million.

Earnings were less than fixed charges and prefstoetk dividends. The total amount of fixed chargad preferred stock dividends for
this period was approximately $23.2 million and tbil amount of earnings was approximately $3.ioni The amount of the
deficiency, or the amount of fixed charges andegrefl stock dividends in excess of earnings, wasoxpmately $19.4 million.




ENTITY

List of Subsidiaries of Summit Hotel Properties;.In

STATE OF INCORPORATION OR ORGANIZATION

Exhibit 21.1

Summit Hotel TRS, Inc
Summit Hotel GP, LLC
Summit Hotel OP, LI
Summit Hospitality I, LLC
Summit Hospitality V, LLC
Summit Hospitality VI, LLC
Summit Hospitality VII, LLC
Summit Hospitality VIII, LLC
Summit Hospitality 1X, LLC
Summit Hospitality X, LLC
Summit Hospitality XI, LLC
Summit Hospitality XII, LLC
Summit Hospitality XIII, LLC
Summit Hospitality XIV, LLC
Summit Hospitality XV, LLC
Summit Hospitality 17, LLC
Summit Hospitality 18, LLC
Summit Hospitality 19, LLC
Summit Hospitality 20, LLC
Summit Hospitality 21, LLC
Summit Hospitality 22, LLC
Summit Hospitality 23, LLC
Summit Hospitality 24, LLC
Summit Hospitality 25, LLC
Summit Hospitality 26, LLC
Summit Hospitality 009, LLC

Summit Hospitality 026 AZ, LLC

Summit Hospitality 039, LLC
Summit Hospitality 057, LLC
Summit Hospitality 060, LLC
Summit Hospitality 066, LLC
Summit Hospitality 079, LLC
Summit Hospitality 081, LLC
Summit Hospitality 082, LLC
Summit Hospitality 084, LL(
Summit Hospitality 085, LLC
Summit Hospitality 093, LLC
Summit Hospitality 100, LLC
Summit Hospitality 102, LLC
Summit Hospitality 104, LLC
Summit Hospitality 110, LLC
Summit Hospitality 111, LLC
Summit Hospitality 114, LLC
Summit Hospitality 115, LLC
Summit Hospitality 116, LLC
Summit Hospitality 117, LLC
Summit Hospitality 118, LLC
Summit Hospitality 119, LLC
Summit Hospitality 120, LLC
Summit Hospitality 121, LLC
Summit Hospitality 122, LLC
Summit Hospitality 123, LLC
Summit Hospitality 124, LLC
Summit Hospitality 125, LLC

Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
South Dakot:
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware




ENTITY

STATE OF INCORPORATION OR ORGANIZATION

Summit Group of Scottsdale, Arizona LI
Summit IHG JV, LLC

San Fran JV, LLC

Carnegie Hotels, LL(

Carnegie Hotel MT, LLC

South Dakot:
Delaware
Delaware

Georgia
Georgia




Exhibit 23.1
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accountingirm

The Board of Directors
Summit Hotel Properties, Inc.:

We consent to the incorporation by reference inrégéstration statements (No. 333-179503 and N8:-1387624) on Form S-3 and the
registration statement (No. 333-172145) on Formd-8ummit Hotel Properties, Inc. of our reportethEebruary 26, 2013, except as to note:
21 and 22, which are as of March 25, 2014, witlpeesto the consolidated statements of operatmmprehensive income (loss), changes in
equity and cash flows of Summit Hotel Properties, nd subsidiaries for the year ended Decemhet@P, which report appears in the
December 31, 2014 annual report on Form 10-K of i@itirHotel Properties, Inc.

/sl KPMG LLP

Chicago, Illinois
March 2, 201¢




Exhibit 23.2
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accountingirm
We consent to the incorporation by reference irféHewing Registration Statements:

(1) Registration Statement (Form S-3 No. 333-1798®Fummit Hotel Properties, Inc.,

(2) Registration Statement (Form S-3 No. 333-18Y82&ummit Hotel Properties, Inc., and

(3) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-172p45taining to the 2011 Equity Incentive Plan afr#nit Hotel Properties, Inc. of our
reports dated March 2, 2015, with respect to thesalidated financial statements and Schedule I8uwwhmit Hotel Properties, Inc. and the
effectiveness of internal control over financighoeting of Summit Hotel Properties, Inc. includedhis Annual Report (Form 1K) of Summi
Hotel Properties, Inc. for the year ended Decertief014.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP
Austin, Texas
March 2, 2015




EXHIBIT 31.1
Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
[, Daniel P. Hansen, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-KSafmmit Hotel Properties, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not comtaynuntrue statement of a material fact or ométéde a material fact necessar
make the statements made, in light of the circuntets.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the
period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statementsodimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtife periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) andrke responsible for establishing and maintainirsgldsure controls and procedures (a:
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))54nd internal control over financial reportifag defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)), for the registramd have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresused such disclosure controls and proceduras tiesigned under o
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhubsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, pattidy during the period in which this report isihg prepared;

b. Designed such internal control over financial réipgr, or caused such internal control over finaha@aorting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repodiand the preparation of 1
financial statement for external purposes in acaocd with generally accepted accounting principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’sldgire controls and procedures, and presentddsimgport our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure containtsprocedures as of the end of the period couwyele report based on
such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the regigtsanternal control over financial reporting thatcurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the regrsts fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an aimaport) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeaf, the registrant’s internal control over finateeporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) antddve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatimernal control over financial

reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrastboard of directors (or persons performing theweden!
functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknessethe design or operation of internal contradiofinancial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affectrgistrant’s ability to record, process, summasiad report financial
information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involveamagement or other employees who have a significéain the
registrant’s internal control over financial repogt

Summit Hotel Properties, In

Date: March 2, 2015 By: /s/ Daniel P. Hanse

Daniel P. Hansen
President and Chief Executive Officer
(principal executive officer




EXHIBIT 31.2
Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
I, Greg A. Dowell, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-KSafmmit Hotel Properties, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not comtaynuntrue statement of a material fact or ométéde a material fact necessar
make the statements made, in light of the circuntets.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the
period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statementsodimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtife periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) andrke responsible for establishing and maintainirsgldsure controls and procedures (a:
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))54nd internal control over financial reportifag defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)), for the registramd have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresused such disclosure controls and proceduras tiesigned under o
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhubsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, pattidy during the period in which this report isihg prepared;

b. Designed such internal control over financial réipgr, or caused such internal control over finaha@aorting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repodiand the preparation of 1
financial statement for external purposes in acaocd with generally accepted accounting principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’sldgire controls and procedures, and presentddsimgport our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure containtsprocedures as of the end of the period couwyele report based on
such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the regigtsanternal control over financial reporting thatcurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the regrsts fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an aimaport) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeaf, the registrant’s internal control over finateeporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) antddve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatimernal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrastboard of directors (or persons performing theweden!
functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknessethe design or operation of internal contradiofinancial reporting

which are reasonably likely to adversely affectrgistrant’s ability to record, process, summasiad report financial
information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involveamagement or other employees who have a significéain the
registrant’s internal control over financial repogt
Summit Hotel Properties, In

Date: March 2, 2015 By: /sl Greg A. Dowel

Greg A. Dowell
Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officedal reasure
(principal financial officer’




EXHIBIT 32.1

Certification Pursuant To
18 U.S.C. Section 1350,
as Adopted Pursuant to
Section 906 of The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Summit H®eoperties, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K fhe fiscal year ended
December 31, 2014 as filed with the Securitiesxcthange Commission on the date hereof (the “R8parDaniel P. Hansen, President and
Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certifyrpuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted puotrso&ection 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002, that:

(1) the Report fully complies with the requirementsSefiction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeof 1934, a:
amended; and

(2) the information contained in the Report fairly mets, in all material respects, the financial ctadiand results of
operations of the Company.
Summit Hotel Properties, In

Date: March 2, 2015 By: /s/ Daniel P. Hanse

Daniel P. Hansen
President and Chief Executive Officer
(principal executive officer




EXHIBIT 32.2

Certification Pursuant To
18 U.S.C. Section 1350,
as Adopted Pursuant to
Section 906 of The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Summit H®eoperties, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K fhe fiscal year ended December 31,
2014 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Cision on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Gregd®well, Executive Vice President,
Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer of the Compaertify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350adspted pursuant to Section 906 of the

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) the Report fully complies with the requirementsSefiction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeof 1934, a:
amended; and

(2) the information contained in the Report fairly mets, in all material respects, the financial ctadiand results of
operations of the Company.

Summit Hotel Properties, In

Date: March 2, 2015 By: /sl Greg A. Dowel
Greg A. Dowell

Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officedal reasurer
(principal financial officer’




